

Extension problems in complex and CR-geometry

Tesi di Perfezionamento Ph.D. Thesis

Alberto Saracco

Advisor: Prof. Giuseppe Tomassini

July 17, 2007

Contents

1	Intr	roduction 7
	1.1	Definitions
		1.1.1 Holomorphic functions and tangent spaces 13
		1.1.2 Analytic subsets \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 13
		1.1.3 Hulls of compact sets
		1.1.4 Harmonic, pluriharmonic and plurisubharmonic func-
		tions $\ldots \ldots 14$
		1.1.5 CR -geometry
		1.1.6 The Levi-form and Levi-convexity
	1.2	Representation formulas
		1.2.1 The Cauchy kernel
		1.2.2 The Bergman kernel
		1.2.3 The Bochner-Martinelli kernel
		1.2.4 The Henkin kernel $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 23$
2	Cla	ssical extension theorems 25
_	2.1	Basic theorems 25
	2.2	in one complex variable
		2.2.1 Removable singularities for bounded holomorphic func-
		tions
		2.2.2 Reflection principle
	2.3	in several complex variables
		2.3.1 Extension near small-dimensional sets
	2.4	Edge of the wedge theorem
ર	CR_{-}	functions and holomorphic maps 33
J	31	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Clobal extension for } CB-functions \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ 33 \\ $
	2.0	Local extension for CR functions 34
	0.⊿ २.२	Extension up to a Levi-flat boundary 34
	0.0 3 /	Extension up to a Levi-nat boundary
	3.5	Extension in Stein manifolds
	0.0	$\mathbf{Extension} \ \mathbf{m} \ \mathbf{Stenn} \ \mathbf{stennn} \ \mathbf{stennnn} \ \mathbf{stennnn} \ \mathbf{stennnn} \ \mathbf{stennnn} \ \mathbf{stennnn} \ \mathbf{stennnnn} \ stennnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn$

	3.6	Extension on unbounded domains	15
	3.7	Extension of holomorphic maps	16
		3.7.1 Reflection principle in \mathbb{C}	17
		3.7.2 Reflection principle and extension theorems in \mathbb{C}^n , $n > 1$ 4	19
		3.7.3 Extension in the strictly pseudoconvex case 5	50
		3.7.4 Holomorphic extension in dimension $n = 2$	51
		3.7.5 Extension of proper holomorphic maps between strictly	
		pseudoconvex \mathcal{C}^{ω} -domains	52
		3.7.6 Algebroid functions	<i>5</i> 4
		3.7.7 Edge of the Wedge theorem for the cotangent bundle . 5	65
		3.7.8 Scaling method $\ldots \ldots $	66
		3.7.9 Non-pseudoconvex case	68
		3.7.10 Main Theorems $\ldots \ldots $	68
		3.7.11 Properties of Segre varieties	51
		3.7.12 Complex structure of the set of Segre varieties 6	52
		3.7.13 Extending the graph of $f \dots \dots$	53
		$3.7.14 \text{Conclusion of proof} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $; 4
		3.7.15 Final considerations	55
1	Som	ni a-coronae	9
T	4 1	Introduction	30
	4.2	Cohomology and extension of sections	71
	1.2	4.2.1 Closed <i>a</i> -coronae	71
		4.2.2 Open <i>a</i> -coronae	73
		4.2.3 Corollaries of the extension theorems	76
	4.3	Extension of divisors	79
_	~ .		_
5	Coh	aomology of semi 1-coronae	5
	5.1		55 56
	5.2	Remarks on theorems in Chapter 4	50 20
	0.3	An isomorphism theorem for semi 1-coronae	58
		5.3.1 Bump lemma: surjectivity of conomology	59 59
	۲ 4	5.3.2 Approximation)2 \0
	5.4 5 5	Extension of concrent sneaves	18
	0.0	Some generalizations	
		5.5.1 Bump lemma for semi q -coronae	JU \1
		5.5.2 Semi q-coronae in Stein spaces	JΤ
6	The	boundary problem 10	3
	6.1	The boundary problem)3
	6.2	for compact curves $\ldots \ldots \ldots$)4

		6.2.1 Sketches of the proofs				
		6.2.2 Generalization to several curves				
	6.3	for compact manifolds				
		6.3.1in terms of holomorphic chains				
		6.3.2 in strictly pseudoconvex domains				
		6.3.3 and the linking number				
	6.4	\dots in <i>a</i> -concave domains \dots				
	6.5	$\dots \text{in } \mathbb{CP}^n \dots \dots$				
		6.5.1 The projective hull				
		6.5.2 The projective linking number				
		$6.5.3$ <i>l</i> -sheeted solutions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$				
	6.6	in an arbitrary complex manifold $X \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 118$				
7	Nor	-compact boundaries 121				
•	7 1	Introduction 121				
	7.1	The local result 123				
	7.2	The global result 129				
	1.0	7.3.1 <i>M</i> is of dimension at least 5 $(m > 2)$ 128				
		7.3.2 <i>M</i> is of dimension 3 $(m = 1)$ 132				
		7.3.3 <i>M</i> is of dimension 1 $(m = 0)$ 134				
	74	Extension to pseudoconvex domains 134				
	7.5	On the Lupacciolu's (\star) condition $\ldots \ldots \ldots$				
0	C	· 1				
ð	Sen	II-local extension 137				
	8.1	Introduction $\dots \dots \dots$				
	8.2	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Main result} \\ \text{Sol} 1 \\ \text{D} \\ \text{Transform} \\ \text{Sol} 1 \\ \text{D} \\ \text{Transform} \\ Tran$				
		8.2.1 Dimension of M greater than or equal to 5 $(m \ge 2)$ 140				
	0.9	8.2.2 Dimension of M equal to 3 $(m = 1)$				
	8.3	Some remarks				
		8.3.1 Maximality of the solution				
	0.4	8.3.2 The unbounded case				
	8.4	Generalization to analytic sets				

Bibliography

CONTENTS

Chapter 1 Introduction

That of extending objects is a recurring problem in mathematics, and is present in many different fields. May it be extending functionals, surfaces, curves, or simply functions, extension problems have proved absolutely nontrivial and interesting and gave birth to some new branches of mathematics. All boundary-values problems can be considered as extension problems: indeed elements of one cathegory can be seen as traces of objects in another cathegory. In complex and CR-geometry, we are interested in extending holomorphic or meromorphic functions, and, in general, all analytic objects, i.e. those defined starting from holomorphic functions. The Hartogs' Theorem (holomorphic functions "fill compact holes" in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \geq 2$) is the prototype of all these theorems.

The aim of this thesis work is to present some of the many different extension problems that were considered in complex and CR-geometry, starting from well-known classical ones, up to the very recent still unpublished results and to the still open problems. This is going to be a (partial, since the subject is so broad) survey on the extension problems. There is neither presumption of completeness, nor a judgement on the importance of the arguments chosen, since the choice of the arguments treaten, a very personal one, simply arose from my interests of research and my mathematical experience of the last few years.

The thesis is divided in three parts. In the first one (Chapters 1–3), after recalling basic notions in complex and CR-geometry, we give a survey of the main results about extension problems starting from the pioneer ones proved by Hans Lewy [61, 62]. In the second and third part are included the original results of the thesis obtained in my recent joint works with Giuseppe Tomassini [82, 83] and Giuseppe Della Sala [15, 16]. This last two parts on the surface may appear as being on two different subjects (the cohomology of semi-coronae, Chapters 4–5, and the non-compact boundary

problem, Chapters 7–8), are indeed tightly linked together. While having some superficial connections (as being valid starting from dimension 3 and sharing in dimension 2 the same counterexample, see Example 4.1), the most important link is their nature of extension results in a "non-compact setting".

This is indeed the interpretation key we would like to give to these results.

Contents

Let us examine the matter of the thesis more in details.

Chapters 1 and 2 are devoted to the really basic definitions of the notions of complex and CR-geometry that will be needed in the sequel, and and to the presentation of the classical extension results in one and several complex variables.

In Chapter 3 — Extension of CR-function up to a Levi-flat boundary and of holomorphic maps — we collect several local and global extension results for CR-functions. In particular, we discuss in details some extension theorems, proved in the Eighties by Guido Lupacciolu and Giuseppe Tomassini [63, 65], for CR-functions defined on the boundary of a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n away from a Levi-flat part (Theorems 3.3 and 3.5), as well as the generalization to Stein manifolds proved by Christine Laurant-Thiébaut (Theorem 3.12, [57]). Finally, we consider the result on the extension of CR-functions defined in unbounded hypersurfaces (Theorem 3.13, [64]), where the Lupacciolu's (\star) condition —referred as condition (3.29) in this chapter— (this condition will show up again in the results of part three) was first introduced. The last section of the chapter is devoted to a survey on the results obtained by Klas Diederich and Sergey Pinchuk [20,22,23,72,73] in the last 30 years on generalizations of Schwartz reflection principle and the extension of holomorphic maps.

Chapter 4 — Cohomology vanishing and extension problems for semi q-coronae — is mainly based on the joint paper with Giuseppe Tomassini [82], where for the first time were introduced semi q-coronae. Semi q-coronae are domains whose boundary contains a Levi-flat part, a q-pseudoconvex part and a q-pseudoconcave part. In this chapter cohomology techniques, and classical results by Andreotti and Grauert [3] are used in order to prove extension results for holomorphic functions, meromorphic functions, divisors (i.e. analytic subsets of codimension one), sections of coherent sheaves.

Chapter 5 — Cohomology of semi 1-coronae and extension of analytic subsets — is mainly based on the joint paper [83]. It is well-known vanishing or more generally finiteness of cohomology of analytic sheaves plays an important role for extension of analytic objects. So our first task is to

study cohomology of semi q-coronae. In order to apply Andreotti-Grauert's method (bump lemma and approximation) to semi q-coronae, we have to manage boundary points which are at the same time "pseudoconvex and pseudoconcave". The bump lemma with open bumps is not true in general and so the idea is to use a bump lemma with closed bumps, using in a crucial way a local vanishing theorem proved by Christine Laurent-Thiébaut and Jürgen Leiterer. This allows us to prove an isomorphism theorem for cohomology groups (Theorem 5.5) and consequently a finiteness theorem for closed semi q-coronae. This leads to a somehow weaker result than that obtained in the situation of a full corona (see Remark 5.2). Anyhow the result obtained is enough to prove an extension theorem for analytic subsets and sheaves of an open semi 1-corona, whose depth is at least three (Theorem 5.16).

We conclude the chapter outlining some possible generalizations of the above results, to semi q-coronae in Stein spaces.

The third part of the thesis, Chapters 6–8, as already said, is devoted to the boundary problem in complex analysis.

In Chapter 6 — The boundary problem — we present the second main problem. Basically, the boundary problem is the following: given a real odd-dimensional submanifold in a complex manifold, which conditions are necessary and sufficient for it being the boundary of a "complex variety"? The problem has been intensively studied by several people essentially when the boundary is compact. The maximal complexity (for manifolds of positive CR-dimension) or moments condition (for curves) have been pointed out as necessary and sufficient conditions. In this chapter we state the main results obtained in the last fifty years, starting from John Wermer's result on compact curves [101] which dates 1958. Some sketches of the proofs or ideas lying underneath are presented. We also state: Stolzenberg's result on union of curves in \mathbb{C}^n [91], Harvey-Lawson's theorem on compact manifolds of any dimension in \mathbb{C}^n [38]; moreover the results in q-concave sets and the recent approaches to the problem in \mathbb{CP}^n are surveyed.

Chapter 7 — Non-compact boundaries of complex analytic varieties — is mainly based on the joint research with Giuseppe Della Sala [15]. We approach the non-compact version of the boundary problem. What we get is a non-compact version of Harvey-Lawson extension theorem in strongly convex and strictly pseudoconvex domains satisfying Lupacciolu's (\star) condition. The method used for the proof is basically the following: we first extend locally the odd dimensional maximally complex manifold by a complex strip, then we slice it into compact manifolds, to apply Harvey-Lawson's result to each slice. In order to get the solution we need to show that the obtained varieties are organized as a complex variety. This is a crucial step of the proof and is based on an integral representation of the Harvey-Lawson's solution (see Lemma 7.7). It has to be pointed out that this result is not valid for curves. Chapter 7 concludes with a section with some considerations on Lupacciolu's (\star) condition.

Finally, the thesis is concluded by **Chapter 8** — **Semi-local extension** of maximally complex submanifolds — based on [16]. Here we deal with the boundary problem in the following semi-local setting: given an open subset A of the boundary of a strictly pseudoconvex domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, which is a natural domain $D \subset \Omega$ where all real odd-dimensional maximally complex submanifolds M of A can be extended? Using the methods of the previous chapter we give a (partial) answer to the problem (see Theorems 8.1, 8.10), which relates the domain D in which the extension exists with the hull of bA. The problem whether the above D is the maximal with this property, is still unsolved. The methods employed in this situation are essentially the same as those of the previous chapter, but with some sligth improvement. In the particular case $A = b\Omega$ we improve the result of [15].

The thesis is also endowed with an ample **Bibliography** which gives some references for further reading on the broad subject of extension of analytic objects.

Acknowledgements. The author was supported by a grant from the Scuola Normale Superiore on "Estensione di oggetti analitici – bordi di varietà complessa e di varietà levi piatte", and partially by PRIN project "Proprietà geometriche delle varietà reali e complesse". I wish to thank the Scuola Normale Superiore for all the support and the opportunities I have received in the years spent in Pisa, and the Univerza v Ljubljani for the hospitality while I was there as a visiting scholar.

Many people have their share of merit for this work being so as it is (while I must say all the fault for errors, misprints and imprecisions is due to myself). The biggest share, of course, goes to my advisor Giuseppe Tomassini who introduced me to the magical and colorful realm of Complex Analysis, furnished me with problems, discussed them with me, he was always ready to explain me mathematics that was not clear, and helped me in the difficult task of learning how to write mathematics.

It was a pleasure working with Giuseppe Della Sala. We have two different approaches to studying a mathematical problem, and I feel like we complemented well each other and both learned a lot in the interaction in these last years.

Alexandru Simioniuc taught me being more careful with proofs and mathematical formalism. Altough we have really different opinions about writing clear mathematics (or maybe exactly for that reason), making a book with him was a *unique* experience.

I feel many other mathematicians have played an important role, each one in a different way, in my first mathematical education. Among them, I wish to thank Marco Abate, Filippo Bracci, Franc Forstnerič, Tamara Servi, Anna Siano, Viorel Văjăitu, and Giuseppe Zampieri.

But life is not only writing mathematics, isn't it? So, thanks to all the young and old friends I met in these years and that are now spread all around the world. It is sad being so far apart, but is nice knowing that wherever I go I'll find some of you happy to see me again.

A big hug and kiss go to Alina, who has been so patient and loving with me during all the time I was writing, despite her being under thesis, too.

Thanks to my parents, who are finally accustoming with the idea that doing mathematics I am working...

Finally this thesis is dedicated to my little brother, Giorgio, possibly the best mathematician in the family, at least if he gets the idea that he should work hard for that!

Ringraziamenti. L'autore è stato finanziato da un assegno della Scuola Normale Superiore sull'"Estensione di oggetti analitici – bordi di varietà complessa e di varietà levi piatte" e parzialmente dal progetto PRIN "Proprietà geometriche delle varietà reali e complesse". Vorrei ringraziare la Scuola Normale per il supporto e le opportunità che mi ha fornito in questi anni qui a Pisa, e l'Univerza v Ljubljani per l'ospitalità offertami quando ero in visita.

Molte persone hanno la loro parte di meriti per come è questo lavoro (mentre la colpa per gli errori e le imprecisioni presenti è tutta mia). La parte più grande ovviamente spetta al mio relatore Giuseppe Tomassini, che mi ha introdotto al magico mondo colorato dell'Analisi Complessa, mi ha dato problemi da studiare, ne ha discusso con me, è stato sempre disponibile a spiegarmi cose che non mi erano chiare e mi ha aiutato nella difficile impresa dell'imparare a scrivere di matematica.

È stato un piacere lavorare con Giuseppe Della Sala. Abbiamo due diversi approcci allo studio di un problema matematico e posso dire che ci siamo complementati bene l'uno con l'altro e abbiamo entrambi imparato molto nel nostro rapporto in questi anni.

Alexandru Simioniuc mi ha insegnato a prestare maggiore attenzione alle dimostrazioni e al formalismo matematico. Nonostante abbiamo visioni molto diverse su come scrivere chiaramente di matematica (o forse proprio per questo), scrivere un libro con lui è stata un'esperienza *unica*.

Mi sembra che molti altri matematici abbiano avuto un ruolo di primo piano, ognuno a modo suo, nella mia iniziale formazione matematica. Tra loro, vorrei ringraziare Marco Abate, Filippo Bracci, Franc Forstnerič, Tamara Servi, Anna Siano, Viorel Văjăitu e Giuseppe Zampieri.

Un ringraziamento va anche a Luisa Ferrini, che è stata una presenza costante in questi anni alla Scuola Normale, sempre di aiuto in tutto, dai problemi con l'inglese a quelli di impaginazione e col $\mathbb{L}T_{E}X$.

La vita però non è solo scrivere matematica, né? Allora, grazie a tutti gli amici che ho conosciuto in questi anni e che ora sono sparpagliati in giro per il mondo. È triste essere lontani, ma è bello sapere che in ogni luogo io vada c'è qualcuno che è contento di rivedermi.

Un abbraccione e un bacio ad Alina, che è stata così paziente e adorabile durante il periodo di scrittura, nonostante sia anche lei sotto tesi.

Un grazie ai miei genitori, che finalmente si stanno abituando all'idea che facendo matematica *sto* lavorando...

Infine, questa tesi è dedicata a mio fratello, Giorgio, forse il miglior matematico della famiglia, perlomeno se si mette in testa l'idea che deve mettersi a lavorare sodo per esserlo!

1.1 Definitions

In this section we recall the elementary definitions and fix some notations.

1.1.1 Holomorphic functions and tangent spaces

We will consider \mathbb{C}^n with coordinates $z_1, \ldots, z_n, z_k = x_k + iy_k$, unless otherwise stated. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, i.e. an open connected set. For a differentiable function $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ we define

$$\partial f = \sum_{1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_{k}} dz_{k}$$
$$\overline{\partial} f = \sum_{1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{z}_{k}} d\overline{z}_{k}$$
$$df = \partial f + \overline{\partial} f.$$

Holomorphic functions on D are the differentiable functions $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ which satisfy $\overline{\partial} f = 0$. Note that if n = 1 this reduces to the classical Cauchy-Riemann condition. As in the one variable case, a holomorphic function is of class \mathcal{C}^{∞} . A function f is holomorphic if and only if it is separately holomorphic in each variable (Riemann).

We will denote the algebra of holomorphic functions on $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ by $\mathcal{O}(D)$, and the algebra of complex functions which are holomorphic on an open neighborhood of D by $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$.

Let $N \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a smooth connected real submanifold, and let $p \in N$. We denote by $T_p(N)$ the real tangent space of N at the point p, and by

$$H_p(N) = T_p(N) \cap iT_p(N)$$

the holomorphic tangent space of N at the point p.

A k-dimensional real submanifold $N \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is said to be totally real if $H_p(N) = \{0\}$ at every point $p \in N$. In particular $k \leq n$.

1.1.2 Analytic subsets

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain and $A \subset D$ a closed subset locally defined as zeroset of holomorphic functions $A = \{f_1 = \cdots f_k = 0\}, f_1, \ldots, f_k \in \mathcal{O}(D)$. A is said to be an *analytic subset*. Assume now that the \mathbb{C} -linear forms $\partial f_1, \ldots, \partial f_k$, are linearly independent at every point $z \in A$. Then A is a *complex submanifold* of D of *complex dimension* n - k, i.e. for every $z \in A$ there exists a neighbourhood U of z and a biholomorphism $f: U \to f(U)$ such that $f(U \cap A)$ is an open sets of a n - k coordinate space. **Remark 1.1** In general, an analytic subset cannot be globally given as the zero locus of holomorphic functions.

Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. An *m*-branched analytic covering of an analytic space Ais a complex space \widetilde{A} with a surjective projection $\pi : \widetilde{A} \to A$ with fiber of cardinality *m* outside of a discrete subset $E \subset A$ and such that for each point $z \in A \setminus E$ there is a neighborhood $U \ni z$ such that $\pi^{-1}(U)$ is the disjoint union of *m* copies of U. $\pi^{-1}(E)$ is called the branching locus of \widetilde{A} .

1.1.3 Hulls of compact sets

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, $K \subset D$ a compact subset, and \mathcal{A} an algebra of functions on D. We can define the \mathcal{A} -hull of K as

$$\widehat{K}_{\mathcal{A}} = \bigcap_{\varphi \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ z \in D : |\varphi(z)| \le \max_{K} |\varphi| \right\}.$$

Obviously $K \subset \widehat{K}_{\mathcal{A}}$. The subset K is said to be \mathcal{A} -convex if K coincides with its \mathcal{A} -hull, $\widehat{K}_{\mathcal{A}}$.

Remark 1.2 If $f, g \in \mathcal{A}$ coincide on K, then they must also coincide on $\widehat{K}_{\mathcal{A}}$. Indeed consider $f - g \in \mathcal{A}$. $f - g \equiv 0$ on K, hence on $\widehat{K}_{\mathcal{A}}$.

These definitions have a strong relation with the maximum principle, hence they are interesting definitions when the algebra \mathcal{A} satisfies it, like in the case of holomorphic functions.

If $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{O}(D)$, we will denote by \widehat{K}_D the $\mathcal{O}(D)$ -hull of K, and if $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$, by $\widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$ the $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ -hull of K.

1.1.4 Harmonic, pluriharmonic and plurisubharmonic functions

A \mathcal{C}^2 -smooth function $\varphi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be *harmonic* in $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ if

$$\Delta\phi(z) = \sum_{1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x_k^2}(z) + \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial y_k^2}(z) \right) = 0,$$

for all $z \in U$.

A \mathcal{C}^2 -smooth function $\varphi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be *pluriharmonic* in $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ if its restriction to every complex line L of \mathbb{C}^n is harmonic in $L \cap U$. A pluriharmonic function is in particular harmonic.

1.1. DEFINITIONS

A upper-semicontinuous function $\varphi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be *plurisubhar-monic* (or *psh*) in $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ if, for every $V \Subset U$ with smooth boundary bV and for every function ψ pluriharmonic in a neighborhood of \overline{V} , $\psi \geq \varphi$ on bV implies $\psi \geq \varphi$ on V. If φ is \mathcal{C}^2 -smooth this definition can be given considering the eigenvalues of the Levi-form, thus enabling also a notion of strict plurisubharmonicity. We will give these definitions in Subsection 1.1.6.

1.1.5 *CR*-geometry

A (2k + 1)-dimensional real submanifold $N \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $k \geq 1$, is said to be a CR-submanifold if dim_{\mathbb{C}} $H_p(N)$ is constant If N is a CR-manifold,

$$H(N) = \bigcup_{p \in N} H_p(N)$$

is a subbundle of the tangent bundle T(N). A totally real manifold is a trivial example of a CR-manifold. On the opposite side there is the case when $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H_p(N)$ is the greatest possible, i.e. $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H_p(N) = k$ for every p; in this case N is said to be maximally complex. If k = 0 the definition is an empty condition: all one-dimensional real manifolds are totally real, hence CR.

A \mathcal{C}^{∞} function $f: N \to \mathbb{C}$ is said to be a *CR*-function if for a (and hence for any) \mathcal{C}^{∞} extension $\tilde{f}: U \to \mathbb{C}$ (*U* being a neighborhood of *N*) we have

$$\left(\overline{\partial}\widetilde{f}\right)\Big|_{H(N)} = 0. \tag{1.1}$$

In particular the restriction of a holomorphic function to a CR-submanifold is a CR-function. It is immediately seen that f is CR if and only if

$$df \wedge (dz_{j_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_{j_k})|_N = 0, \tag{1.2}$$

for any $(j_1, \ldots, j_k) \in \{1, \ldots, n\}^k$. Similarly N is maximally complex if and only if

$$(dz_{j_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_{j_{k+1}})|_N = 0$$

for any $(j_1, \ldots, j_{k+1}) \in \{1, \ldots, n\}^{k+1}$.

We can also define a notion of weak CR-function, for function which are only \mathcal{C}^0 -smooth. Indeed, let N be a CR-manifold of CR-dimension l. A function $f \in \mathcal{C}^0(N)$ is said to be a weak CR-function if for all smooth (l, l-1)-forms φ with compact support, such that $\overline{\partial}\varphi = 0$,

$$\int_N f\varphi = 0$$

Observe that the boundary M of a complex submanifold W of dimension at least 2 is maximally complex. Indeed, for any $p \in bW = M$, $T_p(bW)$ is a real hyperplane of $T_p(W) = H_p(W)$ and so is $iT_p(bW)$. Hence the complex tangent $H_p(bW) = T_p(bW) \cap iT_p(bW)$ is of real codimension 2 in $H_p(W)$.

By the same argument, a (2n-1)-real submanifold of \mathbb{C}^n is maximally complex.

If $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} W = 1$ and bW is compact then for any holomorphic (1, 0)-form ω we have, due to Stokes theorem (see Theorem 2.2)

$$\int_{M} \omega = \iint_{W} d\omega = \iint_{W} \partial \omega = 0$$

since $\partial \omega|_W \equiv 0$. This condition for M is called *moments condition* (cfr. [38]).

1.1.6 The Levi-form and Levi-convexity

For this section we change the notations of the real variables setting

$$z_1 = x_1 + ix_{n+1}, \dots, z_n = x_n + ix_{2n}.$$

Let $D \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain and $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(D)$. For every point $z^0 \in D$ we denote by $\mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)$ the real Hessian form of ϕ at z^0 :

$$\mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)(\xi) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{2n} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x_j \partial x_k}(z^0) \xi_j \xi_k, \ \forall \xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{2n}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}.$$
(1.3)

Denote by $Q(\phi; z^0)$ the \mathbb{C} -bilinear form of ϕ at z^0

$$Q(\phi; z^0)(\zeta) \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial z_\alpha \partial z_\beta}(z^0) \zeta_j \zeta_k, \ \forall \zeta = (\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n.$$
(1.4)

and by $L(\phi; z^0)$ the hermitian form of ϕ at z^0

$$L(\phi; z^0)(\zeta) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial z_\alpha \partial \overline{z}_\beta}(z^0) \zeta_j \overline{\zeta}_k, \ \forall \zeta = (\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$
(1.5)

where

$$\zeta_{\alpha} = \xi_{\alpha} + i\xi_{n+\alpha}, \ 1 \le \alpha \le n.$$

 $L(\phi; z^0)$ given by (1.5) is called the *complex Hessian* or the *Levi-form* of ϕ at z^0 .

1.1. DEFINITIONS

Remark 1.3 If $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is an open set, $f : U \to \mathbb{C}^n$ a holomorphic map, $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)$ and $\phi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ a differentiable function. Then

$$L(\phi \circ f; z^{0})(\zeta_{1}, \dots, \zeta_{n}) =$$

$$= L(\phi; f(z^{0})) \left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f_{1}}{\partial z_{\alpha}}(z^{0})\zeta_{\alpha}, \dots, \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f_{n}}{\partial z_{\alpha}}(z^{0})\zeta_{\alpha} \right).$$
(1.6)

The following properties hold (for a proof see [17])

- (i) $4L(\phi; z^0)(\zeta) = \mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)(\operatorname{Re} \zeta, \operatorname{Im} \zeta) + \mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)(\operatorname{Re} i\zeta, \operatorname{Im} i\zeta);$
- (ii) $\operatorname{Re} Q(\phi; z^0)(\zeta) = \mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)(\operatorname{Re} \zeta, \operatorname{Im} \zeta) \mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)(\operatorname{Re} i\zeta, \operatorname{Im} i\zeta);$
- (iii) $\mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)(\xi) = 2L(\phi; z^0)(\zeta) + 2\text{Re}\,Q(\phi; z^0)(\zeta);$
- (iv) the real symmetric form $\operatorname{Re} Q(\phi; z^0)(\zeta)$ has the same number of positive and negative eigenvalues;
- (v) if p(L) is the number of positive eigenvalues of $L(\phi; z^0)$ and $p(\mathcal{H})$ is the number of positive eigenvalues of $\mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)$, then $p(L) \leq p(\mathcal{H})$;
- (vi) if $n(\mathcal{H})$ is the number of negative eigenvalues of $\mathcal{H}(\phi; z^0)$, then $p(L) + n(\mathcal{H}) \leq 2n$.

A domain D in \mathbb{C}^n is said to have a *differentiable boundary* if for every $z^0 \in bD$ there exist both a neighborhood U of z^0 and a smooth function $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(U)$ such that

- (a) $U \cap D = \{z \in U : \rho(z) < 0\};$
- (b) $d\rho(z) \neq 0$, for every $z \in U \cap bD$.

In this situation we say that ρ defines bD (locally) at z^0 .

Remark 1.4 If ρ_1 , ρ_2 define b*D* at z^0 , then there exists a positive smooth function *h* in a neighborhood of z^0 such that $\rho_1 = h\rho_2$.

Suppose that ρ defines bD at z^0 . Let $T_{z^0}(bD)$ be the real hyperplane tangent to bD at z^0 and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x_j} (z^0) (x_j - x_j^0) = 0.$$
 (1.7)

the equation of $T_{z^0}(bD)$. Since

$$\operatorname{Re} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{\alpha}}(z^{0})(z_{\alpha}-z_{\alpha}^{0}) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x_{j}}(z^{0})(x_{j}-x_{j}^{0}),$$

 $T_{z^0}(bD)$ contains the complex hyperplane $H_{z^0}(bD)$ through z^0 defined by

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{\alpha}} (z^{0})(z_{\alpha} - z_{\alpha}^{0}) = 0.$$
(1.8)

 $H_{z^0}(bD)$ is indeed the previously defined holomorphic tangent space of bD at z^0 (see Subsection 1.1.1). Let us consider the Hessian form of ρ in z^0 , $\mathcal{H}(\rho; z^0)$. If h is smooth, then

$$\mathcal{H}(h\rho; z^{0})(\xi) = h(z^{0})\mathcal{H}(\rho; z^{0})(\xi) +$$

$$+ 2\left(\sum_{j=1}^{2n} \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_{j}}(z^{0})\xi_{j}\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{2n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x_{j}}(z^{0})\xi_{j}\right).$$
(1.9)

Therefore, if h > 0 and $\xi \in T_{z^0}(bD)$, the forms

$$\mathcal{H}(\rho; z^0)|_{T_{z^0}(\mathrm{b}D)}, \ \mathcal{H}(h\rho; z^0)|_{T_{z^0}(\mathrm{b}D)}$$

have the same signature. In particular, the condition

$$\mathcal{H}(\rho; z^0)|_{T_{z^0}(bD)} \ge 0$$
 (1.10)

does not depend on the function ρ which defines bD at z^0 . As it is well known, the inequality (1.10) at every point $z^0 \in bD$ characterizes the domains with differentiable boundary which are convex.

For the Levi-convexity, the form $L(\rho; z^0)$ plays the role of $\mathcal{H}(\rho; z^0)$. In this setting equation (1.9) becomes

$$L(h\rho; z^{0})(\zeta) = h(z^{0})L(\rho; z^{0})(\zeta) +$$

$$+2Re\left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \frac{\partial h}{\partial z_{\alpha}}(z^{0})\zeta_{\alpha}\right)\left(\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial \overline{z}_{\alpha}}(z^{0})\overline{\zeta}_{\alpha}\right)$$

$$(1.11)$$

and, if h > 0 and $\zeta \in H_{z^0}(bD)$, we have

$$L(h\rho; z^{0})(\zeta) = h(z^{0})L(\rho; z^{0})(\zeta),$$

i.e.

$$L(h\rho; z^0)|_{H_{z^0}(\mathrm{b}D)}$$

and

$$L(\rho; z^0)|_{H_{z^0}(bD)}$$

have the same signature.

1.1. DEFINITIONS

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain with differentiable boundary. bD is called Levi-convex (or pseudoconvex), respectively strongly Levi-convex (or strongly pseudoconvex), if

$$L(\rho; z^0)|_{H_{z^0}(\mathrm{b}D)} \ge 0,$$

respectively

 $L(\rho; z^0)|_{H_{z^0}(bD)} > 0,$

for all $z^0 \in bD$, ρ being a defining function for bD at z^0 .

A strongly pseudoconvex domain is locally biholomorphic to a strongly convex domain. Indeed,

Lemma 1.1 (Narasimhan) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain with \mathcal{C}^2 -smooth boundary, adn $p \in b\Omega$ a point of strong pseudoconvexity. Then there is a neighborhood $U \ni p$ and a biholomorphic map $\Phi : U \to U'$ such that $\Phi(U \cap \Omega)$ is strongly convex.

Proof. Since Ω is strongly pseudoconvex at p, there exist a local defining function ρ for Ω at p and a positive constant C > 0 satisfying

$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2 \rho}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_k} (p) w_j \overline{w}_k \ge C |w|^2, \quad \forall w \in \mathbb{C}^n.$$
(1.12)

Up to a rotation and a translation of coordinates, we may suppose p = 0and that $\nu = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ is the normal outward-pointing vector at 0. The second-order Taylor expansion of ρ near 0 is

$$\rho(w) = \rho(0) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{j}}(0)w_{j} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial z_{j} \partial z_{k}}(0)w_{j}w_{k} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial \overline{z}_{j}} + \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial \overline{z}_{j} \partial \overline{z}_{k}}(0)\overline{w}_{j}\overline{w}_{k} + \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial z_{j} \partial \overline{z}_{k}}w_{j}\overline{w}_{k} + o(|w|^{2}) = \\
= 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{j}}(0)w_{j} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial z_{j} \partial z_{k}}(0)w_{j}w_{k}\right\} + \\
+ \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial z_{j} \partial \overline{z}_{k}}w_{j}\overline{w}_{k} + o(|w|^{2}) = \\
= 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{w_{1} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial z_{j} \partial z_{k}}(0)w_{j}w_{k}\right\} + \\
+ \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho}{\partial z_{j} \partial \overline{z}_{k}}w_{j}\overline{w}_{k} + o(|w|^{2}).$$
(1.13)

Define the mapping $w \mapsto w'$ by

$$w_1' = \Phi_1(w) = w_1 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho}{\partial z_j \partial z_k}(0) w_j w_k$$

$$w_j' = \Phi_j(w) = w_j \quad \forall j > 1.$$

By the implicit function theorem, if w is in a sufficiently small neighborhood of 0, this is a well defined holomorphic change of coordinates. Equation (1.13) tells us that, in the coordinates w', the defining function becomes

$$\rho(w') = 2\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} w_1' + \sum_{j,k=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_k} w_j' \overline{w}_k' + o(|w'|^2).$$

Thus the Hessian at 0 is the Levi-form at 0 and so it is positive. By continuity it is positive in a small neighbourhood U. In there $U \cap b\Omega$ is strongly convex as claimed. \Box

Remark 1.5 Observe that if $\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_l \in \mathbb{C}^n$ $(l \leq n)$ are l domains strongly pseudoconvex at the point p where they intersect \mathbb{C} -transversally (i.e. their normal outward pointing vectors at p generate an l-dimensional affine complex space), then the domains can be locally convexified simultaneously, by a slight modification of the proof above.

The definitions of Levi-convexity can be given for differentiable hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $S \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a differentiable hypersurface. Then S is called *Levi-convex* (or *pseudoconvex*), respectively *strongly Levi-convex* (or *strongly pseudoconvex*), if for every $z^0 \in S$ the hermitian form

$$L(\rho; z^0)|_{H_{z^0}(\mathrm{b}D)}$$

is positive (negative) definite, respectively strictly positive (negative) definite, $\rho = 0$ being a local equation for S at Z^0 .

We remark that the notion of Levi-convexity is invariant under biholomorphisms (see Remark 1.3).

The hypersurfaces $S \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ which satisfy

$$L(\rho; z^0)|_{H_{z^0}(\mathrm{b}D)} = 0,$$

for every $z^0 \in S$ are called *Levi-flat*.

Levi-flat hypersurfaces have an interesting geometry. We just point out the following:

Remark 1.6 The zero set of a pluriharmonic function is a real analytic Levi-flat hypersurface. The converse holds locally.

Let D be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n . A \mathcal{C}^2 function $\varphi : D \to \mathbb{R}$ is called *strongly* q-plurisubharmonic, if the Levi-form $L(\varphi; z)$ has at least n - q + 1 positive eigenvalues for every $z \in D$; strongly 1-plurisubharmonic functions are called *strongly plurisubharmonic*. If $L(\varphi; z) \geq 0$ for every $z \in D$, the function φ is said to be *plurisubharmonic*. These notions coincide with those defined before and can therefore be extended to upper semicontinuous functions.

1.2 Representation formulas

Many extension results can be obtained via representation (or integral) formulas, which can be used to find the values of a holomorphic function of which only boundary values are know. Moreover representation formulas can be seen as criterions for holomorphicity.

There are a lot of different integral formulas, and it is a continuous struggle for finding better ones. In domains of general type no nice formulas are known, while on domains with a lot of simmetries the theory is pretty well developed. In here we are not interested in this theory, however. We only furnish some of the most useful or "representative" integral formulas, without proof. Detailed proofs can be found in [13, 17, 55], as well as in other basic text of one or several complex variables.

1.2.1 The Cauchy kernel

Let D be a domain in \mathbb{C} , and $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ be a holomorphic function. Let $z \in D$ and γ be a Jordan curve in D containing z in its inside and homotope to a point in D. Then

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta = f(z).$$
(1.14)

The function

$$K_C(z,\zeta) = \frac{1}{2\pi i(\zeta - z)}$$

is called the *Cauchy kernel* relative to the point z.

The proof of the Cauchy formula (1.14) is a straightforward application of the classical Stokes' theorem (see Theorem 2.2).

This result clearly points out that in order to know a holomorphic function, the only knowledge of boundary values is sufficient, due to the maximum principle.

1.2.2 The Bergman kernel

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain. We denote by $L^2(D)$ the Hilbert space of the square integrable (with respect to the Lebesgue measure $d\ell$) functions on D, and by $H^2(D)$ the subspace of those functions which are holomorphic. $H^2(D)$ is a closed subspace of $L^2(D)$, in particular a Hilbert space.

Given a point $z \in D$ consider on $H^2(D)$ the functional e_z , the evaluation at z: $e_z(f) = f(z)$. The functional e_z is continuous, hence it is a scalar product by the Riesz Theorem; i.e. there exists an element $K_D(z, \cdot) \in H^2(D)$ such that for every $f \in H^2(D)$

$$f(z) = e_z(f) = \int_D f \overline{K}_D(z, \cdot) d\ell$$
(1.15)

and

$$||K_D(z,\cdot)||_{L^2} = ||e_z|| \le \frac{1}{(\sqrt{\pi})^n d(z)^n},$$
(1.16)

where $d(z) = \inf_{\zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n \setminus D} || z - \zeta ||$.

The function $K_D = K_D(z, \zeta)$ is called the *Bergman kernel* of D, and (1.15) is the *Bergman representation formula* of f.

We observe that in the unit ball \mathbb{B}^n , the Bergman kernel has the following explicit form (for more about the Bergman kernel in the ball, see [80]):

$$K_{\mathbb{B}^n}(z,w) = \frac{1}{\ell(\mathbb{B}^n)(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1}}.$$

The Bergman kernel K_D has the following properties

- (i) $K_D(z,\zeta) = \overline{K_D(\zeta,z)};$
- (ii) for every $z \in D$

$$\sqrt{K_D(z,z)} = \|K_D(z,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \max_{f \in LH^2(D)} \frac{|f(z)|}{\|f\|_{L^2}};$$

- (iii) K_D is uniquely determined by the function $K_D(z, z)$;
- (iv) $|K_D(z,\zeta)| \leq \sqrt{K_D(z,z)} \sqrt{K_D(\zeta,\zeta)};$
- (v) $2|K_D(z,\zeta)| \le K_D(z,z) + K_D(\zeta,\zeta);$
- (vi) If D, D' are domains in \mathbb{C}^n and $\Phi : D \to D'$ is a biholomorphism, $\Phi = (\Phi_1, \ldots, \Phi_n)$, then

$$K_{D'}\left(\Phi(z), \Phi(\zeta)\right) J_z(\Phi) J_\zeta(\Phi) = K_D(z, \zeta),$$

1.2. REPRESENTATION FORMULAS

where

$$J_w(\Phi) = \det \frac{\partial(\Phi_1, \dots, \Phi_n)}{\partial(w_1, \dots, w_n)}(w).$$

(vii) Let D be domain in \mathbb{C}^n and D' a subdomain of D. Then for every $z \in D'$

$$K_D(z,z) \le K_{D'}(z,z).$$
 (1.17)

(viii) Let $D_1 \subset \mathbb{C}^{n_1}$, $D_2 \subset \mathbb{C}^{n_2}$ be domains. Then

$$K_{D_1 \times D_2}(z, w, \zeta, v) = K_{D_1}(z, \zeta) K_{D_2}(w, v)$$
(1.18)

1.2.3 The Bochner-Martinelli kernel

The following theorem is due to, indipendently, Martinelli [66], May [67] and Bochner [10].

Theorem 1.2 Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with a connected boundary of class C^1 , whose orientation is determined by inward pointing normal vectors. Let f be holomorphic in D and continuous on bD. Then, for every $z \in D$

$$f(z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \int_{bD} f(\zeta)\omega(z,\zeta),$$
 (1.19)

where

$$\omega(z,\zeta) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} (-1)^{\alpha} \frac{\overline{\zeta}_{\alpha} - z_{\alpha}}{|z - \zeta|^{n}} d\zeta_{1} \wedge \ldots \wedge d\zeta_{n} \wedge d\overline{\zeta}_{1} \wedge \ldots \hat{\alpha} \ldots \wedge d\overline{\zeta}_{n}.$$
(1.20)

The (n, n-1)-form

$$\omega_{BM}(z,\zeta) = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \,\omega(z,\zeta) \tag{1.21}$$

is called the *Bochner-Martinelli kernel* relative to the point z. Unlike the Cauchy kernel in one variable, the Bochner-Martinelli kernel is not holomorphic.

1.2.4 The Henkin kernel

On a strongly pseudoconvex domain $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ (with \mathcal{C}^4 -smooth boundary bD), however, a holomorphic reproducing kernel for holomorphic function, known as the Henkin kernel, does exist. The down-side of the medal is that the Henkin kernel, unlike the Bochner-Martinelli one, is not explicit at all.

The proof of this representation formula is due —independently— to Henkin [50,51] and Ramirez [74].

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and denote by $D_{\varepsilon} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ the set of point in D whose distance from the boundary bD is greater than ε . Solving a $\overline{\partial}$ -problem in D Henkin found a \mathcal{C}^1 singular function $\Phi : D_{\varepsilon} \times bD \to \mathbb{C}$, called the *Henkin singular* function, which can be written as

$$\Phi(z,\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\zeta_j - z_j) P_j(z,\zeta),$$

 $z \in D_{\varepsilon}, \zeta \in bD$, with P_j holomorphic in the variable $z \in D_{\varepsilon}$ and \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth in the variable $\zeta \in bD$.

For each j, define

$$w_j(z,\zeta) = \frac{P_j(z,\zeta)}{\Phi(z,\zeta)},$$
$$\eta(z,\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^n (-1)^{j+1} w_j \, dw_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dw_{j-1} \wedge dw_{j+1} \wedge \ldots \wedge dw_n,$$

and

$$\omega(\zeta) = d\zeta_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge d\zeta_n.$$

Theorem 1.3 (Henkin [50]) For any $f \in \mathcal{A}^1(D)$ and every $z \in D_{\varepsilon}$,

$$f(z) = \int_{bD} f(\zeta)\eta(z,\zeta) \wedge \omega(\zeta).$$

For a proof refer to [50, 51, 55].

Chapter 2

Classical extension theorems in one and several complex variables

The great rigidity of holomorphic functions (compared to continuous or smooth functions, for whom a partition of unit exists) together with their richness (compared with the "few" polynomial functions) give a big interest to all extension results, which are incredibly wide-spread and of different flavors. Indeed if an extension of a holomorphic function exists on a bigger connected domain, it is unique thanks to analytic continuation.

In this chapter we first give some basic results of Complex Analysis, then explore some classical extension theorem in one and several variables.

2.1 Basic theorems

While this thesis is devoted to extension results, we feel some really basic theorems, which will be used in the following, cannot be left unstaded. We recall them here, referring the reader to [13, 18, 79] for proofs.

Theorem 2.1 (Morera) Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a domain. A continuous function $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ is holomorphic if and only if, for each piecewise \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth compact closed curve $\gamma \subset D$, homotope to a point in D,

$$\int_{\gamma} f(z) \, dz = 0.$$

Theorem 2.2 (Stokes) Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be a domain with smooth boundary bD. Let ω be a smooth k-form in an open neighborhood of \overline{D} . Then

$$\int_{bD} \omega = \iint_{D} d\omega.$$

Observe that if $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and ω is a holomorphic form, then the previous formula becomes (since $d = \partial + \overline{\partial}$ and $\overline{\partial}\omega = 0$)

$$\int_{bD} \omega = \iint_{D} \partial \omega.$$

This in particular implies the following generalization to several complex variables of Morera's theorem (for a proof of this result in even greater generality, see [11]).

Theorem 2.3 Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain. A continuous function $f : D \to \mathbb{C}$ is holomorphic if and only if, for each n-cycle Γ with smooth boundary,

$$\int_{\Gamma} f(z_1,\ldots,z_n) \, dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n = 0.$$

2.2 Extension theorems in one complex variable

While the realm of extension theorems for holomorphic functions is in several complex variables, some nice, classical extension theorems hold also in the one variable case.

2.2.1 Removable singularities for bounded holomorphic functions

Theorem 2.4 (Riemann) Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a domain, $a \in D$. If $f : D \setminus \{a\} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a holomorphic function bounded near a, then a is a removable singularity for f, i.e. there exists a (unique) holomorphic function $h : D \to \mathbb{C}$ that coincides with f on $D \setminus \{a\}$.

Proof. By hypothesis, on a corona $C = \{0 < |z-a| < \delta\} |f| \le M$, for some δ and M. Thus the function

$$F(z) = (z-a)^2 f(z)$$

2.2. ...IN ONE COMPLEX VARIABLE

is defined and holomorphic in C and $\lim_{z\to a} F(z) = 0$, hence $F \in \mathcal{C}^0(\Delta_{a,\delta})$, $\Delta_{a,\delta}$ being the disc of radius δ centered in a. Moreover, for $z \neq a$

$$F'(z) = 2(z-a)f(z) + (z-a)^2 f'(z).$$

Hence Cauchy-Riemann estimate on C

$$|f'(z)| \le \frac{M}{|z-a|}$$

implies that $\lim_{z\to a} F'(z) = 0$, and so $F \in \mathcal{C}^1(\Delta_{a,\delta})$. It follows that F is holomorphic on $\Delta_{a,\delta}$ and vanishes in a. Hence it can be written as

$$F(z) = (z-a)^k g(z)$$

with $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $g \in \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{a,\delta})$ and $g(a) \neq 0$. Thus in C

$$(z-a)^2 f(z) = (z-a)^k g(z),$$

with $k \ge 2$, since f is bounded in C. This proves that $h(z) = (z-a)^{k-2}g(z)$ is the required holomorphic extension of f. \Box

2.2.2 Reflection principle

Theorem 2.5 (Schwarz) Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a domain symmetric with respect to the real axis and let $D^+ = D \cap \{ \text{Im } z > 0 \}$, $D^- = D \cap \{ \text{Im } z < 0 \}$ and $D^0 = D \cap \{ \text{Im } z = 0 \}$. Let $f : D^+ \cup D^0 \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function, holomorphic on D^+ , and real valued on D^0 .

Then there exists a unique holomorphic function $g: D \to \mathbb{C}$ extending f, i.e. such that g(z) = f(z) for all $z \in D^+ \cap D^0$.

Proof. The uniqueness is immediate from the identity principle.

For the existence, let us define

$$g(z) = \begin{cases} f(z) & \text{if } z \in D^+ \cup D^0\\ \hline f(\overline{z}) & \text{if } z \in D^- \cup D^0 \end{cases}$$

The function g is continuous and holomorphic outside the real axis, hence it is immediate to check, using Morera's theorem, that g is holomorphic everywhere in D. \Box

2.3 Extension theorems in several complex variable

The most important theorem of the theory of several complex variables is Hartogs' theorem, which basically state that holomorphic functions fill compact holes.

Theorem 2.6 (Hartogs) Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, n > 1, be a domain, $K \subset D$ a compact subset such that $D \setminus K$ is connected. Then the restriction homomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}(D) \xrightarrow{res} \mathcal{O}(D \smallsetminus K)$$

is an isomorphism.

2.3.1 Extension near small-dimensional sets

An equivalent of Riemann extension theorem for bounded holomorphic functions in one variable exists in several complex variables.

Theorem 2.7 Let $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be an open neighborhood of the origin, L a kdimensional linear subspace and f a holomorphic function on $U \setminus L$. If |f|is bounded, then f extends holomorphically on U.

Proof. We may assume that L is the hyperplane $\{z_n = 0\}$ and U is a ball. Let $z' = (z_1, \ldots, z_{n-1})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be such that for every fixed z' with $|z'| \le \varepsilon$, the boundary of the 1-dimensional disc

$$D_{\varepsilon}(z') = \{ (z', z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n : |z_n| < \varepsilon \}$$

is contained in $U \smallsetminus L$. By the classical Riemann Theorem it follows that

$$f|_{D_{\varepsilon}(z')\smallsetminus\{z'\}}$$

extends holomorphically on the disc. Consider the function

$$f: \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : |z'| \le \varepsilon, |z_n| \le \varepsilon\} \to \mathbb{C}$$

defined by:

$$\widetilde{f} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathrm{b}D_{\varepsilon}(z')} \frac{f(z',\zeta)}{\zeta - z_n} d\zeta.$$

Since f is continuous on $\{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : |z'| \leq \varepsilon, |z_n| = \varepsilon\}$, \tilde{f} is continuous on $\overline{D}_{\varepsilon}(z')$ and, differentiating under the integral sign, it follows that \tilde{f} is holomorphic separately in each of the variable z_1, \ldots, z_n , thus holomorphic. Since \widetilde{f} coincides with f on $D_{\varepsilon}(z') \smallsetminus \{z'\}$ for every z', \widetilde{f} is the required extension of f. \Box

In the previous theorem, the boundedness hypotesis can be dropped if $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} L \leq n-2$, as a corollary of Hartogs theorem (see Theorem 2.6).

Corollary 2.8 Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, n > 1 be a domain and L an affine complex subspace with $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} L \leq n-2$. Then any holomorphic function on $D \setminus L$ extends holomorphically to D.

Proof. We may assume that

$$L = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : z_k = \dots = z_n = 0 \},$$

with $k \leq n-1$. We denote $z' = (z_1, \ldots, z_{k-1})$. For every $(z', 0) \in L$, the affine subspace

$$L_{z'}^{\perp} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : z = (z', z_k, \dots, z_n) \}$$

has dimension ≥ 2 and $L_{z'}^{\perp} \cap L = \{(z', 0)\}.$

For a fixed $(a', 0) \in L$, there exist $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(a')$, and r = r(a') > 0 such that the (n - k + 1)-dimensional polydisc

$$Q = Q(z';\varepsilon) = \{(z', z_k, \dots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n : |z_j| < \varepsilon, \ k \le j \le n\}$$

is relatively compact in D for ||z' - a'|| < r (see figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1:

By Theorem 2.6, $f|_{D\cap L_{z'}^{\perp}\smallsetminus \{(z',0)\}}$ extends holomorphically to $D\cap L_{z'}^{\perp}$. Let

$$U_L = \{ z \in D : \| z' - a' \| < r, |z_j| < \varepsilon, k \le j \le n \}$$

and $\widetilde{f}: U_L \to \mathbb{C}$ be given by:

$$\widetilde{f}(z', z_k, \dots, z_n) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{n-k+1}} \int_{\widetilde{S}(Q)} \frac{f(z', \zeta_k, \dots, \zeta_n)}{(\zeta_k - z_k) \cdots (\zeta_n - z_n)} d\zeta_k \wedge \dots \wedge d\zeta_n,$$

where $\check{S}(Q)$ is the Šilov boundary of the (n - k + 1)-dimensional polydisc $Q = Q(z'; \varepsilon)$ (i.e. the product $\mathbb{S}^1_{\varepsilon} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{S}^1_{\varepsilon}$). Since f is continuous on bU_L , \tilde{f} is continuous on U_L and, differentiating under the integral sign, it follows that \tilde{f} is holomorphic separately in each of the variable z_1, \ldots, z_n , thus holomorphic. Since \tilde{f} coincides with f on $Q \setminus \{z'\}$ for every z', \tilde{f} is the required extension of f. \Box

2.4 Edge of the wedge theorem

Let $0 \in U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Let $\rho_1(z), \ldots, \rho_n(z)$ be smooth real analytic functions, $\rho_j(0) = 0$ for all $j, M = \{z \in U : \rho_j(z) = 0, j = 1, \ldots, n\}$. Moreover suppose that $\overline{\partial}\rho_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \overline{\partial}\rho_n \neq 0$, which in particular implies that the intersections of their zero-sets are \mathbb{C} -transversal:

$$(dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n)|_M \neq 0.$$

The set U is divided in 2^n parts (see Figure 2.2) by

$$\bigcup_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ z \in U : \rho_j(z) = 0 \right\}.$$



Figure 2.2: The open set U is divided in 2^n components

Let
$$M = \{ z \in U : \rho_1(z) = \dots = \rho_n(z) = 0 \}$$
, and
 $U^{\pm} = \{ z \in U : \pm \rho_j(z) > 0, \ j = 1, \dots, n \}$

2.4. EDGE OF THE WEDGE THEOREM

Theorem 2.9 (Edge of the Wedge theorem) Let

$$f^{\pm} \in \mathcal{O}\left(U^{\pm}\right) \cap \mathcal{C}^{0}\left(U^{\pm} \cup M\right)$$

be two holomorphic functions coinciding on M. Then there exist an open neighborhood $W, U \supset W \supset M$, and a holomorphic function $F \in \mathcal{O}(W)$ such that $F_{|_{U^{\pm}\cap W}} = f_{|_{U^{\pm}\cap W}}^{\pm}$. (see Figure 2.3)



Figure 2.3: The functions f^{\pm} , defined on opposite wedges, and coinciding on the edge, can be holomorphically extended with a function F defined on an open neighborhood of the edge (Edge of the Wedge theorem)

For a proof of Edge of the Wedge theorem, refer to [55, 78, 90, 98, 105].

Example 2.1 The condition of \mathbb{C} -transversality of the smooth hypersurfaces $\{\rho_k(z)\}$ is necessary. \mathbb{R} -transversality is not enough. Indeed, let us consider $U = \mathbb{C}^2$ with coordinates $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1$, $z_2 = x_2 + iy_2$, and $\rho_1(z) = x_1$, $\rho_2(z) = y_1$. Then

$$U^{+} = \{(z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid x_1 > 0, y_1 > 0\}, \quad U^{-} = \{(z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid x_1 < 0, y_1 < 0\},\$$

their intersection M being $\{0\} \times \mathbb{C}_{z_2}$. The function

$$f(z) = \begin{cases} z_1 & \text{if } z \in \overline{U}^+, \\ z_1^2 & \text{if } z \in \overline{U}^- \end{cases}$$

is holomorphic in U^+ and U^- and continuous on the wedge M (and even on the boundaries of U^{\pm} , but of course there is no holomorphic function in a neighbourhood W of M such that $F|_{U^{\pm}\cap W} = f^{\pm}|_{U^{\pm}\cap W}$.

Example 2.2 In $U = \mathbb{C}^2$ as before, the functions $\rho_1(z) = y_1$, $\rho_2(z) = y_2$ satisfy the \mathbb{C} -transversality condition and the edge of the wedge theorem applies.

Chapter 3

Extension of CR-functions up to a Levi-flat boundary and of holomorphic maps

Hatogs' theorem (Theorem 2.6) enables to extend holomorphic functions through a compact hole. Using local extension results and representation formulas for holomorphic functions, it is possible also to fill some special kind of non-compact holes. A new kind of extension theorems (up to a Levi-flat boundary) was born in the middle 80's using this arguments (cfr. [63–65]).

In this chapter the local theorem and the non-compact extension results are stated and some sketches of the proofs are given.

The final section of the chapter is devoted to the extension of holomorphic maps across the boundary, providing some theorems similar to the classical Schwartz reflection principle in several complex variables.

3.1 Global extension for *CR*-functions

The following is the equivalent of Hartogs' theorem for CR-functions.

Theorem 3.1 Let

$$D = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) < 0 \} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$$

be a domain, with defining function ρ of class C^2 . Every continuous weak CR-function in bD is the boundary value of a holomorphic function in D, continuous up to bD.

The idea of the proof is to consider the harmonic solution to the Dirichlet problem with boundary value. The weak CR-condition then ensures that the obtained solution is indeed holomorphic. For a proof, refer to [99].

3.2 Local extension for *CR*-functions

We just state, without proof, a very classical and useful local extension result for CR-functions.

Theorem 3.2 (Lewy [61], Kohn-Rossi [53]) Let

$$D = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) < 0 \} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$$

be a domain, with defining function ρ of class C^2 . If the Levi-form of ρ has at least one positive eingenvalue at a point $p \in bD$, then every continuous weak CR-function in a neighborhood $U \cap bD$ of p is the boundary value of a holomorphic function in $U' \cap D$ (U' smaller neighborhood of p), continuous up to $U' \cap bD$.

With this flavour there are other more precise results as those on monolateral and bilateral extension of CR-functions, see e.g. [75, 76].

3.3 Extension up to a Levi-flat boundary

Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, n > 2, be a \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth, compact, connected and orientable real hypersurface with boundary $b\Gamma$. Suppose Γ satisfies the following conditions

- 1. $b\Gamma \subset M = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) = 0\}$, where $\rho : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a pluriharmonic function;
- 2. $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma \subset M^+ = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) > 0\};$
- 3. $b\Gamma = bA$, the boundary of a bounded open set A of M.

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be the bounded domain with boundary $bD = \Gamma \cup A$ (see figure). In [65] the following theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.3 Every locally Lipschitz CR-function f on $\Gamma \setminus b\Gamma$ extends uniquely to a function F holomorphic on D and continuous on $D \cup (\Gamma \setminus b\Gamma)$.

Note that, when M is a hyperplane, this gives back Lewy's local extension theorem.



In the next Chapter we give a generalization of this theorem to Stein spaces (see Corollary 4.12).

Here we give the proof only with the stronger hypothesis for the function f of being C^1 -smooth (this simplifies the proof by removing technicalities, but does not change the ideas underlying in it):

Theorem 3.4 Every C^1 -smooth CR-function f on $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$ extends uniquely to a function F holomorphic on D and continuous on $D \cup (\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma)$.

Proof. Uniqueness. ρ is the real part of a uniquely determined (up to the addition of a constant) holomorphic function $\varphi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}$. Suppose F_1 and F_2 coincide with f on $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$. The maximum principle for $F_1 - F_2$ on the analytic submanifold $V_{\zeta} = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \varphi(z) = \varphi(\zeta)\}$ implies

$$|F_1(\zeta) - F_2(\zeta)| \le \max_{V_{\zeta} \cap \Gamma} |0| = 0,$$

for every $\zeta \in D$, i.e. $F_1 = F_2$. \Box

Before going into the proof of the existence, we make some considerations. Let $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n$, and

$$M_{\zeta} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) = \rho(\zeta) \}.$$

 M_{ζ} is foliated in complex analytic hypersurfaces, the level sets of φ :

$$\{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \varphi(z) = const\}.$$

 $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus V_{\zeta}$ is a domain of holomorphy, hence on $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus V_{\zeta}$ there is a (n, n-2)-form $\Phi = \Phi(\cdot, z)$ such that $\overline{\partial} \Phi = \omega_{BM}, \omega_{BM}$ being the Bochner-Martinelli kernel

in (1.21). To obtain the extension theorem, an explicit solution of such an equation, which depends analytically upon $\operatorname{Re} \zeta_i$, $\operatorname{Im} \zeta_i$, is needed. In [65] such a solution is proved to be

$$\Phi(z,\zeta) = \frac{1}{\varphi(z) - \varphi(\zeta)} \sum_{k=1}^{n} h_k(z,\zeta) (z_k - \zeta_k) \Omega_k(z,\zeta), \quad (3.1)$$

where $\Omega_k(z,\zeta)$ $(k=1,\ldots,n)$ are the following (n,n-2)-form

$$\Omega_k(z,\zeta) = C_k dz_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dz_n \wedge \left[\sum_{j \neq k} (-1)^{j - \max\left(0, \frac{j-k}{|j-k|}\right)} (\overline{z}_j - \overline{\zeta}_j) \bigwedge_{l \neq j,k} d\overline{z}_l \right],$$
$$C_k = \frac{(n-2)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \frac{(-1)^{\frac{n(n+1)}{2}+k}}{(z_k - \zeta_k)|z - \zeta|^{2n-2}}.$$

The forms Ω_k are defined on $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{\zeta\}$ and they satisfy

$$\frac{\partial \omega_{BM}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k} = \overline{\partial} \frac{\partial \Omega_k}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}, \tag{3.2}$$

for k = 1, ..., n. We may now prove the existence. **Proof.** *Existence.* If such a function F exists, we claim that

$$F(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma} f\omega_{BM}(\cdot,\zeta) - \int_{b\Gamma} f\Phi(\cdot,\zeta), \qquad (3.3)$$

for all $\zeta \in D$.

Indeed, consider $\Gamma_{\varepsilon} = \Gamma \cap \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) \geq \varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. For almost all ε , Γ_{ε} is a \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth, compact, connected hypersurface with boundary $b\Gamma_{\varepsilon} = \Gamma \cap \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) = \varepsilon\}$, which verifies conditions 1., 2. and 3. with respect to the Levi-flat (non-singular) hypersurface $M_{\varepsilon} = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z) = \varepsilon\}$.

Again, let A_{ε} be the bounded open domain of M_{ε} with boundary $b\Gamma_{\varepsilon}$, and D_{ε} the bounded domain of \mathbb{C}^n with boundary $\Gamma_{\varepsilon} \cup A_{\varepsilon}$. Applying to this domain Bochner-Martinelli's formula (1.19) we get

$$F(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} f\omega_{BM}(\cdot,\zeta) + \int_{A_{\varepsilon}} F\omega(\cdot,\zeta)$$
(3.4)

for all $\zeta \in D_{\varepsilon}$.

Since, in a neighborhood U_{ε} of $\overline{A}_{\varepsilon}$, $V_{\zeta} \cap M_{\varepsilon} \cap U_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$, then in $D F \omega_{BM}(\cdot, \zeta) = d(F\Phi(\cdot, \zeta))$. Green-Stokes' formula thus imply

$$F(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} f\omega_{BM}(\cdot,\zeta) + \int_{b\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} f\Phi(\cdot,\zeta), \qquad (3.5)$$
for all $\zeta \in D_{\varepsilon}$. From (3.5), when $\varepsilon \to 0$, we get (3.3), as claimed.

Hence to prove the existence, it sufficies to show that (3.3) actually is holomorphic and gives an extension of f. The functions

$$F_1(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma} f \omega_{BM}(\cdot, \zeta)$$
(3.6)

$$F_2(\zeta) = \int_{\partial \Gamma} f \Phi(\cdot, \zeta)$$
(3.7)

are real analytic on $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus \Gamma$ (respectively on $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus M$). Let us denote by F_j^+ (respectively by F_j^-), the restriction on F_j to D (respectively to $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus (\overline{D} \cup M)$), j = 1, 2. Then $F = F_1^+ - F_2^+$. F_1^\pm both extend continuously to $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$, and on $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$ $F_1^+ - F_1^- = f$ (see [38, Appendix B]). Moreover, since F_2 is real analytic on $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus M$, on $\Gamma \backsim b\Gamma$ $F_2^+ - F_2^- = 0$.

Hence F extends continuously to $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$, where

$$F = F_1^+ - F_2^+ = f + F_1^- - F_2^-.$$
(3.8)

Hence we must prove that $F_1^- - F_2^- = 0$ on $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$.

Let

$$U = \left\{ \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(\zeta) \notin \left[0, \max_{\overline{D}} \rho \right] \right\},\$$

and $\zeta \in U$. $\overline{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n \setminus M_{\zeta}$, thus $\omega(\cdot, \zeta)$ and $\Phi(\cdot, \zeta)$ are \mathcal{C}^{∞} -smooth in a neighborhood of Γ . Thus, by Green-Stokes' formula

$$(F_1^- - F_2^-)(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma} f \overline{\partial} \Phi(\cdot, \zeta) - \int_{b\Gamma} f \Phi(\cdot, \zeta) = 0, \qquad (3.9)$$

for $\zeta \in U$. Since U intersects all connected components of $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus (\overline{D} \cup M)$ and $F_1^- - F_2^-$ is real analytic on $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus (\overline{D} \cup M)$ and continuous up to $\Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$, (3.9) holds also for $\zeta \in \Gamma \smallsetminus b\Gamma$. So F is indeed an extension of f.

To show that F is holomorphic, consider its antiholomorphic derivatives (k = 1, ..., n)

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma} f \overline{\partial} \, \frac{\partial \Omega_k}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}(\cdot, \zeta) - \int_{\partial \Gamma} f \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}(\cdot, \zeta). \tag{3.10}$$

If n = 2, one easily verifies that

$$\frac{\partial\Omega_k}{\partial\overline{\zeta}_k} = \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial\overline{\zeta}_k},$$

for k = 1, 2, hence Green-Stokes' formula implies

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k} = 0,$$

for k = 1, 2.

If n > 2 and $\zeta \in D$, fix $\varepsilon > 0$ s.t. $\zeta \notin V_{\varepsilon} = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^n : -\varepsilon < \rho(z) < \varepsilon\}$. The (n, n - 2)-forms

$$\Psi_k(\cdot,\zeta) = \frac{\partial\Omega_k}{\partial\overline{\zeta}_k}(\cdot,\zeta) - \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial\overline{\zeta}_k}(\cdot,\zeta), \qquad (3.11)$$

for k = 1, ..., n, are \mathcal{C}^{∞} -smooth and $\overline{\partial}$ -closed on V_{ε} , which is an open set of holomorphy. Hence, there exist \mathcal{C}^{∞} -smooth (n, n-3)-forms $\Theta_k(\cdot, \zeta)$ on Us.t.

$$\Psi_k(\cdot,\zeta) = \overline{\partial}\Theta_k(\cdot,\zeta), \qquad (3.12)$$

for k = 1, ..., n. Let $\tilde{\Theta}_k(\cdot, \zeta)$ be \mathcal{C}^{∞} -smooth (n, n - 3)-form on \mathbb{C}^n , equal to $\Theta_k(\cdot, \zeta)$ in a neighborhood of $\partial \Gamma$, k = 1, ..., n. (3.10), (3.12) and Green-Stokes' formula thus imply

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma} f \overline{\partial} \left[\frac{\partial \Omega_k}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}(\cdot, \zeta) - \overline{\partial} \tilde{\Theta}_k(\cdot, \zeta) \right] - \int_{\partial \Gamma} f \left[\frac{\partial \Omega_k}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}(\cdot, \zeta) - \overline{\partial} \tilde{\Theta}_k(\cdot, \zeta) \right] = 0,$$

 $k = 1, \ldots, n$. So F is holomorphic. \Box

3.4 Extension out of holomorphic hulls

Theorem 3.3 was later generalized by Lupacciolu in [63].

Problem 3.1 Consider a bounded domain $D \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $n \geq 2$, with boundary bD and a compact subset $K \subset bD$, such that $bD \setminus K$ is a \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth real hypersurface in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus K$. Given $f \in CR(bD \setminus K)$ does there exist a holomorphic extension $F \in \mathcal{O}(D \setminus K) \cap \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D} \setminus K)$ such that

$$F_{|_{bD \smallsetminus K}} = f?$$

A positive answer was given in [63], if K is $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ -convex, and $bD \smallsetminus K$ is connected:

Theorem 3.5 Assume that K is $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ -convex, and $bD \smallsetminus K$ is connected. Then every continuous CR-function f on $bD \smallsetminus K$ has a unique extension

$$F \in \mathcal{O}(D \smallsetminus K) \cap \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D} \smallsetminus K).$$

Moreover

Theorem 3.6 Assume that $bD \smallsetminus \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$ is a connected C^1 -smooth real hypersurface in $\mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$. Then every continuous CR-function f on $bD \smallsetminus \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$ has a unique extension

$$F \in \mathcal{O}(D \smallsetminus \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}) \cap \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D} \smallsetminus \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}).$$

Setting $D' = D \setminus \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$ and $K' = \overline{D}' \cap \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$, Theorem 3.5 with D' and K' implies Theorem 3.6. Hence the two statements are equivalent.

In the following chapter we will give a generalization of Theorem 3.5 to Stein spaces (see Corollary 4.13).

Before entering the details of the proof, we make some considerations. Let U be an open neighborhood of \overline{D} and $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. We denote by $L_{\zeta}(\varphi)$ the level set of φ through $\zeta \in U$, i.e.

$$L_{\zeta}(\varphi) = \{ z \in U : \varphi(z) = \varphi(\zeta) \}.$$

It is known (see e.g. [37]) that there exist (possibly not unique) $h_1, \ldots, h_n \in \mathcal{O}(U \times U)$ such that

$$\varphi(z) - \varphi(\zeta) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} h_{\alpha}(z,\zeta)(z_{\alpha} - \zeta_{\alpha}).$$
(3.13)

Using the *n*-uple h_1, \ldots, h_n we can define a $\overline{\partial}$ -primitive of the Bochner-Martinelli form ω_{BM} on $U \smallsetminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi)$. Indeed, setting

$$\Psi_{\alpha}^{+} = \sum_{\beta=1}^{\alpha-1} (-1)^{\beta} (\overline{z}_{\beta} - \overline{\zeta}_{\beta}) d\overline{z}_{1} \wedge \cdots \hat{\beta} \cdots \hat{\alpha} \cdots \wedge d\overline{z}_{n},$$

$$\Psi_{\alpha}^{-} = \sum_{\beta=\alpha+1}^{n} (-1)^{\beta+1} (\overline{z}_{\beta} - \overline{\zeta}_{\beta}) d\overline{z}_{1} \wedge \cdots \hat{\alpha} \cdots \hat{\beta} \cdots \wedge d\overline{z}_{n},$$

$$\Omega_{\alpha}(\zeta) = \frac{(-1)^{n+\alpha}}{n-1} \frac{(-1)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} (n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^{n}} \frac{dz_{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dz_{n}}{(z_{\alpha} - \zeta_{\alpha})|z - \zeta|^{2n-2}} \wedge (\Psi_{\alpha}^{+} + \Psi_{\alpha}^{-}),$$

$$\Phi_{h}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{\varphi(z) - \varphi(\zeta)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} h_{\alpha}(z, \zeta)(z_{\alpha} - \zeta_{\alpha})\Omega_{\alpha}(\zeta),$$

then $\Phi_h(\zeta)$ is a real analytic $\overline{\partial}$ -primitive of the Bochner-Martinelli form $\omega_{BM}(\zeta)$ on $U \smallsetminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi)$.

If h and h' are two different *n*-uples of holomorphic functions satisfying (3.13), then the following properties hold (for a proof, refer to [63]):

1. if $n \ge 3$,

$$\Phi_h(\zeta) - \Phi_{h'}(\zeta) = \overline{\partial} X_{h,h'}(\zeta), \qquad (3.14)$$

where $X_{h,h'}(\zeta)$ is an (n, n-3)-form on $(U \smallsetminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi)) \cap (U' \smallsetminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi'));$

2. if
$$n = 2$$
, on $(U \smallsetminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi)) \cap (U' \smallsetminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi'))$,

$$\Phi_h(\zeta) - \Phi_{h'}(\zeta) = -\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \frac{(h_1 h'_2 - h_2 h'_1) dz_1 \wedge dz_2}{(\varphi(z) - \varphi(\zeta))(\varphi(z') - \varphi(\zeta'))}.$$
 (3.15)

Before entering the proof of Theorem 3.5, we state for completeness the following result (which is a sharper version of Stokes' Theorem for CR-functions). We do not give a proof, as in here we are not much interested in a small-smoothness situation.

Theorem 3.7 Let Σ be a C^1 -smooth real hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^n without boundary. Let $f: \Sigma \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function. Then $f \in CR(\Sigma)$ if and only if

$$\int_{c_{n+q}} f \overline{\partial} \mu = \int_{bc_{n+q}} f \mu, \qquad (3.16)$$

for every $1 \le q \le n-1$, and every singular (n+q)-chain c_{n+q} of Σ of class C^1 and every (n, q-1)-form μ of class C^1 on an open neighborhood of Σ .

We can now begin the actual construction of the function F. Let $V \supset K$ be an open neighborhood, and $\sigma : \mathbb{C}^n \to [0,1]$ a C^{∞} -smooth function such that

- (a) supp $\sigma \subset V$;
- (b) $\sigma(K) = 1;$
- (c) $\sigma(z) < 1$ if $z \notin K$.

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and set

$$D_{\varepsilon} = D \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid \sigma(z) < 1 - \varepsilon \};$$

$$\Gamma_{\varepsilon} = bD \cap bD_{\varepsilon}; \quad K_{\varepsilon} = \overline{D} \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid \sigma(z) = 1 - \varepsilon \}$$

D can be exhausted by a numerable increasing sequence $D_s = D_{\varepsilon_s}, s \in \mathbb{N}$, of such domains, so that $D = \bigcup_s D_s$ and $bD \smallsetminus K = \bigcup_s \Gamma_s$.

40

3.4. EXTENSION OUT OF HOLOMORPHIC HULLS

Fix a neighborhood U of \overline{D} and $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. For every $s \in \mathbb{N}$, we define the set

$$U_s(\varphi) = \left\{ \zeta \in U \mid |\varphi(\zeta)| > \max_{\overline{D \smallsetminus D_s}} |\varphi| \right\},$$

which is open in $U \setminus \overline{D} \setminus \overline{D_s}$, and it is foliated by the level-sets $L_{\zeta}(\varphi)$. Since $\overline{D} \setminus \overline{D_s}$ is a decreasing sequence of compacts in \overline{D} whose intersection is K, it follows that

$$\bigcup_{s=1}^{\infty} U_s(\varphi) = U(\varphi) = \left\{ \zeta \in U \mid |\varphi(\zeta)| > \max_K |\varphi| \right\}.$$
(3.17)

Since

$$\widehat{K}_{\overline{D}} = \bigcap_{U \supset \overline{D}} \widehat{K}_U,$$

the $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ -convexity of K implies that

$$\overline{D} \smallsetminus K = \left(\bigcup_{U \supset \overline{D}} \bigcup_{\varphi \in \mathcal{O}(U)} U(\varphi)\right) \cap \overline{D}.$$
(3.18)

Now, for every U, φ, s as above and $h_1, \ldots, h_n \in \mathcal{O}(U \times U)$ as in equation (3.13), consider the following function

$$F_h^s(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f\omega(\zeta) - \int_{b\Gamma_s} f\Phi_h(\zeta), \qquad (3.19)$$

 $(\Gamma_s \text{ being oriented as an open set in } bD \text{ and } b\Gamma_s \text{ as the boundary of } \Gamma_s),$ which is defined on $U_s(\varphi) \smallsetminus bD$.

Since $|\varphi_{\zeta}(\varphi)| > |\varphi(z)|$, for $\zeta \in U_s(\varphi)$ and $z \in b\Gamma_s$, the singular level-set $L_{\zeta}(\varphi)$ of $\Phi_h(\zeta)$ does not intersect $b\Gamma_s$. Hence F_h^s is indeed defined and real analytic on $U_s(\varphi) \smallsetminus \Gamma_s = U_s(\varphi) \smallsetminus bD$.

Proposition 3.8 Suppose there is F satisfying the hypothesis of Theorem 3.5. Then for every $U, \varphi, s, h, F = F_h^s$ on $D \cap U_s(\varphi)$.

Proof. Obviously $D \cap U_s(\varphi) \subset D_s$. By hypothesis $F \in \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D}_s) \cap \mathcal{O}(D_s)$, and $F_{|_{\Gamma_s}} = f_{|_{\Gamma_s}}$. Therefore, Bochner-Martinelli formula implies

$$F_h^s(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f\omega_{BM}(\zeta) + \int_{K_s} F\omega(\zeta).$$

Thus we have to prove that, for $\zeta \in D \cap U_s(\varphi)$,

$$\int_{K_s} F\omega_{BM}(\zeta) = -\int_{b\Gamma_s} f\Phi_h(\zeta).$$
(3.20)

Observe that the forms $F\omega(\zeta)$ and $f\Phi_h(\zeta)$ are analytic in $D \setminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi)$, continuous up to the boundary, and such that

$$F\omega_{BM}(\zeta) = d[f\Phi_h(\zeta)].$$

Stokes' Theorem (or its enhanced version Theorem 3.7) imply

$$\int_{K_s} F\omega_{BM}(\zeta) = \int_{bK_s} f\Phi_h(\zeta) = -\int_{b\Gamma_s} f\Phi_h(\zeta),$$

the last equality following from the fact that the boundaries of K_s and of Γ_s coincide with opposite orientations. \Box

Remark 3.1 Proposition 3.8 ensures the uniqueness of the function F and reduces the proof of the existence of F to show that the functions F_h^s "glue" together and the constructed F has f as boundary limit.

Proposition 3.9 The functions F_h^s are each other coherent and holomorphic, i.e. they "glue" together to a holomorphic function.

Proof. The coherence statement means that for all U, φ, h, s and U', φ', h', s'

$$F_h^s = F_{h'}^{s'}, \quad on \ (U_s(\varphi) \cap U'_{s'}(\varphi')) \setminus bD.$$
(3.21)

Without losing any generality, we may suppose that $s \ge s'$. Then (3.21) will be a consequence of the following

$$F_{h'}^s = F_{h'}^{s'}, \quad on \ \cap U_{s'}'(\varphi') \setminus bD, \tag{3.22}$$

$$F_h^s = F_{h'}^s, \quad on \ (U_s(\varphi) \cap U_s'(\varphi')) \setminus bD.$$
(3.23)

To prove (3.22) (in the case s > s') consider the (2n-1)-chain of $bD \setminus K$, $c_{2n-1} = \Gamma_s - \Gamma_{s'}$. For $\zeta \in U'_{s'}(\varphi') \setminus bD$,

$$F_{h'}^{s}(\zeta) - F_{h'}^{s'}(\zeta) = \int_{c_{2n-1}} f\omega_{BM}(\zeta) - \int_{bc_{2n-1}} f\Phi_{h'}(\zeta).$$
(3.24)

Moreover, since $\operatorname{Supp} c_{2m-1} \subset \overline{D_s \setminus D_{s'}} \subset \overline{D \setminus D_{s'}}$ and $L_{\zeta}(\varphi') \subset U'_{s'}(\varphi') \subset U' \setminus \overline{D \setminus D_{s'}}$, it follows that

Supp
$$c_{2n-1} \subset U' \setminus L_{\zeta}(\varphi')$$
,

where $\omega_{BM}(\zeta)$ and $\Phi_{h'}(\zeta)$ are both defined and satisfy $\omega_{BM}(\zeta) = \overline{\partial} \Phi_{h'}(\zeta)$. Hence by Stokes' Theorem the righthand side of (3.24) is zero. This proves (3.22).

To prove (3.23), note that, if $n \geq 3$, equation (3.14) implies that for $\zeta \in (U_s(\varphi) \cap U'_s(\varphi')) \setminus bD$

$$F_h^s(\zeta) - F_{h'}^s(\zeta) = -\int_{b\Gamma_s} f\overline{\partial} X_{h,h'}(\zeta).$$
(3.25)

Again Stokes' Theorem imply that the righthand side is zero, thus proving (3.23) when $n \ge 3$.

When n = 2, equation (3.15) is used to prove that $F_h^s = F_{h'}^s$.

So coherence is proved. It remains to prove the holomorphicity of F, i.e. that for each $\zeta \in U_s(\varphi) \setminus bD$, F_h^s is holomorphic:

$$\frac{\partial F_h^s}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{\alpha}}(\zeta) = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

for $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n$. Clearly,

$$\frac{\partial F_h^s}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_\alpha}(\zeta) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial \omega_{BM}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_\alpha}(\zeta) - \int_{b\Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial \Phi_h}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_\alpha}(\zeta);$$

this can be rewritten as

$$\int_{\Gamma_s} f\overline{\partial} \left[\frac{\partial \Omega_\alpha}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_\alpha}(\zeta) \right] - \int_{b\Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial \Omega_\alpha}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_\alpha}(\zeta) + I_n, \qquad (3.27)$$

where $I_2 = 0$ and, if $n \ge 3$

$$I_n = \int_{b\Gamma_s} f \overline{\partial} \Psi_h^\alpha(\zeta),$$

which is zero in view of Stokes' Theorem. By Stokes' Theorem also the difference in (3.27) is zero, hence F_h^s is holomorphic. \Box

Continuity at the boundary will end the proof. For this, we state without proof a useful lemma.

Lemma 3.10 Let $V \supset bD \setminus K$ be an open neighborhood, $V \subset \cup U(\varphi)$ such that $V \setminus (bD \setminus K)$ has two connected components, V_+ in D and V_- in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \overline{D}$. Then F = 0 on V_- .

Proposition 3.11 For every point $z^0 \in bD \setminus K$,

$$\lim_{D \ni \zeta \to z^0} F(\zeta) = f(z^0).$$

Proof. For every $z^0 \in bD \setminus K$, we first prove the existence of the perpendicular limit, i.e., denoting by $\nu(z^0)$ the inward pointing vector perpendicular to $T_{z^0}(bD)$, we prove that

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} F(z^0 + t\nu(z^0)) = f(z^0), \qquad (3.28)$$

and moreover that the limit is uniform on compact subsets of $bD \setminus K$. Fix $z^0 \in bD \setminus K$. We can find an open neighborhood $U \supset \overline{D}$, a function $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ and $s \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $z^0 \in U_s(\varphi) \cap (\Gamma_s \setminus b\Gamma_s)$. Then, for t > 0 small enough,

$$z^{0} + t\nu(z^{0}) \in U_{s}(\varphi) \cap D, \quad z^{0} + t\nu(z^{0}) \in V_{-},$$

where V_{-} is as in Lemma 3.10. So $F(z^{0} - t\nu(z^{0})) = 0$ by Lemma 3.10. Thus, for any $h \in \mathcal{O}_{\varphi}^{n}(U \times U)$,

$$F(z^{0} + t\nu(z^{0})) = F_{h}^{s}(z^{0} + t\nu(z^{0})) - F_{h}^{s}(z^{0} - t\nu(z^{0})) = I_{1}(z^{0}, t) - I_{2}(z_{0}, t),$$

where

$$I_1(z^0, t) = \int_{\Gamma_s} [\omega_{BM}(z^0 + t\nu(z^0)) - \omega_{BM}(z^0 - t\nu(z^0))]f,$$

$$I_2(z^0, t) = \int_{b\Gamma_s} [\Phi_h(z^0 + t\nu(z^0)) - \Phi_h(z^0 - t\nu(z^0))]f.$$

For every $f \in \mathcal{C}^0(\Gamma_s)$ Harvey and Lawson [38] proved that

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} I_1(z^0, t) = f(z^0).$$

The function $f\Psi$ is defined and real analytic on all of $U_s(\varphi)$, hence for $z^0 \in U_s(\varphi) \cap (\Gamma_s \setminus b\Gamma_s)$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} I_2(z^0, t) = f(z^0),$$

the limit being uniform on compact subsets of $U_s(\varphi) \cap (\Gamma_s \setminus b\Gamma_s)$. Thus (3.28) follows.

Continuity of F in D and triangular inequality suffice to conclude. \Box

3.5 Extension in Stein manifolds

For the sake of completeness, we cite here without proof an extension theorem for CR-functions in Stein manifold.

Theorem 3.12 (Laurent-Thiébaut [56]) Let M be a Stein manifold of complex dimension at least 2, $D \subseteq M$ a relatively compact open set and $K \subset bD$ a compact, such that:

- 1. there exists a holomorphic function $\varphi : M \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $K \subset \{ \operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} \varphi > 0 \};$
- 2. $bD \setminus K$ is C^1 -smooth and connected.

Then for each locally Lipschitz $f \in CR(bD \setminus K)$ there is a (unique) $F \in C^0(\overline{D} \setminus K) \cup \mathcal{O}_M(D)$ such that $F_{|\overline{D} \setminus K} = f$.

3.6 Extension on unbounded domains

The methods used in this chapter to prove the previous theorems (and the theorems themselves) lead to an extension result for CR-functions in unbounded domains (see [64]).

Theorem 3.13 Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $n \geq 2$, be an unbounded open domain with \mathcal{C}^1 smooth and connected boundary bD. If there exists an algebraic hypersurface W of \mathbb{C}^n such that

$$\overline{D}^{\infty} \cap \overline{W}^{\infty} = \emptyset, \tag{3.29}$$

where $\overline{}^{\infty}$ denotes the closure in \mathbb{CP}^n , then for every CR-function f there exists a unique $F \in \mathcal{O}(D) \cap \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D})$

Condition (3.29) is equivalent to the existence of a polynomial $p: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

 $D \subset \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : |p(z)|^2 > (1+|z|^2)^{\deg p} \right\}.$

Observe that if W is a non-algebraic holomorphic hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^n then its closure in \mathbb{CP}^n contains the hyperplane at infinity (see [85]), and thus intersects \overline{D}^{∞} .

Proof of Theorem 3.13. Step 1. W is a hyperplane. Consider a linear change of coordinates such that $\mathbb{CP}_{\infty}^{n-1} = \{\zeta_0 = 0\}$ and $\overline{W}^{\infty} = \{\zeta_n = 0\}$. Consider the linear map from \mathbb{CP}^n to itself sending \overline{W}^{∞} to the hyperplane at infinity of \mathbb{C}^n . The image of D via this map is a domain satisfying the hypothesis of Theorem 3.5. So there is a unique F extending f.

Step 2. W of order ≥ 2 . Let $W = \{P = 0\}$, with deg P = d > 1,

$$P(z) = \sum_{|I|=d} a_I z^I$$

We use the Veronese map v to embed \mathbb{CP}^n in a suitable \mathbb{CP}^N in such a way that $v(\Sigma_0) = L_0 \cap v(\mathbb{CP}^n)$, where L_0 is a linear subspace. The Veronese map v is defined as follows: let d be the degree of P, and let

$$N = \binom{n+d}{d} - 1.$$

Then v is defined by

$$v(z) = v[z_0 : \ldots : z_n] = [\ldots : w_I : \ldots]_{|I|=d},$$

where $w_I = z^I$. We denote by H the hyperplane of equation

$$H = \left\{ \sum_{|I|=d} a_I w_I = 0 \right\}.$$

Hence $v(\overline{W}^{\infty}) \subset H$. We consider H as the new \mathbb{CP}^{N-1} at infinity, i.e. consider the biholomorphism $\tau : \mathbb{CP}^N \smallsetminus H \to \mathbb{C}^N$. Define

$$M=\tau\circ v(\mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^n\smallsetminus \overline{W}^\infty), \ \ D=\tau\circ v(\Omega), \ \ K=\tau\circ v(\overline{\Omega}^\infty\cap \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^{n-1}_\infty).$$

M is an *n*-dimensional algebraic submanifold of \mathbb{C}^N , hence a Stein manifold, $D \Subset M$ a relatively compact open set, $K \subset bD$, and $bD \smallsetminus K$ is a real hypersurface C^1 -smooth and connected in $M \backsim K$. In this situation the thesis is a direct consequence of a slight generalization of Theorem 3.12. \Box

3.7 Extension of holomorphic maps: the reflection principle in higher dimension

One of the possible extension results is that of showing boundary regularity of holomorphic maps under certain assumption (i.e. they they are continuous, C^k -smooth, or real analytic up to the boundary). In this direction, we are going to discuss here a generalization of the classical Schwarz reflection principle, both in one and in several complex variables. For a more detailed exposition see [20, 22, 23, 72, 73]. Namely, consider the following:

Problem 3.2 Let $D, D' \Subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be relatively compact domains, with boundaries bD, bD' of class \mathcal{C}^{ω} (analytic), and let $f : D \to D'$ be a biholomorphic map. Does f extend holomorphically to a function $\tilde{f} \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$?

A positive answer to this question is known in the following cases:

- 1. D, D' are strictly pseudoconvex domains (Pinchuk [72], Lewy [60] '70s)
- D, D' are (weakly) pseudoconvex domains (Bell & Catlin [9], Diederich & Fornæss [19], Baouendi & Rothschild [8] '80s)
- 3. $D, D' \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ (Diederich & Pinchuk [20] 1995)

3.7. EXTENSION OF HOLOMORPHIC MAPS

4. $D, D' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $n \geq 2$, and f is continuous up to the boundary, i.e. $f \in A^0(D) = \mathcal{O}(D) \cap \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D})$ (Diederich & Pinchuk [22,23] 2003)

The previous results hold also when f is not a biholomorphism, but only a *proper* holomorphic map, i.e. if for any relatively compact set $K \subseteq D'$, its pre-image $f^{-1}(K) \subseteq D$ is relatively compact.

If $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)$, we denote its Jacobian determinant by

$$J_f(z) := \det\left(\frac{\partial f_\mu}{\partial z_\nu}(z)\right).$$

If f is a proper holomorphic map, both

$$E = \{z \in D : J_f(z) = 0\}$$

and $E' = f(E) \subset D'$ are analytic sets. Moreover, f is an m-branched analytic covering, and in particular for all $z' \in D' \smallsetminus E'$, $\#f^{-1}(z') = m$.

To solve Problem 3.2, the most important tool is the reflection (or Schwarz) principle. First we state a generalization of the classical recflection principle in \mathbb{C} and then we look at its generalizations in \mathbb{C}^n . Finally we state the main results of [22,23] and outline the principal ideas underlying their proofs.

3.7.1 Reflection principle in \mathbb{C}

Let now $D, D' \subset \mathbb{C}$, and $f : D \to D'$ a biholomorphic (or proper holomorphic) function.

The extension problem being a local problem, we can assume the following situation. Let $\gamma \subset bD \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a real analytic curve in an open set U, $\gamma = \{z \in U : \rho(z) = 0\}$ (see Figure 3.1), where

$$\rho(z) = \rho(z,\overline{z}) = \sum_{k,l \ge 0} c_{kl} z^k \overline{z}^l,$$

with $c_{kl} = \overline{c_{lk}}$ and $d\rho \neq 0$ on γ . Similarly, we let ρ' be a local defining function for the domain D' on some open set $U' \subset \mathbb{C}$, so that $\gamma' = \{z \in U' : \rho'(z) = 0\}$ and, as sets, $f(\gamma) \subset \gamma'$. However, since f is biholomorphic (or proper), it follows that f extends continuously on $D \cup \gamma$.

To reflect the function f across γ , we can first complexify the equation of γ considering the equation:

$$\rho(z, \overline{w}) = \overline{\rho(w, \overline{z})} = 0.$$



Figure 3.1: γ is a real analytic curve in the boundary of the domain D.

Then, from the implicit function theorem we get that if $\rho(z, \overline{w}) = 0$, then $z = \lambda(w)$ in a neighborhood U of γ , with λ being an antiholomorphic function of w. Thus w_0 is a point of the curve γ if and only if $\lambda(w_0) = w_0$. By definition λ switches $U \cap D$ and $U \smallsetminus \overline{D}$. Observe also that $\lambda^2 = \mathrm{id}_U$, i.e. $\lambda^{-1} = \lambda$.

In a similar way we define the reflection λ' with respect to γ' and let $g = \lambda' \circ f \circ \lambda : U \smallsetminus D \to U' \backsim D'$ (see Figure 3.2). It turns out that g is holomorphic and extends f through γ .



Figure 3.2: Reflection of the function f across γ

So the ingredients of the reflection principle in one variable are essentially

- 1. Reflection: antiholomorphic reflection with respect to a real analytic curve;
- 2 Continuation: if $D = D_+ \cup D_-$, $D_+ \cap D_- = \emptyset$, $\gamma = \overline{D}_+ \cap \overline{D}_-$, f_σ is holomorphic on D_σ , $\sigma = +, -$, and $f_+ = f_-$ on γ , then the function

$$F = \begin{cases} f_+ & on \ \overline{D}_+ \\ f_- & on \ \overline{D}_- \end{cases}$$

is holomorphic in D;

3.7. EXTENSION OF HOLOMORPHIC MAPS

3 Initial boundary regularity of f.

We remark that the holomorphicity of the continuation (i.e. of the function F) can be proved, using continuity of f at the boundary by using Morera's theorem, as in the classical Schwarz theorem.

3.7.2 Reflection principle and extension theorems in $\mathbb{C}^n, n > 1$

Let $bD = \{\rho(z, \overline{z}) = 0\}$. We can consider again the complexification of ρ , $\rho(z, \overline{w}) = 0$. In several variables it is however no longer possible to apply the implicit function theorem to obtain z as a function of w (indeed, both $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ and $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n)$ are vectors).

Before considering our case, let us consider the following situation. Let U be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n containing the origin 0. Let $\rho_1(z, \overline{z}), \ldots, \rho_n(z, \overline{z})$ be real analytic function in U and let

$$M = \{ z \in U : \rho_j(z, \overline{z}) = 0, \ j = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

If $\overline{\partial}\rho_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \overline{\partial}\rho_n \neq 0$ then M is a real analytic manifold of codimension n. Moreover M is a *totally real manifold*, i.e.

$$H_0(M) = T_0(M) \cap iT_0(M) = \emptyset.$$

From the equations

$$\begin{cases} \rho_1(z,\overline{w}) = 0\\ \vdots\\ \rho_n(z,\overline{w}) = 0 \end{cases}$$

we may apply the implicit function theorem and get $z = \lambda(w)$ on M, with λ an antiholomorphic reflection.

Using the Edge of the Wedge theorem (see Theorem 2.9) we can prove the following reflection principle theorem.

Theorem 3.14 Let ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_n and U^{\pm} be as before. Let $f: U^- \to \mathbb{C}^N$ $(N \ge n)$ be a holomorphic map, and $M' \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ a totally real analytic manifold. Assume $f(M) \subset M'$ and $f \in \mathcal{O}(U^-) \cap \mathcal{C}^0(U^- \cup M)$. Then $f \in \mathcal{O}(U^- \cup M)$, *i.e.* f can be holomorphically extended across M.

Proof. Reflect U^+ on U^- with antiholomorphic reflection function λ (and let λ' be the analogous antiholomorphic reflection function across M'), define $g = \lambda' \circ f \circ \lambda$, and apply the Edge of the Wedge theorem to f and g. \Box

3.7.3 Extension in the strictly pseudoconvex case

Two preliminary results for holomorphic extension of functions in the pseudoconvex case are the following.

Theorem 3.15 (Fefferman 1974) If D, D' are strictly pseudoconvex, bD, bD' are C^{∞} -smooth, and $f : D \to D'$ is a biholomorphism, then f extends to a diffeomorphism between \overline{D} and $\overline{D'}$.

Theorem 3.16 (Bell 1980) If D, D' are weakly pseudoconvex, bD, bD' are C^{ω} -smooth, and $f: D \to D'$ is a biholomorphism, then $f \in C^{\omega}(\overline{D})$.

Assume that D and D' are strictly pseudoconvex domains in \mathbb{C}^n with real analytic boundary. Let $a \in bD$. Assume $\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_n}(a) \neq 0$ (ρ being the defining function for bD) and define, for $j = 1, \ldots, n-1$,

$$T_j = \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_n}(z)\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} - \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_j}(z)\frac{\partial}{\partial z_n}$$

The complex tangent space of bD at a is

$$H_a(\partial D) = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \sum_{\nu} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{\nu}} z_{\nu} = 0 \right\}.$$

Let $f: D \to D'$ be a biholomorphism. According to Fefferman's theorem f extends smoothly on bD. Since $\rho' \circ f(z) = 0$ if $z \in bD$, applying T_j (j = 1, ..., n) we get

$$\sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho'}{\partial z'_{\nu}} (f(z)) T_j f_{\nu}(z) = 0,$$

hence

$$\begin{cases} \rho'\left(f(z),\overline{f(z)}\right) = 0 & z \in \partial D\\ \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho'}{\partial z'_{\nu}}\left(f(z),\overline{f(z)}\right) T_{j}f_{\nu}(z) = 0 & j = 1,\dots, n-1 \end{cases}$$
(3.30)

Set $Tf = (T_1f, \ldots, T_{n-1}f)$. Then choose a totally real manifold $M \subset bD$ $(a \in M)$ and restrict f and Tf there. Since they are real analytic on M, we can reflect and use Edge of the Wedge theorem to prove that they extend holomorphically. Hence D, D' strongly pseudoconvex implies $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$.

3.7.4 Holomorphic extension in dimension n = 2

Let us look more in details at what happens in dimension two. A strictly pseudoconvex domain D may be locally approximated, via a holomorphic change of coordinates, up to an $o(|z|^2)$ by the unit ball B^2 (which has the defining function $\rho(z) = |z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 - 1$), for a proof refer to [68]. So, let us consider a holomorphic function $f: B^2 \to B^2$.

The system (3.30) becomes

$$\begin{cases} f_1(z)\overline{f_1(z)} + f_2(z)\overline{f_2(z)} = 1 & z \in \partial B^2 \\ T_1f_1(z)\overline{f_1(z)} + T_1f_2(z)\overline{f_2(z)} = 0 & (3.31) \end{cases}$$

The previous system can be considered as a linear system with respect to

$$\overline{f(z)} = \left(\overline{f_1(z)}, \overline{f_2(z)}\right)$$

Since its determinant

$$\Delta = \left| \begin{array}{cc} f_1 & f_2 \\ T_1 f_1 & T_1 f_2 \end{array} \right|$$

is non-zero (because f is a radial vector and $T_1 f$ is a tangent vector), then system (3.31) can be uniquely solved:

$$\overline{f(z)} = h(f(z), T_1 f(z)).$$

Let l_t be the complex line $\{z_2 = t\}$, where $t \in \mathbb{C}$ is near 1 and of modulus less than one (see Figure 3.3). Then



Figure 3.3: We restrict the function to the complex line $l_t = \{z_2 = t\}$.

$$l_t \cap bB^2 = \begin{cases} |z_1|^2 = 1 - |t|^2 \\ z_2 = t \end{cases}$$

Hence on $l_t \cap bB^2$

$$\overline{z}_1 = \frac{1 - |t|^2}{z_1}$$

Using this last equality we obtain

$$T_1 f_j = \overline{t} \frac{\partial f_j}{\partial z_1} - \frac{1 - |t|^2}{z_1} \frac{\partial f_j}{\partial z_2}$$

So $\overline{f} = h(f, T_1 f)$ becomes a rational function on $B^2 \cap l_t$, we can reflect and obtain a rational function on l_t . By changing l_t we obtain that f is rational. Since there are no poles in B^2 neither for f nor for f^{-1} , thus f is an automorphism of B^2 .

3.7.5 Extension of proper holomorphic maps between strictly pseudoconvex C^{ω} -domains

To begin with, we want to avoid to rely on Fefferman's theorem to obtain regularity of the map up to the boundary. To this aim we have the following results:

Lemma 3.17 Let $D, D' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be strictly pseudoconvex domains and let $f : D \to D'$ be a proper holomorphic map. Then f is $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder $(f \in \mathcal{C}^{1/2}(\overline{D}))$, i.e. there exists c > 0 such that for all $z', z'' \in D$ it follows

$$|f(z') - f(z'')| \leq c|z' - z''|^{1/2}.$$

Proof. Step i) We remind that by Hardy-Littlewood lemma (for a proof see [54,77]), for $0 < \alpha < 1$, if

$$\left|\frac{\partial f_{\mu}}{\partial z_{\nu}}(z)\right| \le \frac{C}{(d(z, bD))^{\alpha}} \tag{3.32}$$

then $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}(\overline{D})$. Hence it suffices to prove the above inequality for f with $\alpha = 1/2$.

Step ii) We claim that $d(f(z), bD') \approx d(z, bD)^1$.

$$c_1 f \leq g \leq c_2 f$$

52

¹by the notation $f \approx g$ we mean that there exist two positive constants $0 < c_1 < c_2$ such that

3.7. EXTENSION OF HOLOMORPHIC MAPS

Indeed, if $\rho < 0$, ρ is plurisubharmonic in D, then (by Hopf lemma) $|\rho(z)| \geq Cd(z, bD)$. Moreover, since D' is strictly pseudoconvex, there exists a plurisubharmonic function ρ' on D' such that $|\rho'(z')| \approx d(z', bD')$. Then

$$d(f(z), bD') \approx |\rho'(f(z))| \geq Cd(z, bD)$$

If f is invertible we obtain the reverse inequality using f^{-1} . If f is proper, then it is a covering and the reverse inequality holds similarly.

Step iii) We remind the Schwarz lemma: if $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{C}$ is the unit disc and $f: \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{U}$ is holomorphic and f(0) = 0, then $|f'(0)| \leq 1$, $|f(z)| \leq |z|$ and for all $a \in \mathcal{U}$

$$|f'(a)| \leq \frac{1 - |f(a)|^2}{1 - |a|^2}.$$

It is easy to restate Schwarz lemma for other simply connected domains biholomorphic to the unit disc, e.g. let $\mathcal{U}_r \subset \mathbb{C}$ be the disc of radius r and V^- be the half plane of complex numbers with negative real part; the Schwarz lemma states that if $f: \mathcal{U} \to V^-$ is a holomorphic function with f(0) = b, $\mathsf{Re}b = -\delta$ then

$$|f'(0)| \leq \frac{2\delta}{r}.$$

In \mathbb{C}^n , with coordinates $z = ('z, z_n), V_n^- = \mathbb{C}^{n-1} \times V^-$, consider a holomorphic function $f : \mathcal{U}_r \to V_n^-$ with

$$\operatorname{Re} f(0)_n = \operatorname{Re} b_n = -\delta, \quad f'(0) = v = (v, v_n)$$

Then, by restricting f to the complex line

$$l_v = \{z = b + tv, v \in \mathbb{C}\}$$

and defining $\delta_V(b, v) = d(b, l_v \cap bV_n^-)$, then

$$\frac{|v|}{|v_n|} = \frac{\delta_V(b,v)}{\delta}, \quad |v| = \frac{|v_n|}{\delta}\delta_V(b,v)$$

and so, by Schwarz lemma

$$|v| = \frac{|v_n|}{\delta} \delta_V(b, v) \le \frac{2\delta_V(b, v)}{r}$$

Step iv) We may now conclude the proof of the lemma by showing that inequality (3.32) holds. Let $a \in D$, f(a) = b, |v| = 1, $v \in T_a \mathbb{C}^n$, $v' = df_a(v)$ then

$$\left|\frac{\partial f}{\partial v}(a)\right| = |v'| \le \frac{2\delta_{D'}(b,v')}{\delta_D(a,v)} \le \frac{c\sqrt{d(b,bD')}}{d(a,bD)} \approx \frac{1}{(d(a,bD))^{1/2}}$$

the first inequality due to step iii), the second to the fact that we may assume D' to be convex (since it is strictly pseudoconvex and the statement is local), and the equivalence to step ii). \Box

Algebroid functions 3.7.6

Let as always $D, D' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be domains. Let $f: D \to D'$ be a proper holomorphic map, and z' = f(z). Then the coordinates of $z, z_i = g_i(z')$ satisfy a polynomial equation

$$z_j^m + a_{j1}(z')z_j^{m-1} + \dots + a_{jm}(z') = 0$$

with the coefficients $a_{ij} \in \mathcal{O}(D') \cap \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{D'})$. A function as $g_j(z')$, satisfying such a polynomial equation, is said an *algebroid function* of degree m.

It is a natural question whether algebroid functions satisfy some type of Schwarz lemma. The analogous for algebroid functions of the classical Schwarz lemma would say: let w = h(z) be an algebroid function of the unit disc $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{C}$, with h(0) = 0, |h(z)| < 1. Then

$$\Omega \Subset \mathcal{U} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \exists \alpha = \alpha(\Omega) \in (0,1) \ |h(z)| < \alpha, \ \forall z \in \Omega?$$

This is trivially false, ad the function $w = \sqrt[m]{z}$ shows. We could allow the constant α to depend both on Ω and $m, \alpha = \alpha(\Omega, m)$, but again, the answer is no. Indeed, $(w - (1 - \varepsilon))(w - z) = 0$ is an algebroid function reaching all values up to module $1-\varepsilon$. We could suppose that this is due to the fact that the equation satisfied by w is reducible, but also with a small modification to that algebroid function

$$(w - (1 - \varepsilon))(w - z) + \varepsilon^2 z^2 = 0$$

we can find irreducible algebroid functions whose module reaches values arbitrarily close to 1.

The main problem is that following analytic continuation around branching points outside Ω we follow different branches of the algebroid function which do not satisfy a Schwarz lemma (see Figure 3.4). Hence, to make a Schwarz lemma for algebroid functions hold true, we must consider only analytic continuation inside the relatively compact domain Ω , and not in \mathcal{U} , thus getting rid of branches that arise out of branching points near the boundary of the disc. We can now state the correct result, referring to [69] for more details.



Figure 3.4: By analytic continuation around the branching point b outside of Ω , we get on branches of the algebroid function not satisfying a Schwarz lemma

Lemma 3.18 Let w = h(z) be an algebroid function of the unit disc $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{C}$, of degree m, with h(0) = 0, |h(z)| < 1, and $\Omega \in \mathcal{U}$. Then, considering analytic continuation of h from 0 only inside Ω ,

$$\exists \alpha = \alpha(\Omega, m) \in (0, 1) \ |h(z)| < \alpha, \ \forall z \in \Omega.$$

3.7.7 Edge of the Wedge theorem for the cotangent bundle

Let $D, D' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be domains with smooth boundaries, and $f: D \to D'$ be a biholomorphism. We can extend f to a holomorphic map $F: D \times \mathbb{CP}^{n-1} \to D' \times \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ defined by $F(z, p) = (f(z), df_z(p))$. We define

$$M = \{(z,p) : z \in bD, p \in H_z(bD)\} \subset b(D \times \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}).$$

Our aim will be to prove that M can be seen as the edge of a wedge, in order to apply the edge of the wedge theorem.

Claim. *M* is a totally real manifold of real dimension 2n - 1.

Proof. Up to a holomorphic change of coordinates, we may suppose that $0 \in bD$ and that the defining function of D is of the form $\rho(z) = 2x_n + |z|^2 + O(3)$. So $H_0(\partial D) = \{z_n = 0\}$.

$$H_a(\partial D) = \left\{ \sum_{\nu=1}^n \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{\nu}}(a) z_{\nu} = 0 \right\}$$

hence in $H_a(\partial D)$

$$z_n = -\sum_{\nu=1}^n \frac{\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_\nu}(a)}{\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_n}(a)} z_\nu$$

Thus, using the equation of ρ , we get

$$p_{\nu} = -\frac{\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{\nu}}(a)}{\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_{n}}(a)} = -\overline{z}_{\nu} + O(2)$$

Then

$$T_{(0,0)}M = \{x_n = 0, \ p_\nu = -\overline{z}_\nu, \ \nu = 1, \dots, n-1\}$$
$$iT_{(0,0)}M = \{y_n = 0, \ p_\nu = \overline{z}_\nu, \ \nu = 1, \dots, n-1\}$$
So $T_{(0,0)}M \cap (iT_{(0,0)}M) = \{0\}.$

Thus we have $F : D \times \mathbb{CP}^{n-1} \to D' \times \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$. We need to show that $F(M) \subset M'$, and that M is an edge of a wedge along which F is continuous at M.

By contradiction, suppose there exist a sequence of points $\{z_{\nu}\} \subset D$ and a sequence of complex hyperplanes $\{p_{\nu}\}$ such that $z_{\nu} \in p_{\nu}$ such that, when $\nu \to \infty, z_{\nu} \to 0 \in M, p_{\nu} \to H_0 \partial D, f(z_{\nu}) \to f(0)$ (since we already proved that $f \in \mathcal{C}^{1/2}(\overline{D})$), but $df_{z_{\nu}}(p_{\nu}) \neq H_{f(0)} \partial D'$. In order to continue the proof, we need to introduce the "scaling method".

3.7.8 Scaling method

Let us consider \mathbb{C}^n with coordinates $z = (z, z_n)$, and the biholomorphism

$$('z, z_n) \rightarrow \left(\frac{'z}{z_n+1}, \frac{z_n-1}{z_n+1}\right)$$

which sends $B^n = \{|z| < 1\}$ onto $\widetilde{B}^n = \{x_n + |z|^2 < 0\}$, an unbounded representation of the ball.

Remark 3.2 \widetilde{B}^n is invariant under rescaling $('z, z_n) \mapsto (\lambda'z, \lambda^2 z_n), \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be of the type

$$D = \left\{ z = ('z, z_n) \in \widetilde{B}^n \mid \rho(z) = x_n + |z|^2 + O(3) < 0 \right\}$$

and consider the sequence $Z^{\nu} = (0, -\delta_n u)$, converging to zero normal to the tangent space of M in 0. For every $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$, consider the following change of coordinates

$$\begin{cases} 'z = \sqrt{\delta_{\nu}} \ '\tilde{z} \\ z_n = \delta_{\nu} \ \tilde{z} \end{cases}$$

56

3.7. EXTENSION OF HOLOMORPHIC MAPS

which sends the point z_{ν} to the point (0, -1) and the domain D to

$$D_{\nu} = \left\{ z = (z, z_n) \in \widetilde{B}^n \ \left| \ \frac{\rho(z)}{\delta_{\nu}} = \frac{\delta_{\nu} \widetilde{x}_n + \delta_{\nu} |z|^2 + \delta_{\nu}^2 |\widetilde{z}_n|^2 + O(\delta_{\nu}^3, \widetilde{z}^3)}{\delta_{\nu}} < 0 \right\} \right\}$$

Thus $D_{\nu} \to \widetilde{B}^n$ uniformly on compacts of \mathbb{C}^n in the Hausdorff topology.

If the sequence $z^{\nu} \to 0$ not normal to the tangent space of M in 0, we first make a rotation to send the nearest point of the boundary γ^{ν} to 0, and then proceed as before.

We apply the scaling method to both D and D'. Now we can choose a wedge in $D \times \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ so that, after the change of coordinates

$$z_n = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} p_j^{\nu} z_j \longrightarrow \tilde{z}_n = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{p_j^{\nu}}{\sqrt{\delta_{\nu}}} \tilde{z}_j$$

we can find a wedge (to do this $\frac{1}{2}$ -Hölder continuity is needed) where all $\frac{p_j^2}{\sqrt{\delta_{\nu}}}$ remain bounded, so that the planes converge to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} p'_j \tilde{z}'_j = 0,$$

i.e. the planes in D' become vertical (since scaling is bigger in one direction rather than in the other, see figure 3.5). Hence some boundary point (not at infinity) a of bD is sent to a point at infinity by any limit map of the sequence given by f composed with the scalings. However, such a limit map is an automorphism of the (unbounded) ball which fixes infinity and thus we reach a contradiction. So we proved that F is continuous along a wedge at the edge M.

The scaling method may also be used to prove some other useful results such as

Theorem 3.19 (Wong-Rosay) Let $D \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $f^{\nu} \in \operatorname{Aut}(D)$, $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$, $a \in D$, $a^{\nu} = f^{\nu}(a) \to a^0 \in bD$. If a^0 is a strictly pseudoconvex point of bD, then $D \approx \mathbb{B}^n$.

Theorem 3.20 (Poincaré-Alexander) All proper holomorphic maps $\mathbb{B}^n \mapsto \mathbb{B}^n$ are biholomorphisms (i.e. holomorphic automorphisms).

The statement of the previous theorem is not true even in the simple case when the unit ball is replaced by the unit polidisc Δ^n : e.g. the map defined by $(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \mapsto (z_1^{m_1}, \ldots, z_n^{m_n})$ is a proper holomorphic map, but not a biholomorphism.



Figure 3.5: The limit plane through (0, -1) is sent by the limit map $df_{(0,-1)}$ to a vertical plane through (0, -1)

3.7.9 Non-pseudoconvex case

We are now interested in the non-pseudoconvex case. In this setting, a very important notion is that of Segre variety.

Definition: Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain with smooth boundary, defined by $D = \{\rho(z, \overline{z}) < 0\}$. For $w \in \mathbb{C}^n$, the set

$$Q_w = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : \rho(z, \overline{w}) = 0 \}$$

is called the Segre variety with respect to w.

3.7.10 Main Theorems

Definition: Let M be as before and let $p \in M$. The manifold M is said to be of *D'Angelo finite type* at p if there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all non-constant one-dimensional holomorphic curves

$$\varphi: \mathcal{U} = \{\zeta \in \mathbb{C} : |\zeta| < 1\} \to \mathbb{C}^n$$

such that $\varphi(0) = p$ it follows that $v(\rho \circ \varphi)/v(\varphi) \leq C$, where, for a function h defined near $0 \in \mathcal{U}$, the symbol v(h) denotes the multiplicity of h at 0. The manifold M is said to be of *D'Angelo finite type* if it is of D'Angelo finite type at each point $p \in M$.

Definition: Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a real hypersurface and $p \in M$. M is said to be minimal at p in the sense of Trépreau if there does not exist a neighborhood

 $V \ni p$ and a complex hypersurface $W \subset V$ passing through p such that $W \subset M$. M is said to be *minimal in the sense of Trépreau* if it is minimal at each $p \in M$.

Remark 3.3 If M is of D'Angelo finite type, it is minimal in the sense of Trépreau. Hence every point $z_0 \in M$ has a neighborhood V s.t. every CR-function on M extends holomorphically either on V^+ or V^- , where

$$V^{\pm} = \{ z \in V \mid \pm \rho(z, \overline{z}) > 0 \},\$$

and whether it extends on V^+ or on V^- does not depend upon the function to be extended.

Theorem 3.21 (Diederich-Pinchuk [22,23]) Let $D, D' \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be domains with \mathcal{C}^{ω} -boundaries. Let $f : D \to D'$ be a proper holomorphic map continuous up to the boundary. Then $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$.

Remark 3.4 If bD is C^{ω} then it is of D'Angelo finite type.

Theorem 3.22 (Diederich-Pinchuk [22,23]) Let M, M' be real analytic hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $f : M \to M', f \in \mathcal{C}^0(M) \cap CR(M)$. Then $f \in \mathcal{O}(M)$.

Observe that Theorem 3.22 implies Theorem 3.21 (it suffices to consider $f_{|_{bD}}$). We shall give only the main ideas of the proof of Theorem 3.21 and Theorem 3.22.

Let $M = \partial D$, $M' = \partial D'$. Claim. Let

$$\Sigma = \{ z \in M \mid f \in \mathcal{O}(\{z\}) \} \subset M$$

be the maximal set at which points f extends holomorphically. Then Σ is dense² in M.

Proof. Obviously if M is strictly pseudoconvex, then $\Sigma = M$ and there is nothing to prove. So let us decompose the boundaries

$$M = M^+ \cup M^- \cup M^0; \quad M' = M'^+ \cup M'^- \cup M'^0,$$

where M^+ are the strictly pseudoconvex points of M, M^- are the points of M with eigenvalues of different signature in the Levi-form, and M^0 are the points of M with degenerate Levi-form (same definitions for M'^+ , M'^- , M'^0).

Points in M^- are in the holomorphic convex hull of D, hence all holomorphic functions extend beyond them: $M^- \subset \Sigma$.

²The final aim will be to prove that $\Sigma = M$.

Points in $M^+ \cap f^{-1}(M'^+)$ are strictly pseudoconvex points mapped to strictly pseudoconvex points, hence the (local) theorems of the previous section imply extension holds and $M^+ \cap f^{-1}(M'^+) \subset \Sigma$. There are no points in $M^+ \cap f^{-1}(M'^-)$ since strictly pseudoconvex points may not be mapped to points where the Levi-form has negative eigenvalues. We need to show what happens at points in $M^+ \cap f^{-1}(M'^0)$. If this set has non-empty interior, then it follows that f is constant (hence not proper, contradiction). Thus Σ is dense in M. \Box

Let us consider the local setting: $0 \in M$, $0' \in M'$, f(0) = 0', $\mathcal{U} \ni 0$, $\mathcal{U}' \ni 0'$ open neighborhoods. We define

$$\mathcal{U}^{\pm} = \{ z \in \mathcal{U} : \pm \rho(z) > 0 \}$$

 $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\omega}(\mathcal{U}) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{U}^{-})$. Fixed $w \in \mathcal{U}$, let

$$Q_w = \{ z \in \mathcal{U} \mid \rho(z, \overline{w}) = 0 \}$$

be the (local) Segre variety for w. Up to a change of coordinates, we may assume $\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_n}(0) \neq 0$ and hence, in view of the implicit function theorem, up to shrinking the neighborhood \mathcal{U} ,

$$Q_w = \{('z, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid z_n = h('z, \overline{w})\}.$$

Let $g: \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{U}'$ be a biholomorphism. Then

$$\rho'\left(g(z),\overline{g(z)}\right) = \alpha\left(z,\overline{z}\right)\rho(z,\overline{z}),$$

where $\alpha(z, \overline{z})$ is a real analytic never-vanishing function on \mathcal{U} . Hence

$$\rho\left(g(z), \overline{g(w)}\right) = \alpha\left(z, \overline{w}\right) \rho\left(z, \overline{w}\right)$$

and so $z \in Q_w \Rightarrow g(z) \in Q_{g(w)}$, i.e. $g(Q_w) \subset Q_{g(w)}$. Since g is a biholomorphism, the opposite inclusion holds true, and we have shown that Segre varieties are invariant under biholomorphisms.

We denote by Q_w^c the canonical component of $Q_w \cap \mathcal{U}^-$ (i.e. the one containing the reflection w^s of w across M, see Figure 3.6). We want to extend the graph of f. Define

$$F = \{(w, w') \in \mathcal{U}^+ \times \mathcal{U}' \mid f(Q_w^c) \subset Q_{w'}\}$$

Proposition 3.23 *F* is an analytic set in $\mathcal{U}^+ \cap \mathcal{U}'$.

60



Figure 3.6: The simmetric point w^s of w is the intesection of the vertical line by w and the Segre variety Q_w

Proof. Q_w is defined by $z_n = h('z, \overline{w})$.

$$f(z) \in Q_{w'} \iff \rho'(f(z, h(z, \overline{w})), \overline{w'}) = 0$$

thus F is defined by infinitely many analytic equations and hence only a finite number of equations are needed in order to define the set F which, in particular, is analytic. \Box

3.7.11 Properties of Segre varieties

It is worthwhile observing the following properties of Segre varieties:

1. Since $\rho(z, \overline{w}) = \overline{\rho(w, \overline{z})}$,

$$z \in Q_w \iff w \in Q_z$$

2. Since $\rho(z, \overline{z}) = 0$ defines M,

$$z \in Q_z \iff z \in M$$

Example 3.1 Let us consider, in \mathbb{C}^2 , the function $\rho(z) = 2x_2 + |z_1|^2$ (defining function for a 3-dimensional sphere). Then

$$Q_w = \{ z = (z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 : \rho(z, \overline{w}) = z_2 + \overline{w}_2 + z_1 \overline{w}_1 = 0 \}.$$

Different w's give different Segre varieties.

Example 3.2 The previous is not always the case. Indeed, consider —again in \mathbb{C}^2 — the function $\rho(z) = 2x_2 + |z_1|^4$. Then

$$Q_w = \{ z = (z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2 : \rho(z, \overline{w}) = z_2 + \overline{w}_2 + z_1^2 \overline{w}_1^2 = 0 \}.$$

The points (w_1, w_2) and $(-w_1, w_2)$ correspond to the same Segre variety.

Keeping in mind the last example, for every point $w \in \mathcal{U}$ (or $w \in \mathbb{C}^n$, if our interest is global), we define

$$I_w = \{ z \in \mathcal{U} \mid Q_z = Q_w \}.$$

By definition and by property 1. above, it follows

$$I_w = \bigcap_{\xi \in Q_w} Q_{\xi}.$$

Indeed, if $z \in I_w$, $Q_z = Q_w$, then for all $\xi \in Q_w = Q_z$, $z \in Q_{\xi}$. Moreover, by definition and property 2. above

$$w \in M \implies I_w \subset M.$$

Indeed if $z \in I_w$, $Q_z = Q_w \ni w$, $z \in Q_w = Q_z$, and so $z \in M$.

In the hypothesis of Theorem 3.21 and Theorem 3.22 M is of finite type, so there are no analytic varieties in M. Hence I_w is discrete, for all $w \in M$.

3.7.12 Complex structure of the set of Segre varieties

Let $\lambda : w \to Q_w$ be the Segre map. We can always choose coordinates, called normal coordinates such that

$$\rho(z,\overline{z}) = 2x_n + \sum_{|k|,|l| \ge 1} b_{kl}(y_n) \ 'z^k \ '\overline{z}^l$$

Hence Q_w is defined by

$$\rho(z,\overline{w}) = z_n + \sum_{|k|,|l| \ge 1} b_{kl} \left(\frac{z_n - \overline{w}_n}{2i}\right) ' z^k ' \overline{w}^l = 0.$$

By the implicit function theorem Q_w is locally defined by

$$z_n = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \overline{\lambda(w)} \, ' z^k$$

(of course $\lambda_0(w) = -\overline{w}_n$) Thus $Q_w \cong \{\lambda_k(w)\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}^{n-1}}$. Hence

$$Q_w = Q_z \iff \lambda_k(z) = \lambda_k(w) \ \forall k \in \mathbb{N}^{n-1}$$

So, let us consider in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{U}$ the equation

$$\lambda_k(z) - \lambda_k(w) = 0.$$

There is an $l_0 > 0$ (indipendent of z and w) such that if $\lambda_k(z) = \lambda_k(w)$ for all $|k| \leq l_0$, then $\lambda_k(z) = \lambda_k(w)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}^{n-1}$.

So, if we define

$$N = \# \{ k \in \mathbb{N}^{n-1} : |k| \le l_0 \}$$

we can consider a map $\lambda : \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{C}^N$

$$\lambda(w) = (\lambda_k(w))_{|k| < l_0}.$$

The map λ is a local proper holomorphic map with image in a relatively compact open set V of \mathbb{C}^N , and so induces a complex structure on the set of Segre varieties.

3.7.13 Extending the graph of f

We get back to our problem. The function $f: M \to M'$ (see Figure 3.7) is



Figure 3.7: We are willing to extend holomorphically the function f to a function defined on the neighborhood \mathcal{U} with the aid of Segre varieties

continuous and CR, f(0) = 0', $\mathcal{U} \ni 0$, $\mathcal{U}' \ni 0'$, $f(\mathcal{U}^-) \subset \mathcal{U}'$. Our aim is to extend the graph of f, Γ_f , in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{U}'$. The set

$$F = \{(w, w') \in \mathcal{U}^+ \times \mathcal{U}' : f(Q_w^c) \subset Q_{w'}\}$$

is such that $F \supset \Gamma_f$ near points of extendability.

Indeed, the set $\Sigma = \{z \in M : f \text{ is holomorphic at } z\}$ is dense in M, thus f extends holomorphically on \mathcal{U} and $\Gamma_f \subset F$. Moreover this implies $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} F \geq n$.

Since M' is of finite type, $\lambda' : w' \mapsto Q_{w'}$ is a finite map,

$$\alpha \ = \ \left\{ (w, w') \in \mathcal{U}^+ \times \mathcal{U}' \ : \ J_{f|_{Q_w^c}} \equiv 0 \right\}$$

is a discrete set and $f(Q_w^c) \subset Q'_{w'}$ completely determines the Segre set $Q'_{w'}$. Hence $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} F \leq n$. Thus $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} F = n$. So the set F is a good candidate for being the extension of the graph of f.

Definition: Let $V \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $V' \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be domains, and $A \subset V \times V'$ a relation such that $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} A = n$ and $\pi_1 : A \to V$ is proper. Such an A is called a *holomorphic correspondence*. The natural map $\widehat{A} = \pi_2 \circ \pi_1^{-1} : V \to V'$ is multivalued.

If we show that $\pi_1 : F \to \mathcal{U}^+$ is proper, then F is a holomorphic correspondence and from this it follows that F extends to a correspondence \widehat{F} in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{U}'$. \widehat{F} satisfies the following *invariance property*: $\widehat{F}(Q_w \cap \mathcal{U}) \subset Q'_{w'}$ for all $(w, w') \in F$. The invariance property implies the existence of a map $\Phi : S \to S'$ between the spaces of Segre varieties in \mathcal{U} and in \mathcal{U}' which makes the diagram



commutative. One can prove that \widehat{F} is holomorphic near 0, i.e. that it is the seeked extension of f, but the proof is quite technical (see [22, 23] for details).

3.7.14 Conclusion of proof

We have already seen that $M = \Sigma \cup E$, where Σ is a dense set in which there is extension. We need to prove that the bad set E is empty.

Fix a point $0 \in E$. Then there is a neighborhood $\mathcal{U} \ni 0$ and a sequence of analytic sets $\sigma_{\nu} \subset \mathcal{U}$ (dim_{$\mathbb{C}} <math>\sigma_{\nu} \ge 1$) such that their cluster sets are in E: cl(σ_{ν}) $\subset E \subset M$. Searching for a contradiction, the following problem naturally arises:</sub>

Problem 3.3 Let $N \subset \mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a real analytic surface of finite type, and let $A_{\nu} \subset \mathcal{U}$ be analytic sets such that $\operatorname{cl}(A_{\nu}) \neq \emptyset$. Does this imply that $\operatorname{cl}(A_{\nu}) \not\subset N$?

The most general such result known is the following:

Theorem 3.24 Let $N \subset \mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a closed set, $a \in N$. Suppose there is a plurisubharmonic peak function φ for a in N (i.e. $\varphi(a) = 0$, $\varphi < 0$ on $N \setminus \{a\}$). Let $A_{\nu} \subset \mathcal{U}$ ($a \in A_{\nu}$) be analytic sets, dim_{$\mathbb{C}} A_{\nu} \geq 1$. Then if $\operatorname{cl}(A_{\nu}) \neq \emptyset$, $\operatorname{cl}(A_{\nu}) \not\subset N$.</sub>

In the following cases N verifies the condition of Theorem 3.24:

64

- 1. N is a totally real manifold;
- 2. N is a strictly pseudoconvex hypersurface;
- 3. N is a pseudoconvex hypersurface (see [19]);
- 4. $N \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ is real analytic of finite type.

Thanks to Theorem 3.24 we can conclude our proof. Indeed, if $E \neq \emptyset$, then $\max_{z \in E} |z| = |a|, a \in E$ (*E* is closed). Then $\varphi(z) = \operatorname{Re} \langle z, a \rangle - |a|^2$ is a peak function for *a* on *E*, and Theorem 3.24 gives a contradiction. \Box

3.7.15 Final considerations

Let the sets A_{ν} (of codimension 1) be defined in \mathcal{U} by

$$A_{\nu} = \{ z \in \mathcal{U} : g_{\nu}(z) = 0 \}$$

where $g_{\nu} \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{U})$. Up to shrinking \mathcal{U} , we may suppose all g_{ν} to be bounded. Multiplying them by small constants, we may suppose $|g_{\nu}| \leq 1$. Up to choosing a subsequence, the sequence converges: $g_{\nu} \to g_0 \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{U})$. Two cases arise:

- 1. $g_0 \neq 0$. Then $A_{\nu} \to A_0 = \{ z \in \mathcal{U} : g_0 = 0 \}.$
- 2. $g_0 \equiv 0$. Bad case.

More generally, if the sets A_{ν} are of codimension r:

$$A_{\nu} = \{z \in \mathcal{U} : g_{\nu,j}(z) = 0, j = 1, \dots, r\}$$

again we may suppose the functions $g_{\nu,j}$ equibounded $(|g_{\nu,j}| \leq 1)$ and converging $(g_{\nu,j} \to g_j)$. Define

$$A_0 = \{ z \in \mathcal{U} : g_j(z) = 0, \ j = 1, \dots, r \}$$

If dim_C $A_0 = n - r$ (good case) then $A_{\nu} \to A_0$. What happens if the codimension is smaller (i.e. some of the g_j 's are proportional or are identically zero)?

Example 3.3 In \mathbb{C}^3 consider two families

$$\pi_{\nu,1} = \left\{ (z_1, z_2, z_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3 \mid \frac{1}{\nu} z_1 + z_3 = 0 \right\}$$

and

$$\pi_{\nu,2} = \left\{ (z_1, z_2, z_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3 \mid \frac{1}{\nu} z_2 + z_3 = 0 \right\}$$

of complex planes which intersects in the complex lines

$$l_{\nu} = \pi_{\nu,1} \cap \pi_{\nu,2} = \left\{ (t,t,z_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3 \mid \frac{1}{\nu}t + z_3 = 0 \right\}.$$

Then the lines l_{ν} converge to the complex line

$$l_{\infty} = \left\{ (t, t, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^3 \right\}$$

while the set defined by the limit function is the complex plane

$$l_0 = \{(z_1, z_2, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^3\}$$

Theorem 3.25 Let $\mathcal{U} \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $\mathcal{V} \in \mathbb{C}^m$ be open sets. Let $g_j(z, w) \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{V})$, $j = 1, \ldots, r$, and

$$A_w = \{ w \in \mathcal{U} : g_j(z, w) = 0, j = 1, ..., r \},$$

 $\mathcal{S} = \{ w \in \mathcal{V} : \dim_{\mathbb{C}} A_w > n - r \}.$

Then for every $\mathcal{U}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ and $\mathcal{V}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{V}$, there exists a constant $c = c(\mathcal{U}_1, \mathcal{V}_1)$ such that

$$\operatorname{vol}_{2(n-r)}(A_w \cap \mathcal{U}_1) < c, \quad \forall w \in \mathcal{V}_1 \smallsetminus \mathcal{S}.$$

Proof. The proof is by induction on r.

Base step (r = 1). Let $g \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{V})$ and

$$A_w = \{z \in \mathcal{U} : g(z, w) = 0\}$$

If $0 \in S$, $w^{\nu} \notin S$, $w^{\nu} \to 0$, then $g(z, w) = \sum_{k} \alpha_{k}(w) z^{k}$, with $\alpha_{k}(0) = 0$ for all k (since $g(z, 0) \equiv 0$) and $g(z, w^{\nu}) \neq 0$ for all ν . By shrinking the neighborhoods, we may suppose $g \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{\mathcal{U}_{1} \times \mathcal{V}_{1}})$. Since this is a Nötherian ring, there is an $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\alpha_k(w) = \sum_{j \le N} h_{jk}(w) \alpha_j(w) \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.33)

Moreover, up to extracting a subsequence, there is $l \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$|\alpha_j(w^{\nu})| \leq |\alpha_l(w^{\nu})| \quad \forall j \leq N.$$
(3.34)

From (3.33) and (3.34) it follows that for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a constant c_k such that

$$\frac{|\alpha_k(w^{\nu})|}{|\alpha_l(w^{\nu})|} \leq c_k \quad \forall k, \nu$$

Hence

$$\widetilde{g}(z,w) = \frac{g(z,w)}{\alpha_l(w)} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_k(w)}{\alpha_l(w)} z^k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\alpha}_k(w) z^k$$

Since $\tilde{\alpha}_l \equiv 1, \, \tilde{g} \neq 0$, and the sets converge to a set of the right dimension.

Inductive step. All is needed in the inductive step is to resolve the singularity in zero. \Box

The answer to Problem 3.3 is positive if the dimension of A_{ν} is greater than or equal to something. How big is needed? The question has positive answer if

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} A_{\nu} \geq \frac{n}{2}$$

But what happens if the dimension of A_{ν} is less than that? An important step toward answering this question is the following.

Theorem 3.26 (Tumanov) Let $N \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a real analytic manifold of finite type. Then N is stratified: $N = \bigcup S_j$, with $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} S_j = j$ such that for every j there exists a real analytic hypersurface $N_j \supset S_j$ with non-degenerate Levi-form.

Chapter 4

Cohomology vanishing and extension problems for semi q-coronae

This chapter is based on [82].

4.1 Introduction

Let X be a (connected and reduced) complex space. We recall that X is said to be *strongly q-pseudoconvex* in the sense of Andreotti-Grauert [3] if there exists a compact subset K and a smooth function $\varphi : X \to \mathbb{R}, \varphi \ge 0$, which is strongly *q*-plurisubharmonic on $X \smallsetminus K$ and such that:

- a) $0 = \min_{X} \varphi < \min_{K} \varphi;$
- b) for every $c > \max_{K} \varphi$ the subset

$$B_c = \{ x \in X : \varphi(x) < c \}$$

is relatively compact in X.

If $K = \emptyset$, X is said to be *q*-complete. We remark that, for a space, being 1-complete is equivalent to being Stein.

Replacing the condition b) by

b') for every $0 < \varepsilon < \min_{K} \varphi$ and $c > \max_{K} \varphi$ the subset

$$B_{\varepsilon,c} = \{ x \in X : \varepsilon < \varphi(x) < c \}$$

is relatively compact in X,

we obtain the notion of q-corona (see [3, 5]).

A q-corona is said to be *complete* whenever $K = \emptyset$.

The extension problem for analytic objects defined on q-coronae was studied by many authors (see e.g. [33, 84, 88, 89, 94]). In this chapter (and the following one) we deal with the larger class of the semi q-coronae which are defined as follows. Consider a strongly q-pseudoconvex space (or, more generally, a q-corona) X, and a smooth function $\varphi : X \to \mathbb{R}$ displaying the q-pseudoconvexity of X. Let $B_{\varepsilon,c} \subset X$ and let $h : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a pluriharmonic function (i.e. locally the real part of a holomorphic function) such that $K \cap \{h = 0\} = \emptyset$. A connected component of $B_{\varepsilon,c} \setminus \{h = 0\}$ is, by definition, a *semi q-corona*.

Another type of semi q-corona is obtained by replacing the zero set of h with the intersection of X with a Levi-flat hypersurface. More precisely, consider a closed strongly q-pseudoconvex subspace X of an open subset of \mathbb{C}^n and the q-corona $C = B_{\varepsilon,c} = B_c \setminus \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}$. Let H be a Levi-flat hypersurface of a neighborhood U of \overline{B}_c such that $H \cap K = \emptyset$. The connected components C_m of $C \setminus H$ are called semi q-coronae.

In both cases the semi q-coronae are differences $A_c \setminus \overline{A}_{\varepsilon}$ where A_c , A_{ε} are strongly q-pseudoconvex spaces. Indeed, the function $\psi = -\log h^2$ (respectively $\psi = -\log \delta_H(z)$, where $\delta_H(z)$ is the distance of z from H) is plurisubharmonic in $W \setminus \{h = 0\}$ (respectively $W \setminus H$) where W is a neighborhood of $B_c \cap \{h = 0\}$ (respectively $B_c \cap H$). Let $\chi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be an increasing convex function such that $\chi \circ \varphi > \psi$ on a neighborhood of $B_c \setminus W$. The function $\Phi = \sup (\chi \circ \varphi, \psi) + \varphi$ is an exhaustion function for $B_c \setminus \{h = 0\} \cup K$) (in $B_c \setminus H \cup K$).

The interest for domains whose boundary contains a "Levi-flat part" originated from Theorem 3.3 on the extension for CR-functions proved in [65] (see also [57, 59, 93]).

Using cohomological techniques developped in [3, 5–7, 12] we prove that, under appropriate regularity conditions, holomorphic functions defined on a complete semi 1-corona "fill in the hole" (Corollaries 4.4 and 4.6). Meanwhile we also obtain more general extension theorems for sections of coherent sheaves (Theorems 4.3 and 4.5). As an application, we finally obtain an extension theorem for divisors (Theorems 4.16 and 4.20) and for analytic sets of codimension one (Theorem 4.18).

We remark that this approach fails in the case when the objects to be extended are not sections of a sheaf defined on the whole B_c ; in particular, this applies for analytic sets of higher codimension. This is intimately related with the general, definitely more difficult, problem of extending analytic objects assigned on some $B_{\varepsilon,c}$ when the subsets B_c are not relatively compact in X i.e. when X is a genuine q-corona.

4.2 Cohomology and extension of sections

4.2.1 Closed *q*-coronae

Let X be a strictly q-pseudoconvex space (respectively $X \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strictly q-pseudoconvex open set) and $H = \{h = 0\}$ (respectively H Levi-flat), and $C = B_{\varepsilon,c} = B_c \setminus \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}$ a q-corona.

We can suppose that $B_c \setminus H$ has two connected components, B_+ and B_- , and define $C_+ = B_+ \cap C$, $C_- = B_- \cap C$.

We recall that if \mathcal{F} is a coherent sheaf on a domain $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $z \in U$ and

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_z^{m_k} \to \cdots \to \mathcal{O}_z^{m_0} \to \mathcal{F}_z \to 0$$

is a minimal resolution of \mathcal{F}_z , then the *depth* of \mathcal{F} at the point z is the integer $p(\mathcal{F}_z) = n - k$. The *depth* of \mathcal{F} in $K \subset U$ is

$$p_K(\mathcal{F}) = \inf_{z \in K} p(\mathcal{F}_z).$$

If $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}B_c$, we denote $p(\mathcal{F}) = p_{B_c}(\mathcal{F})$, and if $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}$, the structure sheaf of X, we denote $p(B_c) = p(\mathcal{O})$.

Theorem 4.1 Let $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}B_c$. Then the image of the homomorphism

$$H^r(\overline{B}_+,\mathcal{F}) \oplus H^r(\overline{C},\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^r(\overline{C}_+,\mathcal{F})$$

(all closures are taken in B_c), defined by $(\xi \oplus \eta) \mapsto \xi_{|\overline{C}_+} - \eta_{|\overline{C}_+}$ has finite codimension provided that $q-1 \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$.

Proof. Consider the Mayer-Vietoris sequence applied to the closed sets \overline{B}_+ and \overline{C}

$$\cdots \to H^{r}(\overline{B}_{+} \cup \overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) \to H^{r}(\overline{B}_{+}, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^{r}(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\delta}$$

$$\xrightarrow{\delta} H^{r}(\overline{C}_{+}, \mathcal{F}) \to H^{r+1}(\overline{B}_{+} \cup \overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) \to \cdots$$

$$(4.1)$$

 $\delta(a \oplus b) = a_{|\overline{C}_+} - b_{|\overline{C}_+}$. $\overline{B}_+ \cup \overline{C} = B_c \setminus U$ where $U = B_- \cap B_{\varepsilon}$. U is q-complete, so the groups of compact support cohomology $H^r_c(U, \mathcal{F})$ are zero for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q$.

From the exact sequence of compact support cohomology

it follows that

$$H^r(B_c, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(B_c \smallsetminus U, \mathcal{F}),$$
(4.3)

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$. Since B_c is q-pseudoconvex,

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(B_c, \mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r$ [3, Théorème 11], and so

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(B_c \smallsetminus U, \mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$.

From (4.1) we see that $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(B_c \smallsetminus U, \mathcal{F}) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(\overline{B}_+ \cup \overline{C}, \mathcal{F})$ is greater than or equal to the codimension of the homomorphism δ . \Box

Corollary 4.2 Under the same assumption of Theorem 4.1, if $K \cap H = \emptyset$,

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(\overline{C}_+,\mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$.

Proof. Since $K \cap H = \emptyset$, \overline{B}_+ is a *q*-pseudoconvex space, and by virtue of [3, Théorème 11] we have

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(\overline{B}_+,\mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $r \ge q$. On the other hand, \overline{C} is a q-corona, thus we obtain

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F})-q-1$ in view of [5, Theorem 3]. By Theorem 4.1 we then get that for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F})-q-1$ the vector space $H^r(\overline{B}_+, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^r(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F})$ has finite dimension and for $q-1 \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F})-q-2$ its image in $H^r(\overline{C}_+, \mathcal{F})$ has finite codimension. Thus $H^r(\overline{C}_+, \mathcal{F})$ has finite dimension for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F})-q-2$. \Box

Theorem 4.3 If \overline{B}_+ is a q-complete space, then

$$H^r(\overline{C},\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(\overline{C}_+,\mathcal{F})$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$ and the homomorphism

$$H^{q-1}(\overline{B}_+, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^{q-1}(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(\overline{C}_+, \mathcal{F})$$
 (4.4)

72
is surjective for $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 2q + 1$.

If \overline{B}_+ is a 1-complete space and $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$, the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{B}_+,\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow H^0(\overline{C}_+,\mathcal{F})$$

is surjective.

Proof. Since by hypothesis \overline{B}_+ is a q-complete space, $H^r(\overline{B}_+, \mathcal{F}) = \{0\}$ for $q \leq r$ [3, Théorème 5]. From (4.3) it follows that $H^r(\overline{B}_+ \cup \overline{C}_+, \mathcal{F}) = \{0\}$ for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$. Thus, the Mayer-Vietoris sequence (4.1) implies that $H^r(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(\overline{C}_+, \mathcal{F})$ for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$ and that the homomorphism (4.4) is surjective if $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 2q + 1$.

In particular, if q = 1 and $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$ the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{B}_+,\mathcal{F})\oplus H^0(\overline{C},\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow H^0(\overline{C}_+,\mathcal{F})$$

is surjective, i.e. every section $\sigma \in H^0(\overline{C}_+, \mathcal{F})$ is a difference $\sigma_1 - \sigma_2$ of two sections $\sigma_1 \in H^0(\overline{B}_+, \mathcal{F}), \sigma_2 \in H^0(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F})$. Since B_{ε} is Stein, the cohomology group with compact supports $H^1_k(B_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$ is zero, and so the Mayer-Vietoris compact support cohomology sequence implies that the restriction homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{B}_c, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{B}_c \smallsetminus B_\varepsilon, \mathcal{F}) = H^0(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F})$$

is surjective, hence $\sigma_2 \in H^0(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F})$ is restriction of $\widetilde{\sigma}_2 \in H^0(B_c, \mathcal{F})$. So σ is restriction to \overline{C}_+ of $(\sigma_1 - \widetilde{\sigma}_{2|\overline{B}_+}) \in H^0(\overline{B}_+, \mathcal{F})$, and the restriction homomorphism is surjective. \Box

Corollary 4.4 Let \overline{B}_+ be a 1-complete space and $p(B_c) \geq 3$. Then every holomorphic function on \overline{C}_+ extends holomorphically on \overline{B}_+ .

4.2.2 Open *q*-coronae

Most of the Theorems and Corollaries of the previous section still hold in the open case and their proofs are very similar. First we give the proof of the extension results using directly Theorem 4.3. We have to assume that H is the zero set of a pluriharmonic function h and we define B_c , C, B_+ , B_- , C_+ and C_- as we did before.

Let us suppose B_+ is 1-complete and $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$. Let $s \in H^0(C_+, \mathcal{F})$. For all $\epsilon > 0$, we consider the closed semi 1-corona

$$\overline{C}_{\epsilon} = \overline{B_{\varepsilon + \epsilon, c} \cap \{h > \epsilon\}} \subset C_{+}$$

Let $\sigma_{\epsilon} = s_{|\overline{C}_{\epsilon}}$. By Theorem 4.3 (applied to \overline{C}_{ϵ} , $H_{\epsilon} = \{h = \epsilon\}$), we obtain that σ_{ϵ} extends to a section $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon} \in H^0(\overline{B}_{\epsilon}, \mathcal{F})$, where $\overline{B}_{\epsilon} = \overline{B_+ \cap \{h > \epsilon\}}$. Since $B_+ = \bigcup_{\epsilon} \overline{B}_{\epsilon}$, if for all $\epsilon_2 > \epsilon_1 > 0$,

$$\widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_1|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon_2}}} = \widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_2} \tag{4.5}$$

the sections $\tilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon}$ can be glued together to a section $\sigma \in H^0(B_+, \mathcal{F})$ extending s.

Let $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \epsilon_2 > \epsilon_1 > 0$, be fixed. We have to show that (4.5) holds. By definition,

$$\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_1|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon_2}}} - \widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_2}\right)_{|\overline{C}_{\epsilon_2}} = s - s = 0.$$

Thus, the support of $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_1|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon_2}}} - \widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_2}$, S, is an analytic set contained in $\overline{B}_{\epsilon_2} \smallsetminus C_{\epsilon_2}$. Let us consider the family

$$(\phi_{\lambda} = \lambda(\varphi - \epsilon_2) + (1 - \lambda)(h - \epsilon_2))_{\lambda \in [0, 1]}$$

of strictly plurisubharmonic functions. Let $\overline{\lambda}$ be the smallest value of λ for which $\{\phi_{\lambda} = 0\} \cap S \neq \emptyset$. Then $\{\phi_{\overline{\lambda}} < 0\} \cap B_{+} \subset B_{+}$ is a Stein domain in which the analytic set S intersects the boundary; so the maximum principle for plurisubharmonic functions and the strict plurisubharmonicity of $\phi_{\overline{\lambda}}$ toghether imply that $\{\phi_{\overline{\lambda}} = 0\} \cap S$ is a set of isolated points in S. By repeating the argument, we show that S has no components of positive dimension. Hence $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_1|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon_2}}} - \widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_2}$ is zero outside a set of isolated points. Since $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$, the only section of \mathcal{F} with compact support is the zero-section [6, Théorème 3.6 (a), p. 46], and so $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_1|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon_2}}} - \widetilde{\sigma}_{\epsilon_2}$ is zero.

Hence, there exists a section $\sigma \in H^0(B_+, \mathcal{F})$ such that $\sigma_{|C_+} = s$. Thus we have proved the following

Theorem 4.5 If a B_+ is 1-complete space, \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on B_+ with $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$, the homomorphism

$$H^0(B_+, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(C_+, \mathcal{F})$$

is surjective.

In particular,

Corollary 4.6 If B_+ is a 1-complete space and $p(B_c) \ge 3$, every holomorphic function on C_+ can be holomorphically extended on B_+ .

Theorem 4.7 Let $\text{Sing}B_c = \emptyset$. Let $\mathcal{F} \in \text{Coh}B_c$. Then the image of the homomorphism

$$H^r(B_+,\mathcal{F}) \oplus H^r(C,\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^r(C_+,\mathcal{F})$$

defined by $(\xi, \eta) \mapsto \xi_{|C_+} - \eta_{|C_+}$ has finite codimension for $q - 1 \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$. For q = 1 the thesis holds true also dropping the assumption $\operatorname{Sing} B_c = \emptyset$.

Proof. Consider the Mayer-Vietoris sequence applied to the open sets B_+ and C

$$\cdots \to H^r(B_+ \cup C, \mathcal{F}) \to H^r(B_+, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^r(C, \mathcal{F}) \stackrel{\delta}{\to}$$

$$\stackrel{\delta}{\to} H^r(C_+, \mathcal{F}) \to H^{r+1}(B_+ \cup C, \mathcal{F}) \to \cdots,$$

$$(4.6)$$

 $\delta(a \oplus b) = a_{|C_+} - b_{|C_+}$. $B_+ \cup C = B_c \smallsetminus K_0$ where $K_0 = \overline{B}_- \cap \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}$. K_0 has a *q*-complete neighborhoods system and so the local cohomology groups $H^r_{K_0}(B_c, \mathcal{F})$ are zero for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q$ [12] (in the general case for q = 1, see [6, Lemme 2.3, p. 29]).

Then, from the local cohomology exact sequence

follows that

$$H^{r}(B_{c},\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{r}(B_{c} \smallsetminus K_{0},\mathcal{F}),$$

$$(4.8)$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$.

Since B_c is q-pseudoconvex,

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(C,\mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r$ [3, Théorème 11], and so

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(B_c \smallsetminus K_0, \mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$.

From (4.6) we see that $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(B_c \smallsetminus K_0, \mathcal{F}) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(B_+ \cup C, \mathcal{F})$ is greater than or equal to the codimension of the homomorphism δ . \Box

Corollary 4.8 Under the same assumption of Theorem 4.7, if $K \cap H = \emptyset$,

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(C_+,\mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$.

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Corollary 4.2. \Box

Theorem 4.9 Suppose that $SingB_c = \emptyset$ and B_+ is a q-complete space, then

$$H^r(C,\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(C_+,\mathcal{F})$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 2$ and the homomorphism

$$H^{q-1}(B_+, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^{q-1}(C, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(C_+, \mathcal{F})$$
 (4.9)

is surjective if $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 2q+1$. If q = 1, both results hold true for an arbitrary complex space B_c .

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 4.3. \Box

4.2.3 Corollaries of the extension theorems.

From now on, unless otherwise stated, by B, B_+ , B_{ε} , C and C_+ we denote both the open sets and their closures, and we suppose that $H = \{h = 0\}, h$ pluriharmonic.

Extension of non-vanishing holomorphic functions

Let $f \in H^0(C_+, \mathcal{O}^*)$. In the hypothesis of Corollaries 4.4 and 4.6, both f and 1/f extend holomorphically on B_+ Hence:

Corollary 4.10 If B_+ is a 1-complete space and $p(B_c) \ge 3$, the restriction homomorphism

$$H^0(B_+, \mathcal{O}^*) \longrightarrow H^0(C_+, \mathcal{O}^*)$$

is surjective.

Extension of meromorphic functions

Corollary 4.11 If B_+ is a 1-complete space, $p(B_c) \ge 3$, and X is locally factorial, then every meromorphic function on C_+ is a quotient of holomorphic functions and thus extends on B_+ .

Proof. Let $f \in \mathcal{M}(C_+)$. Since X is locally factorial, locally (in an open set U) f = p/q, where $p, q \in \mathcal{O}(C_+)$ are coprime in U. Define

$$I_f = \{ \lambda \in \mathcal{O} : \lambda f \in \mathcal{O} \}.$$

 I_f is a locally free sheaf of rank one. Since p and q are coprime, $\lambda p/q \in \mathcal{O}$ implies that $\lambda = \mu q$, for some $\mu \in \mathcal{O}$. Hence $I_f \approx \mathcal{O}$, and Cartan's theorem A holds for I_f , i.e. there is a global section of I_f and $f = \alpha/\beta$, globally. \Box

Finiteness and vanishing of cohomology

In Theorems 4.3 and 4.5 we have estabilished the isomorphism

$$H^r(C,\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(C_+,\mathcal{F}).$$

In some special cases this leads to finiteness or vanishing-cohomology theorems for C_+ .

An example is given by the theorems by Andreotti and Tomassini in [5]. Theorem 3 in there implies that if C is a q-corona and \mathcal{F} is a coherent sheaf on C, then

$$\dim H^r(C_+, \mathcal{F}) = \dim H^r(C, \mathcal{F}) < +\infty,$$

for $q < r < p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$.

We briefly recall that (see [5] for details) a bundle F on a complex space X is called *metrically pseudoconvex* if there is a hermitian metric on the fibres of F can be chosen which is strongly pseudoconvex outside the zero-section of F.

Theorem 5 in [5] implies that if F is a metrically pseudoconvex line bundle over the q-corona C, and \mathcal{F} is a coherent sheaf on C, then there exists $k_0 = k_0(\mathcal{F}, F) \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$H^r(C_+, \mathcal{F} \otimes \Omega(F^k)) = 0,$$

for every $k \ge k_0$ and $q < r < p(\mathcal{F}) - q - 1$.

Extension of CR-functions

Let X be a Stein space. Let $H = \{h = 0\} \subset X$ be the zero set of a pluriharmonic function, and let M be a real hypersurface of X with boundary, such that $M \cap H = bM = bA$, where A is an open set in H. Let $D \subset X$ be the relatively compact domain bounded by $M \cup A$. We recall that, by Theorem 3.3 [65], for $X = \mathbb{C}^n$, Lipshitz CR-functions on M extend holomorphically to D. As a corollary of the previous theorems, we can obtain a similar result for section of a coherent sheaf on an arbitrary Stein space X.

Let us consider the connected component Y of $X \setminus H$ containing D, the closure \overline{D} of D in Y, and let be $F = Y \setminus D$ and $M_Y = M \cap Y$. For every coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on X, with $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$ we have the Mayer-Vietoris exact sequence

 $\cdots \to H^0(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^0(F, \mathcal{F}) \to H^0(M_Y, \mathcal{F}) \to H^1(Y, \mathcal{F}) \to \cdots$

Since Y is Stein, $H^1(Y, \mathcal{F})$ is zero, and every section σ on M_Y is a difference $s_1 - s_2$, where $s_1 \in H^0(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F})$ and $s_2 \in H^0(F, \mathcal{F})$. By choosing an ε big

enough so that M is contained in the ball $B_{\varepsilon}(x_0)$ of radius ε of X centered in x_0 , we can apply Theorem 4.5 to the semi 1-corona $C_+ = Y \setminus (B_{\varepsilon} \cap Y)$, to extend $s_{2|C_+}$ to a section \tilde{s}_2 defined on Y. In order to conclude that $s_1 - \tilde{s}_{2|\overline{D}}$ extends the section σ , we have to prove that $s_{2|F} - \tilde{s}_{2|F} = 0$.

As before, we consider the set $\Sigma = \{s_{2|F} - \tilde{s}_{2|F} \neq 0\} \subset B_{\varepsilon} \cap Y$ and conclude that Σ is a set of isolated points. Since $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$, \mathcal{F} has no non-zero section with compact support [6, Théorème 3.6 (a), p. 46]. Thus $\Sigma = \emptyset$ and we have obtained the following:

Corollary 4.12 Let X be a Stein space. Let $H = \{h = 0\} \subset X$ be the zero set of a pluriharmonic function, and M be a real hypersurface of X with boundary, such that $M \cap H = bM = bA$, where A is an open set in H. Let $D \subset X$ be the relatively compact domain bounded by $M \cup A$ and \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf with $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$. All sections of \mathcal{F} on M extend (uniquely) to D.

We can go further:

Corollary 4.13 Let X be a Stein manifold, \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X such that $p(\mathcal{F}) \geq 3$ and D be a bounded domain and K a compact subset of bD such that $bD \setminus K$ is smooth. Assume that K is $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ -convex, i.e.

$$K = \left\{ z \in \overline{D} : |f(z)| \le \max_{K} |f| \right\}.$$

Then every section of \mathcal{F} on $bD \smallsetminus K$ extends to D.

Proof. We recall that since U is an open subset of a Stein manifold there exists an envelope of holomorphy \widetilde{U} of U (cfr. [26]): \widetilde{U} is a Stein domain $\pi_U: \widetilde{U} \to X$ over X and there exists an open embedding $j: U \to \widetilde{U}$ such that $\pi_U \circ j = \operatorname{id}_U$ and $j^*: \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{U}) \to \mathcal{O}(U)$ is an isomorphism. In particular $\pi_U^* \mathcal{F}$ is a coherent sheaf with the same depth as \mathcal{F} , which extends $\mathcal{F}_{|U}$.

Let us fix an arbitrary point $x \in D$. We need to show that any given section $\sigma \in H^0(bD \setminus K, \mathcal{F})$ extends to a neighborhood of x. Since $x \notin K = \widehat{K}$, there exists an holomorphic function f, defined on a neighborhood U of \overline{D} , such that $|f(x)| > \max_K |f(z)|$.

Then σ extends to a section $\tilde{\sigma} \in H^0(\pi^{-1}(D \setminus K), \mathcal{F})$. Let \tilde{f} be the holomorphic extension of f to \tilde{U} . The hypersurface

$$H = \left\{ z \in \widetilde{U} : |\widetilde{f}(z)| = \max_{K} |\widetilde{f}| \right\}$$

is the zero-set of a pluriharmonic function and, by construction,

$$x \in \widetilde{D}_{+} = \left\{ z \in \widetilde{U} : |\widetilde{f}(z)| > \max_{K} |\widetilde{f}| \right\}.$$

Now we are in the situation of Corollary 4.12 so $\tilde{\sigma}$ extends to a section on \tilde{D}_+ . Since $x \in \tilde{D}_+$, this ends the proof. \Box

4.3 Extension of divisors and analytic sets of codimension one

First of all, we give an example in dimension n = 2 of a regular complex curve of C_+ which does not extend on B_+ . Hence, not every divisor on C_+ extends to a divisor on B_+ .

Example 4.1 Using the same notation as before, in \mathbb{C}^2 let B_c and B_{ε} be the balls

$$B_c = \{ |z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 < c \}, \quad B_{\varepsilon} = \{ |z_1|^2 + |z_2|^2 < \varepsilon \}, \quad c > \varepsilon > 2.$$

Consider the connected irreducible analytic set of codimension one

$$A = \{ (z_1, z_2) \in B_+ : z_1 z_2 = 1 \}$$

and its restriction A_C to C_+ . If A_C has two connected components, A_1 and A_2 , if we try to extend A_1 (analytic set of codimension one on C_+) to B_+ , its restriction to C_+ will contain also A_2 . So A_1 is an analytic set of codimension one on C_+ that does not extend on B_+ .

So, let us prove that A_C has indeed two connected components. A point of A (of A_C) can be written as $z_1 = \rho e^{i\theta}$, $z_2 = \frac{1}{\rho} e^{-i\theta}$, with $\rho \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $\theta \in \left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$. Hence, points in A_C satisfy

$$2 < \varepsilon < \rho^2 + \frac{1}{\rho^2} < c \ \Rightarrow \ 2 < \sqrt{\varepsilon + 2} < \rho + \frac{1}{\rho} < \sqrt{c + 2}.$$

Since $f(\rho) = \rho + 1/\rho$ is monotone decreasing up to $\rho = 1$ (where f(1) = 2), and then monotone increasing, there exist *a* and *b* such that the inequalities are satisfied when $a < \rho < b < 1$, or when $1 < 1/b < \rho < 1/a$. A_C is thus the union of the two disjoint open sets

$$A_1 = \left\{ \left(\rho e^{i\theta}, \frac{1}{\rho} e^{-i\theta} \right) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid a < \rho < b, -\frac{\pi}{2} < \theta < \frac{\pi}{2} \right\};$$
$$A_2 = \left\{ \left(\rho e^{i\theta}, \frac{1}{\rho} e^{-i\theta} \right) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid a < \frac{1}{\rho} < b, -\frac{\pi}{2} < \theta < \frac{\pi}{2} \right\}.$$

The aim of this section is to prove an extension theorem for divisors, i.e. to prove that, under certain hypothesis, the homomorphism

$$H^0(B_+, \mathcal{D}) \to H^0(C_+, \mathcal{D})$$
 (4.10)

is surjective.

In order to get this result, we observe that from the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}^* \to \mathcal{M}^* \to \mathcal{D} \to 0 \tag{4.11}$$

we get the commutative diagram (horizontal lines are exact)

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{0}(B_{+},\mathcal{M}^{*}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(B_{+},\mathcal{D}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(B_{+},\mathcal{O}^{*}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(B_{+},\mathcal{M}^{*}) \\ & \alpha \middle| & \beta \middle| & \gamma \middle| & \delta \middle| \\ H^{0}(C_{+},\mathcal{M}^{*}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(C_{+},\mathcal{D}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(C_{+},\mathcal{O}^{*}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(C_{+},\mathcal{M}^{*}) \end{array}$$

Thus, in view of the "five lemma", in order to conclude that β is surjective it is sufficient to show that α and γ are surjective, and δ is injective.

Lemma 4.14 If $\text{Sing}B_+ = \emptyset$, B_c is 1-complete and $p(B_c) \ge 3$, then α is surjective.

Proof. Let f be a meromorphic invertible function on C_+ . Since C_+ is an open set of the Stein manifold B_+ , $f = f_1 f_2^{-1}$, $f_1, f_2 \in H^0(C_+, \mathcal{O})$. By Corollary 4.4 (respectively, Corollary 4.6), f_1 and f_2 extend to holomorphic functions on B_+ and consequently f extends on B_+ as well. \Box

Lemma 4.15 Assume that the restriction $H^2(B_+, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z})$ is surjective. If B_c is 1-complete and $p(B_c) \ge 4$, then γ is surjective.

We remark that if $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z}) = \{0\}$ the first condition is satisfied.

Proof. From the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O}^* \to 0 \tag{4.12}$$

we get the commutative diagram (horizontal lines are exact)

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^1(B_+, \mathcal{O}) & \longrightarrow & H^1(B_+, \mathcal{O}^*) & \longrightarrow & H^2(B_+, \mathbb{Z}) & \longrightarrow & H^2(B_+, \mathcal{O}) \\ f_2 & & & & & & & \\ f_2 & & & & & & & \\ f_4 & & & & & & & \\ H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}) & \longrightarrow & H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}^*) & \longrightarrow & H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z}) & \longrightarrow & H^2(C_+, \mathcal{O}) \end{array}$$

80

where $H^1(B_+, \mathcal{O}) = H^2(B_+, \mathcal{O}) = \{0\}$ because B_+ is Stein, and f_4 is surjective by hypothesis. Thus in order to prove that γ is surjective by the "five lemma" it is sufficient to show that f_2 is surjective, i.e. that $H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}) = \{0\}$.

Since $p(B_c) \ge 4$, by Theorem 4.3 (respectively, by Theorem 4.9) it follows that

$$H^1(C, \mathcal{O}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}).$$
 (4.13)

Consider the local, respectively compact support, cohomology exact sequence

$$H^{1}_{\overline{B}_{\varepsilon}}(B_{c},\mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(B_{c},\mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(C,\mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^{2}_{\overline{B}_{\varepsilon}}(B_{c},\mathcal{O})$$

$$H^1_k(B_\varepsilon, \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^1(B_c, \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^1(C, \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^2_k(B_\varepsilon, \mathcal{O})$$

Since B_c is Stein, $H^1(B_c, \mathcal{O}) = \{0\}$ and $H^r_k(B_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{O}) = H^r_{\overline{B_{\varepsilon}}}(B_c, \mathcal{O}) = \{0\}$ for $1 \leq r \leq p(B_{\varepsilon}) - 1$ [12]. In particular, since $p(B_{\varepsilon}) \geq p(B_c) \geq 4$, it follows that

$$\{0\} = H^1(B_c, \mathcal{O}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^1(C, \mathcal{O}).$$

$$(4.14)$$

(4.13) and (4.14) give

$$\{0\} = H^1(B_c, \mathcal{O}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^1(C, \mathcal{O}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}).$$

and this proves the lemma. \Box

In the case $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z}) = \{0\}$ we remark that from the proof of Lemma 4.15 it follows that the sequence

$$\{0\} \longrightarrow H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}^*) \longrightarrow \{0\}$$

is exact, that is $H^1(C_+, \mathcal{O}^*) = \{0\}$. Hence, the commutative diagram relative to (4.11) becomes (horizontal lines are exact)

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{0}(B_{+}, \mathcal{M}^{*}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(B_{+}, \mathcal{D}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(B_{+}, \mathcal{O}^{*}) & (4.15) \\ & \alpha & & \beta & & \gamma \\ & & & \beta & & \gamma \\ H^{0}(C_{+}, \mathcal{M}^{*}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(C_{+}, \mathcal{D}) \longrightarrow \{0\} \end{array}$$

and it is then easy to see that a divisor on C_+ can be extended to a divisor on B_+ .

Thus we have proved the following:

Theorem 4.16 Let B_c be 1-complete, $p(B_c) \ge 4$, and C_+ satisfy the topological condition $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z}) = \{0\}$. Then, if $\operatorname{Sing}(B_+) = \emptyset$, all divisors on C_+ extend (uniquely) to divisors on B_+ .

Corollary 4.17 Let B_c be 1-complete, $p(B_c) \ge 4$, $\operatorname{Sing}(B_+) = \emptyset$, and ξ be a divisor on C_+ with zero Chern class in $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z})$. Then ξ extends (uniquely) to a divisor on B_+ .

Proof. Use diagram (4.15).

Theorem 4.18 Assume that $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Q}) = \{0\}$. If $\operatorname{Sing}(B_+) = \emptyset$, B_c is 1-complete and $p(B_c) \ge 4$, then all analytic sets of codimension 1 on C_+ extend to analytic sets on B_+ .

Proof. Let A be an analytic set of codimension 1 on C_+ . Since B_+ is a Stein manifold, C_+ is locally factorial, and so there exists a divisor ξ on C_+ with support A. Since $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Q}) = \{0\}$, there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $nc_2(\xi) = 0 \in H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z})$. Hence $n\xi$ has zero Chern class in $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z})$, and so, by Corollary 4.17 $n\xi$ can be extended to a divisor $n\xi$ on B_+ . The support of $n\xi$ is an analytic set \widetilde{A} which extends to B_+ the support A of $n\xi$. \Box

In Theorem 4.16 the condition $H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z}) = \{0\}$ can be relaxed and replaced by the weaker one: the restriction map $H^2(B_+, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z})$ is surjective. We need the following

Lemma 4.19 δ is injective.

Proof. First we prove lemma for C_+ closed. Let $\xi \in H^1(\overline{B}_+, \mathcal{M}^*)$ be such that $\xi_{|\overline{C}_+} = 0$. Consider the set

$$A = \{ \eta \in [0, \varepsilon] : \xi_{|\overline{B}_+ \setminus \overline{B}_n} = 0 \}.$$

If we prove that $0 \in A$, we are done, because $0 = \xi_{|\overline{B}_+ \setminus \overline{B}_0} = \xi_{|\overline{B}_+} = \xi$. Obviously $\eta_0 \in A$ implies $\forall \eta > \eta_0, \eta \in A$.

 $A \neq \emptyset$. Since $C_+ = B_+ \smallsetminus \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\xi_{|\overline{C}_+} = 0, \, \varepsilon \in A$.

A is closed. If $\eta_n \in A$, for all n, and $\eta_n \searrow \eta_{\infty}$, $\overline{B}_+ \smallsetminus \overline{B}_{\eta_{\infty}} = \bigcup_n (\overline{B}_+ \smallsetminus \overline{B}_{\eta_n})$, hence $\xi_{|\overline{B}_+ \smallsetminus \overline{B}_{\eta_n}} = 0$ for all n implies $\xi_{|\overline{B}_+ \smallsetminus \overline{B}_{\eta_{\infty}}} = 0$, i.e. $\eta_{\infty} \in A$.

A is open. Suppose $0 < \eta_0 \in A$. We denote $C_{\eta_0} = \overline{B}_+ \setminus \overline{B}_{\eta_0}$. Let \mathcal{A} be the family of open covering $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ of \overline{B}_+ such that:

 α) U_i is isomorphically equivalent to an holomorphy domain in \mathbb{C}^n ;

82

 β) If $U_i \cap bB_{\eta_0} \neq \emptyset$, the restriction homomorphism

$$H^0(U_i, \mathcal{O}) \to H^0(U_i \cap C_{\eta_0}, \mathcal{O})$$

is bijective;

 γ) $U_i \cap U_j$ is simply connected.

 \mathcal{A} is not empty and it is cofinal in the set of open coverings of \overline{B}_+ [3, Lemma 2, p. 222]. Let $\mathcal{U} = \{U_i\}_{i \in I} \in \mathcal{A}$, and $\{f_{ij}\} \in Z^1(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{M}^*)$ be a representative of ξ . Let $W_i = U_i \cap C_{\eta_0}$. Since $\eta_0 \in A$, if $W_i \cap W_j \neq \emptyset$, $f_{ij|W_i \cap W_j} = f_i f_j^{-1}$ $(f_\nu \in H^0(W_\nu, \mathcal{M}^*))$. By α), $f_\nu = p_\nu q_\nu^{-1}$, $p_\nu, q_\nu \in H^0(W_\nu, \mathcal{O})$. By β), both p_ν and q_ν can be holomorphically extended on U_ν , with \tilde{p}_ν and \tilde{q}_ν . Hence we have $f_{ij} = \tilde{p}_i \tilde{q}_i^{-1} (\tilde{p}_j \tilde{q}_j^{-1})^{-1}$ on $U_i \cap U_j$ (which is simply connected, so that there is no polidromy). So $\xi = 0$ in an open neighborhood U of C_{η_0} and, by compactness, there exists $\epsilon' > 0$ such that $C_{\eta_0 - \epsilon'} \subset U$. So $\eta_0 - \epsilon' \in A$ and consequently A is open.

Thus $A = [0, \varepsilon]$, and the lemma is proved if C_+ is closed.

If C_+ is open, we consider C_+ as a union of the closed semi 1-coronae

$$\overline{C}_{\epsilon} = \overline{B_{\varepsilon + \epsilon', c} \cap \{h > \epsilon'\}} \subset C_+.$$

Let $\xi \in H^1(B_+, \mathcal{M}^*)$ be such that $\xi_{|C_+} = 0$. Then $\xi_{|\overline{C'_{\epsilon}}} = 0$, for all $\epsilon' > 0$. On Consequently from what we have already proved $\xi_{|\overline{B'_{\epsilon}}} = 0$, where $\overline{B_{\epsilon}} = \overline{B_+ \cap \{h > \epsilon'\}}$. Since $\cup'_{\epsilon} \overline{B'_{\epsilon}} = B_+, \xi = 0$ and the lemma is proved. \Box

Lemma 4.14, Lemma 4.15 and Lemma 4.19 lead to the following generalization of Theorem 4.16:

Theorem 4.20 Assume that the restriction $H^2(B_+, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(C_+, \mathbb{Z})$ is surjective. If $\operatorname{Sing}(B_+) = \emptyset$, B_c is 1-complete and $p(B_c) \ge 4$, then all divisors on C_+ extend to divisors on B_+ .

Chapter 5

Cohomology of semi 1-coronae and extension of analytic subsets

This chapter is based on [83].

5.1 Introduction

The results on the cohomology of coherent sheaves on semi q-coronae obtained in the previous chapter (see also [82]) were under the hypothesis that the sheaves are defined on the larger set B_b .

The aim of this chapter is to give a generalization for coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} defined only on the semi *q*-corona. For the sake of simplicity we restrict ourselves to the case of smooth semi 1-coronae.

Following Andreotti-Grauert (see [3]), given a semi 1-corona

$$C_{a,b}^+ = C_{a,b} \cap \{h > 0\},\$$

where h is pluriharmonic, and a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on $C_{a,b}^+$ we consider the strongly plurisubharmonic functions $P_{\varepsilon}(z) = \varepsilon |z|^2 - h$, $\varepsilon > 0$, and an exhaustion of $C_{a,b}^+$ by the following relatively compact domains

$$C_{\varepsilon}^{+} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^{n} : P_{\varepsilon}(z) < 0 \} \bigcap \overline{C}_{a+\varepsilon,b-\varepsilon}.$$

The idea is to prove for the domains C_{ε}^+ a bump lemma and an approximation theorem as in the classical case of coronae. Here the situation is more complicated because of the presence of a non-empty pseudoconvex-pseudoconcave part in the boundary of each C_{ε}^+ . In order to circumvent this difficulty, we work with the closed sets $\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+$ using in a crucial way a regularity result on the $\overline{\partial}$ -equation due to Laurent-Thièbaut and Leiterer (see Section 5.3). This enables us to prove the following results: assume that depth $\mathcal{F}_z \geq 3$ for z near to the pseudoconcave part of the boundary of $C_{a,b}^+$; then

1) if ε is sufficiently small and $\varepsilon' < \varepsilon$ is near ε

$$H^1(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \simeq H^1(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F});$$

2) the cohomology spaces $H^1(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$ are finite dimensional.

(see Lemma 5.6, Lemma 5.12 and Proposition 5.13).

Thus the function

$$d(\varepsilon) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^1(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F})$$

is piecewise constant, but, in general, it could have frequently a "jumpdiscontinuity" and it could happen that $d(\varepsilon) \to +\infty$ (see Remark 5.2). Nevertheless, the isomorphism 1) allows us to prove in the last section:

- 1. the fact that Oka-Cartan-Serre Theorem A holds in semi 1-coronae for sheaves which satisfy the condition of Theorem 5.4 (see Theorem 5.16);
- 2. an extension theorem for analytic subsets (see Corollary 5.17).

Remind that an extension theorem for codimension one analytic subsets of a non-singular semi 1-corona was proved in the previous chapter (Theorem 4.18, see also [82]) and for higher codimensions, using different methods based on Harvey-Lawson's theorem [38], will be analized in Chapter 8 (see [16]).

5.2 Remarks on the proofs of theorems in Chapter 4

Let X be a complex space. For every coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on X and every subset A of X we set

$$p(A; \mathcal{F}) = \inf_{x \in A} \operatorname{depth}(\mathcal{F}_x)$$
$$p(A) = p(A; \mathcal{O}).$$

Let $C = C_{a,b}$ be a *q*-corona of *X*. All the results in Chapter 4 (see [82]) on finite and/or vanishing cohomology results for *q*-coronae and semi *q*-coronae are obtained using Andreotti-Grauert methods. They consist of two main points

i) the bump lemma;

ii) for every corona $C_{a',b'} \subseteq C$ there exists a corona $C_{a'+\varepsilon,b'+\varepsilon} \subseteq C, \varepsilon > 0$ such that the homomorphism

$$H^r(C_{a'-\varepsilon,b'+\varepsilon},\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^r(C_{a',b'},\mathcal{F})$$

is bijective for $q \leq r \leq p(C; \mathcal{F})$.

As a matter of fact the method of proof shows that the condition on the depth is needed only in $C_{a,a'}$ i.e. the homomorphism

$$H^r(C_{a'-\varepsilon,b'+\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow H^r(C',\mathcal{F})$$

is bijective for $q \leq r \leq p(C_{a,a'}; \mathcal{F})$.

Let X be a strongly q-pseudoconvex space (respectively $X \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strongly q-pseudoconvex open set) and $H = \{h = 0\}$ where h is pluriharmonic in X (respectively H Levi-flat), and $C = C_{a,b} = B_b \setminus \overline{B}_a$ a q-corona. We can suppose that $B_b \setminus H$ has two connected components, B^+ and B^- , and we define $C^+ = B^+ \cap C$, $C^- = B^- \cap C$.

From the above remark we derive the following improvements of Theorem 4.1, Corollary 4.2 and Theorem 4.3.

Theorem 5.1 Let $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}(B_b)$. Then the image of the homomorphism

$$H^{r}(\overline{B}^{+},\mathcal{F})\oplus H^{r}(\overline{C},\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow H^{r}(\overline{C}^{+},\mathcal{F})$$

(all closures are taken in B_b), defined by $(\xi \oplus \eta) \mapsto \xi_{|\overline{C}^+} - \eta_{|\overline{C}^+}$ has finite codimension provided that $q - 1 \le r \le p(\overline{B}_a; \mathcal{F}) - q - 2$.

Corollary 5.2 If $K \cap H = \emptyset$, under the same assumption of Theorem 5.1

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(\overline{C}^+, \mathcal{F}) < \infty$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\overline{B}_a; \mathcal{F}) - q - 2$.

Theorem 5.3 If \overline{B}_+ is a q-complete space, then

$$H^r(\overline{C},\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(\overline{C}^+,\mathcal{F})$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\overline{B}_a; \mathcal{F}) - q - 2$, and the homomorphism

$$H^{q-1}(\overline{B}^+, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^{q-1}(\overline{C}, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(\overline{C}^+, \mathcal{F})$$
 (5.1)

is surjective for $p(\overline{B}_a; \mathcal{F}) \geq 2q + 1$.

If \overline{B}^+ is a 1-complete space and $p(\overline{B}_a; \mathcal{F}) \geq 3$, then

$$H^0(\overline{B}^+, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^0(\overline{C}^+, \mathcal{F}).$$

This implies the following. Let $C_1 = B_{b_1} \setminus \overline{B}_{a_1} \Subset C_2 = B_{c_2} \setminus \overline{B}_{a_2}$. Then

$$H^r(\overline{C}_1^+, \mathcal{M}_{\{x\}}\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(\overline{C}_2^+, \mathcal{F}),$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\overline{B}_{a_1}; \mathcal{F})$.

In particular, if $x \in C_2 \setminus \overline{B}_{a_1}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\{x\}}$ denotes the sheaf of ideals of $\{x\}$, then

$$H^r(\overline{C}_2^+, \mathcal{M}_{\{x\}}\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^r(\overline{C}_1^+, \mathcal{F}),$$

for $q \leq r \leq p(\overline{B}_{a_1}; \mathcal{F})$.

5.3 An isomorphism theorem for semi 1-coronae

Our aim is to give a generalization of the above results for sheaves defined only on the semi q-coronae, i.e. for the case when the "hole" is real. For the sake of simplicity we will consider only complete 1-coronae in \mathbb{C}^n with $n \geq 3$. So we consider connected 1-coronae of the form

$$C = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : 0 < \varphi(z) < 1 \} \Subset \mathbb{C}^n,$$

where $\varphi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a smooth strongly plurisubharmonic function in a Stein neighborhood U of $\{0 \leq \varphi \leq 1\}, d\varphi \neq 0$ on $\varphi = 0, 1$. Let h be a pluriharmonic function on U and H the zero set of h. We assume that H is smooth and transversal to the hypersurfaces $\{\varphi = 0\}, \{\varphi = 1\}, \text{that } U \setminus H$ has two connected components U^{\pm} and h > 0 on U^+ . For 0 < a < b < 1 we set

$$B_b = \{z \in U : \varphi < b\}, \ B_b^+ = B_b \cap U^+,$$
$$C_{a,b} = (B_b \smallsetminus \overline{B}_a), \ C_{a,b}^+ = C_{a,b} \cap U^+.$$

Let $P_{\varepsilon}(z) = \varepsilon |z|^2 - h$; then there is ε_0 such that for $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ the hypersurfaces $\{\varphi = \varepsilon\}, \{\varphi = 1 - \varepsilon\}$ meet $\{P_{\varepsilon} = 0\}$ transversally. Finally we define the following subsets (which are locally 1-convex, 1-concave, see [58] and Remark 5.1 below)

$$\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^{+} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^{n} : P_{\varepsilon}(z) \le 0 \} \bigcap \overline{C}_{\varepsilon, 1-\varepsilon}.$$

We want to prove the following

Theorem 5.4 Let C^+ be a semi 1-corona in \mathbb{C}^n . Then for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ there exists $\overline{\varepsilon} \in [0, \varepsilon)$ such that for every $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}(C^+)$ satisfying

$$\overline{\{z \in C^+ : \operatorname{depth}(\mathcal{F}_z) < 3\}} \bigcap B_{\varepsilon_0} = \emptyset.$$

and every $\varepsilon' \in (\overline{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)$ the homomorphism

$$H^1(C^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^1(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$$

is an isomorphism.

The main ingredients for the proof are the bump lemma and a density theorem as in Andreotti-Grauert [3]. Due to the presence of points in the pseudoconvex-pseudoconcave part of the boundary we cannot work with open bumps as in the Andreotti-Grauert's paper. Instead, we work with closed bumps using the following result due to Laurent-Thièbaut and Leiterer (see [58, Proposition 7.5]):

Proposition 5.5 Let $D \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be a 1-concave, 1-convex domain of order 1 of special type, and suppose that $n \geq 3$. If f is a continuous (n, r)-form in some neighborhood $U_{\overline{D}}$ of \overline{D} , $1 \leq r \leq n-2$, such that $\overline{\partial}f = 0$ in $U_{\overline{D}}$, then there exists a form $u \in \bigcap_{\varepsilon>0} C_{n,r-1}^{1/2-\varepsilon}(\overline{D})$ such that $\overline{\partial}u = f$ in D.

Remark 5.1 Proposition 7.5 in [58] is much more general, but we state it this way, since the semi 1-coronae we consider are locally 1-concave, 1-convex domain of order 1 of special type, i.e. they are locally biholomorpic to the set-difference of two convex domains.

The proof of Theorem 5.4 is a consequence of several intermediate results.

5.3.1 Bump lemma: surjectivity of cohomology

With the same notations as above let $\overline{D} = \overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+$, $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ where $\varepsilon_0 < b$ is so chosen that for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ the hypersurfaces $\{\varphi = \varepsilon\}$, $\{\varphi = 1 - \varepsilon\}$ are \mathbb{C} -transversal to $\{P_{\varepsilon} = 0\}$. Let Γ_1 , Γ_2 be respectively the pseudoconvex and the pseudoconcave part of the boundary b*D* of \overline{D} . Thus b $D = \overline{\Gamma}_1 \cup \overline{\Gamma}_2$ and $\overline{\Gamma}_2$ is contained in the smooth hypersurface $\{\varphi = \varepsilon\}$.

Lemma 5.6 (bump lemma) There exists a finite open covering \mathcal{U} of bD, $\mathcal{U} = \{\overline{U}_j\}_{1 \le j \le m}$, and relatively compact open subsets $D_1, \ldots, D_m \Subset C^+$ such that

- (i) $\overline{D} = \overline{D}_0 \subset \overline{D}_1 \subset \cdots \subset \overline{D}_m;$
- (*ii*) $\overline{D} \subset D_m$;
- (iii) $\overline{D}_j \setminus \overline{D}_{j-1} \subset \overline{U}_j$ for $1 \leq j \leq m$;

(iv) if $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}(C^+)$ then

$$H^r(\overline{U}_j \cap \overline{D}_k, \mathcal{F}) = 0$$

for every j, k and $1 \le r \le p(\overline{D}; \mathcal{F}) - 2$.

Moreover, the family of the coverings \mathcal{U} as above is cofinal in the family of all finite coverings of bD.

Proof. If $z^0 \in \Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_2$ i.e. z^0 is a point of pseudoconvexity or pseudoconcavity we argue as in the proof of the classical Andreotti-Grauert bump lemma.

Assume that $z^0 \in \overline{\Gamma}_1 \cap \overline{\Gamma}_2$. There exists a sufficiently small closed ball \overline{B} of positive radius, centered at z^0 and a biholomorphism on $\Phi : \overline{B} \to \Phi(\overline{B})$ which transform $\overline{B} \cap \{\varphi \geq \varepsilon\}$ and $\overline{B} \cap \{P_{\varepsilon} \geq 0\}$ respectively in a strictly concave and strictly convex set (see Remark 1.5). We may also assume that $\mathcal{F}_{|\overline{B}}$ has a homological resolution

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}^{p_k} \to \cdots \to \mathcal{O}^{p_0} \to \mathcal{F} \to 0 \tag{5.2}$$

with $n - k \ge 3$. Choose a smooth function $\rho \in C_0^{\infty}(B)$ such that $\rho \ge 0$ and $\rho(z^0) \ne 0$ and a positive number λ such that the closed domains

$$\overline{B}_1 = \{\varphi - \varepsilon - \lambda \rho \le 0\} \cap \overline{B}, \ \overline{B}_2 = \{P_\varepsilon + \lambda \rho \le 0\} \cap \overline{B}$$

are respectively strictly concave and strictly convex and contain z^0 as an interior point. Set $\overline{B}_3 = \overline{B}_1 \cap \overline{B}_2$ and $\overline{D}_1 = \overline{C}^+_{\lambda} \cup \overline{B}_3$; z^0 is an interior point of \overline{D}_1 and $\overline{B}_1 \setminus \overline{B}_2 \in B$. By construction $\overline{D} \cap \overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B} = \overline{D} \cap \overline{B}$ and $D \cap B$ is an intersection of two strictly convex domains with smooth boundaries thus applying Proposition 5.5 we obtain

$$H^r(\overline{D} \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{O}) = \{0\}$$

for $1 \le r \le n-2$ and consequently, in view of (5.2), the vanishing

$$H^{r}(\overline{D} \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F}) = \{0\}.$$
(5.3)

Iterating this procedure we get the conclusion. \Box

Proposition 5.7 For every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ there exists $\varepsilon' < \varepsilon$ such that the homomorphism

$$H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'},\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$$

is onto for $1 \leq r \leq p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - 2$.

90

Proof. Keeping the notations of Lemma 5.6 we apply the Mayer-Vietoris exact sequence for closed sets to $\overline{D}_1 = \overline{D} \cup (\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B})$. We get

$$\cdots \to H^r(\overline{D}_1, \mathcal{F}) \to H^r(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F}) \oplus H^r(\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F}) \to H^r(\overline{D} \cap \overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F}) \to \cdots$$

thus in view of (5.3) the homomorphism

 $H^r(\overline{D}_1,\mathcal{F}) \to H^r(\overline{D},\mathcal{F})$

is onto for $1 \le r \le n-2$. By induction, we obtain that the homomorphism

$$H^r(\overline{D}_m, \mathcal{F}) \to H^r(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F})$$

is onto for $1 \leq r \leq p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - 2$. Since $\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+ \subset D_m$ if $\varepsilon' < \varepsilon$ is near ε one has $\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+ \subset C_{\varepsilon'}^+ \Subset D_m$, whence the homomorphism

$$H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'},\mathcal{F}) \to H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$$

is onto for $1 \leq r \leq p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - 2$. In particular, the canonical homomorphism

$$H^r(C^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$$
 (5.4)

is onto for $1 \le r \le p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - 2$. \Box

From Proposition 5.7 we derive

Proposition 5.8 For every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ there exists an $\overline{\varepsilon} < \varepsilon$ such that for every $\varepsilon' \in [\overline{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)$ the homomorphism

$$H^r(C^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$$
 (5.5)

is onto for $1 \leq r \leq p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - 2$.

Proof. We fix ε_0 as in Lemma 5.6. Let Λ be the (non-empty) set of the positive numbers $\varepsilon' < \varepsilon$ such that the homomorphism (5.4) is onto and $\overline{\varepsilon} = \inf \Lambda$. It follows (cfr. [3, Lemma pag. 241] for closed subsets) that the homomorphism (5.5) is onto. \Box

A second consequence of Proposition 5.7 is the following finiteness theorem

Theorem 5.9 Under the conditions of Theorem 5.4, there exists $\varepsilon_1 \leq \varepsilon_0$ such that

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^1(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F}) < +\infty.$$

for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1)$.

Proof. We first observe the following. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain, $K \subset \Omega$ a compact subset. It is known that $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ is a Fréchet space. The space $\mathcal{F}(K)$ is an \mathcal{LF} -space i.e. a direct limit of Fréchet spaces and its topology is complete (cfr. [36, pag. 315]). Moreover, the restriction

$$\mathcal{F}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathcal{F}(K)$$

is a compact map i.e. there exists a neighborhood U of the origin in $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ such that $\overline{\delta(U)}$ is a compact subset of $\mathcal{F}(K)$. This is a consequence of the following well known fact: if Ω' is a relatively compact subdomain of Ω then the restriction $\mathcal{F}(\Omega) \to \mathcal{F}(\Omega')$ is a compact map. Take ε_0 as in Lemma 5.6. The proof is similar to that of Théorème 11 in [3] taking into account the following

- 1) Leray theorem for acyclic closed coverings (see Théorème 5.2.4 and Corollaire in [35]);
- 2) the theorem of L. Schwartz on compact perturbations u + v of a surjective linear operator $u : E \to F$ where E is a Fréchet (see [36, Corollaire 1]).

We remark that, up to some modifications in the technical details of the proof, the finiteness result holds for all cohomology groups:

Theorem 5.10 Under the conditions of Theorem 5.4 there exists $\varepsilon_1 \leq \varepsilon_0$ such that

 $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^r(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F}) < +\infty,$

for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1)$ and $1 \le r \le p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - 2$.

5.3.2 Approximation

This subsection is devoted to approximation by global sections.

Lemma 5.11 Let depth(\mathcal{F}_z) ≥ 4 for every $z \in \{\varphi = \varepsilon\}$, $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$. Then, for every $z^0 \in bC_{\varepsilon}^+$ there exists a closed neighbourood \overline{U} of z^0 such that the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{U},\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{U} \cap \overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$$

is dense image.

Proof. This is known if $z^0 \in \Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_2$ i.e. when z^0 is a point of pseudoconvexity or pseudoconcavity (see [3]), thus we may assume that $z^0 \in \overline{\Gamma}_1 \cap \overline{\Gamma}_2$. First we consider the case $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}$. We may suppose that there exists a sufficiently small closed ball \overline{B} of positive radius, centered at z^0 such that $\overline{B} \cap \{\varphi \geq \varepsilon\}$ and $\overline{B} \cap \{P_{\varepsilon} \leq 0\}$ respectively are strictly concave and strictly convex (again, locally, up to a biholomorphism). Take a real hyperplane with equation l = 0such that $z^0 \in \{l > 0\}$ and $\{l = 0\} \cap \{\varphi \leq \varepsilon\} \Subset B$. Let $\psi = \alpha \varphi - \varepsilon + \beta l, \alpha, \beta$ positive real numbers; ψ is strongly plurisubharmonic. For α, β sufficiently small the hypersurface $\{\psi = 0\} \cap \{l < 0\}$ is a portion of a compact smooth hypersupersurface which bounds a domain $D \Subset B$. Set

$$\overline{V} = \{P_{\varepsilon} \le 0\} \cap \overline{D}, \ \overline{W} = \overline{D} \smallsetminus \{\varphi < \varepsilon\}$$

and $\overline{U}' = \overline{V} \cap \overline{W}$. We are going to prove that $H^1(\overline{V} \cup \overline{W}, \mathcal{O}) = 0$. Let $R = \overline{D} \setminus \overline{V} \cup \overline{W}$. Since \overline{D} is a Stein compact, from the exact sequence of cohomology relative to the closed subspace $\overline{V} \cup \overline{W}$ we get the isomorphism

$$H^{r}(\overline{V}\cup\overline{W},\mathcal{O})\simeq H^{r+1}_{c}(R,\mathcal{O}).$$
 (5.6)

for $r \leq n-2$. R is an open subset of $S = \overline{D} \cap \{\varphi < \varepsilon\}$. Set $R' = S \setminus R$. Again, by the exact sequence of cohomology with compact supports relative to the closed subspace $R' = S \setminus R$ we get the exact sequence of groups

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H^r_c(S, \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^r_c(R', \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow$$
$$\longrightarrow H^{r+1}_c(R, \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow H^{r+1}_c(S, \mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow \cdots .$$

Since S and R' have a fundamental system of Stein neighborhoods (see [95]) and $n \geq 3$, we have

$$H_c^r(S,\mathcal{O}) = H_c^r(R',\mathcal{O}) = 0$$

for $1 \leq r \leq n-2$ and consequently $H_c^r(R, \mathcal{O}) = 0$ for $1 \leq r \leq n-2$. In view of the isomorphism (5.6) we obtain

$$H^r(\overline{V}\cup\overline{W},\mathcal{O})=0$$

for $1 \le r \le n-2$. In particular, since $n \ge 3$, (5.6) implies that

$$H^1(\overline{V}\cup\overline{W},\mathcal{O})=0,$$

thus that every function $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{U}')$ is a difference of two functions $f_1 - f_2$ where $f_1 \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{V}), f_2 \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{W})$. Since \overline{V} is Runge in \overline{D} there exists a sequence of holomorphic functions $f_{\nu} \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ such that $f_{\nu} \to f_1$ in $\mathcal{O}(\overline{V})$. Moreover, by Theorem 3.3 (see [65]) the function f_2 extends holomorphically to $W \cap \{l \leq$ 0}. Choose a smooth function $\rho \in C_0^{\infty}(D)$ such that $\rho \ge 0$ and $\rho(z^0) \ne 0$ and a positive number λ such that the closed domains

$$\overline{D}_1 = \{\varphi - \varepsilon + \lambda \varrho \le 0\} \cap \overline{D}, \ \overline{D}_2 = \{P_\varepsilon - \lambda \rho \le 0\} \cap \overline{D}$$

are respectively strongly pseudoconcave and strongly pseudoconvex, both contain z^0 as an interior point, $bD_1 \setminus \{\varphi = \varepsilon\} \cap D$ is relatively compact in $D \cap \{l > 0\}$ and $bD_2 \setminus \{P_{\varepsilon} = 0\}$ is relatively compact in D. Then we define $\overline{U} = \overline{D_1} \cap \overline{D_2}$.

Observe that, by construction, Proposition 5.5 applies, thus $H^r(\overline{U} \cap C_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{O}) = 0$ for $1 \leq r \leq n-2$.

In the general case, since \overline{D} is Stein, we have on \overline{D} an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathcal{O}^q \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow 0$$

Consider the following commutative diagram of continuous maps

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{0}(\overline{U}, \mathcal{O}^{q}) & & \xrightarrow{\alpha} & H^{0}(\overline{U}, \mathcal{F}) \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ H^{0}(\overline{U} \cap \overline{C}^{+}_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{O}^{q}) & \xrightarrow{\beta} & H^{1}(\overline{U} \cap \overline{C}^{+}_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F}) \end{array}$$

where \mathbf{r} denotes the natural restriction. Then, since depth(\mathcal{F}_z) ≥ 4 for every $z \in D$, we have depth(\mathcal{H}_z) ≥ 5 for every $z \in D$. Again by Proposition 5.5 we have $H^1(\overline{U} \cap C_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F}) = 0$, whence the homomorphism

 $H^0(\overline{U}\cap\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{O}^q)\longrightarrow H^0(\overline{U}\cap\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$

is onto. Let $\sigma \in H^0(\overline{U} \cap \overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F})$ and N a neighborhood of σ . Let $g \in H^0(\overline{U}, \mathcal{O}^q)$ be such that $\beta(g) = \sigma$. Since the homorphism

$$H^0(\overline{U}, \mathcal{O}^q) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{U} \cap \overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{O}^q)$$

is dense image there exists $h \in H^0(\overline{U}, \mathcal{O}^q)$ such that $\mathsf{r}(h) \in \beta^{-1}(N)$. Then $\mathsf{r}(\alpha(h)) \in N$ with $\alpha(h) \in H^0(\overline{U}, \mathcal{F})$. This shows that the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{U}, \mathcal{O}^q) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{U} \cap \overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{O}^q)$$

is dense image. \Box

Lemma 5.12 Let \mathcal{F} and ε_0 be as in Lemma 5.11. Then for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ there exists $\varepsilon_2 \in (0, \varepsilon)$ such that for every $\varepsilon' \in (\varepsilon_2, \varepsilon)$ the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'},\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow H^0(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$$

is dense image.

Proof. With the notations of Lemma 5.6 we have

$$\overline{D} = \overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^{+}, \ \overline{D}_{1} = \overline{D} \cup \overline{B}, \ \overline{D}_{1} = \overline{D} \cup (\overline{D}_{1} \cap \overline{B})$$

and we set $\overline{V} = \overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}$. In view of Lemma 5.11 we may assume that the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{V},\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{V} \cap \overline{D},\mathcal{F})$$

is dense image. Moreover, $H^1(\overline{V}, \mathcal{F}) = 0$. Let $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ be the closed covering $\{\overline{D}, \overline{V}\}$ of \overline{D}_1 , $Z^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \mathcal{F})$ and $B^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \mathcal{F})$ respectively the space of cocycles and coboundaries of $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ with values in \mathcal{F} . Since $H^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \mathcal{F})$ is a subgroup of $H^1(\overline{D}_1, \mathcal{F})$ which is of finite dimension (cfr. Theorem 5.9) we have

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}},\mathcal{F}) < +\infty.$$

It follows that $H^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \mathcal{F})$ is of finite dimension in the \mathcal{LF} -space $\mathsf{Z}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \mathcal{F})$, thus an \mathcal{LF} -space for the induced topology. Moreover, in view of the Banach open mapping theorem the surjective map

$$H^0(\overline{D},\mathcal{F}) \oplus H^0(\overline{V},\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow \mathsf{B}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}},\mathcal{F})$$

given by $s \oplus \sigma \mapsto s_{|\overline{D} \cap \overline{V}} - \sigma_{|\overline{D} \cap \overline{V}}$ is a topological homomorphism.

Let $s \in H^0(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F})$; $s_{|\overline{V} \cap \overline{D}} \in \mathsf{B}^1(\overline{\mathcal{U}}, \mathcal{F})$. By Lemma 5.11, there exists a sequence $\{s_{\nu}\} \subset H^0(\overline{V}, \mathcal{F})$ such that

$$s_{\nu|\overline{V}\cap\overline{D}} - s_{|\overline{V}\cap\overline{D}} \longrightarrow 0.$$

In view of Banach theorem there exist two sequences $\sigma_{\nu}^1 \in H^0(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F}), \sigma_{\nu}^2 \in H^0(\overline{V}, \mathcal{F})$ such that

$$\sigma_{\nu|\overline{D}\cap\overline{V}}^{1} - \sigma_{\nu|\overline{D}\cap\overline{V}}^{2} = s_{\nu|\overline{D}\cap\overline{V}} - s_{|\overline{D}\cap\overline{V}},$$
$$\sigma_{\nu}^{1} \to 0, \ \sigma_{\nu}^{2} \to 0.$$

It follows that for every ν

$$\tilde{s}_{\nu} = \begin{cases} s - \sigma_{\nu}^{1} & \text{on } \overline{D} \\ s_{\nu} - \sigma_{\nu}^{2} & \text{on } \overline{V} \end{cases}$$

is a section of \mathcal{F} on \overline{D}_1 and that $\tilde{s}_{\nu} \to s$. In order to end the proof we apply this procedure a finite numbers of times. \Box

As a corollary we get the following

Proposition 5.13 Let \mathcal{F} and ε_0 be as in Theorem 5.4. Then for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ there exists $\overline{\varepsilon}_0 \in [0, \varepsilon)$ such that for every $\varepsilon' \in (\overline{\varepsilon}_0, \varepsilon]$ the homomorphism

$$H^0(C^+_{\varepsilon'},\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$$

is dense image.

Proof. Let $I \subset (0, \varepsilon_0)$ be the (non-empty) set of $\varepsilon' < \varepsilon$ such that the homomorphism

$$H^0(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$$

is dense image. Let $\overline{\varepsilon} = \inf I$ and $\{\varepsilon_{\nu}\}$ be a decreasing sequence with $\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon$, $\varepsilon_{\nu} \to \overline{\varepsilon}$ and set $F_{\nu} = H^0(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon_{\nu}}^+, \mathcal{F})$. The topology of F_{ν} can be defined by an increasing sequence $\{p_j^{(\nu)}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ of translation invariant seminorms. Let for $\nu \geq 1$

$$\mathbf{r}_{\nu}: F_{\nu} \longrightarrow F_{\nu-1}$$

be the restriction map; then

$$H^0(\overline{C}^+_{\overline{\varepsilon}},\mathcal{F}) = \varprojlim_{\{\mathsf{r}_\nu\}} F_\nu$$

and denote by $\pi_{\nu} : H^0(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F}) \to F_{\nu}$ the natural map. We have to show that π_0 is dense image.

Let $s \in F_0 = H^0(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \mathcal{F})$ and N a neighborhood of s_0 . We may assume that

$$N = \left\{ s \in F_0 : p_0^{(0)}(s - s_0) < \varepsilon \right\}.$$

Since the maps \mathbf{r}_{ν} are continuous and dense image we can choose elements $s_{\nu} \in F_{\nu}$, for $\nu \geq 0$, satisfying the following conditions:

$$s_{1} \in F_{1} \quad p_{0}^{(0)} \left(\mathsf{r}_{1}(s_{1}) - s_{0} \right) < \varepsilon/2$$

$$s_{2} \in F_{2} \quad p_{0}^{(1)} \left(\mathsf{r}_{2}(s_{2}) - s_{1} \right) < \varepsilon/2$$

$$p_{1}^{(0)} \left(\mathsf{r}_{1}\mathsf{r}_{2}(s_{2}) - \mathsf{r}_{1}(s_{1}) \right) < \varepsilon/2^{2}$$

$$s_{3} \in F_{3} \quad p_{0}^{(2)} \left(\mathsf{r}_{3}(s_{3}) - s_{2} \right) < \varepsilon/2$$

$$p_{1}^{(1)} \left(\mathsf{r}_{2}\mathsf{r}_{3}(s_{3}) - \mathsf{r}_{2}(s_{2}) \right) < \varepsilon/2^{2}$$

$$p_{2}^{(0)} \left(\mathsf{r}_{1}\mathsf{r}_{2}\mathsf{r}_{3}(s_{3}) - \mathsf{r}_{1}\mathsf{r}_{2}(s_{2}) \right) < \varepsilon/2^{3}$$

and so on. Then, for every $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$, the series

$$s_{\nu} + (\mathbf{r}_{\nu+1}(s_{\nu+1}) - s_{\nu}) + (\mathbf{r}_{\nu+1}\mathbf{r}_{\nu+2}(s_{\nu+2}) - \mathbf{r}_{\nu+1}(s_{\nu+1})) + \dots$$

is convergent in F_{ν} and $\mathbf{r}_{\nu}(\sigma_{\nu}) = \sigma_{\nu-1}$. Hence $\sigma = \{\sigma_{\nu}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}}$ belongs to $H^0(C^+_{\overline{\varepsilon}}, \mathcal{F})$ and, by definition $p_0^{(0)}(\sigma_0 - s_0) < \varepsilon$, i.e. $\pi_0(\sigma_0) \in N$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 5.4. The proof uses Corollary 5.7 and Lemma 5.11. With the notations of Lemma 5.6 we have

$$\overline{D} = \overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+, \ \overline{D}_1 = \overline{D} \cup \overline{B}, \ \overline{D}_1 = \overline{D} \cup (\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}), \ \overline{D} \cap (\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}) = \overline{D} \cap \overline{B}.$$

We may assume that the homomorphism

$$H^1(\overline{D}_1, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^1(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F})$$

is onto and

$$H^0(\overline{D}_1,\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^0(\overline{D},\mathcal{F})$$

is dense image. Moreover, $H^1(\overline{B} \cap \overline{D}_1, \mathcal{F}) = 0$. Thus it is sufficient to show that the homomorphism

$$H^1(\overline{D}_1, \mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^1(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F})$$

is injective.

Since $H^1(\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F}) = 0$ the Mayer-Vietoris exact sequence applied to $\overline{D}_1 = \overline{D} \cup (\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B})$ gives the exact sequence

$$H^0(\overline{D} \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{a}} H^1(\overline{D}_1, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{b}} H^1(\overline{D}, \mathcal{F})$$

Let $\xi \in \text{Ker } \mathbf{b} = \text{Im } \mathbf{a}, \ \xi = \mathbf{a}(\eta)$ with $\eta \in H^0(\overline{D} \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F})$. By Lemma 5.11 η is approximated by a sequence $\{\eta_\nu\} \subset H^0(\overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}, \mathcal{F})$. Each η_ν is a 1coboundary of the closed covering $\mathcal{U} = \{\overline{D}, \overline{D}_1 \cap \overline{B}\}$ with values in \mathcal{F} and such a space is closed in the space $\mathsf{Z}^1(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{F})$ of the 1-cocycles. This proves that η is a 1-coboundary of $\{\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{F}\}$, whence $\xi = \mathbf{a}(\eta) = 0$. \Box

Remark 5.2 In the full *q*-corona the cohomology of all coronae are isomorphic (see [3]). Differently, in the semi 1-corona case the cohomology groups are isomorphic up to a critical $\overline{\varepsilon}$, where the dimension of the cohomology spaces jumps, then they are again all isomorphic up to a second critical value, and so on. They must not be all isomorphic, nor they dimensions must be bounded.

5.4 Extension of coherent sheaves and analytic subsets

An interesting consequence is that on a semi 1-corona $C^+ = C_{0,1}^+$ Theorem A of Oka-Cartan-Serre holds for a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} satisfying the conditions of Theorem 5.4. We first prove the following

Lemma 5.14 Let X be a complex space, $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}(X)$ satisfying the following property: for every $x \in X$ there exists a subset $Y \not\supseteq x$ of X such that:

i) $H^1(X, \mathcal{F}) \simeq H^1(Y, \mathcal{F})$

ii) if $\mathcal{M}_{[x]}$ denotes the ideal of $\{x\}$ the homomorphism

$$H^1(X, \mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F}) \longrightarrow H^1(Y, \mathcal{M}_{[x]}, \mathcal{F})$$

is injective.

Then, for every $x \in X$ the space $H^0(X, \mathcal{F})$ of the global sections of \mathcal{F} generates \mathcal{F}_x over $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$.

Proof. Let $x \in X$ and Y satisfying the conditions of the lemma. Consider the exact sequence of sheaves

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}/\mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F} \longrightarrow 0$$

and the associated diagram

$$H^{0}(X,\mathcal{F}) \to H^{0}(X,\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F}) \to H^{1}(X,\mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{1}(X,\mathcal{F})$$

$$\begin{array}{c} \alpha \\ \alpha \\ \mu \\ H^{1}(Y,\mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\gamma} H^{1}(Y,\mathcal{F}). \end{array}$$

The homomorphism is injective by hypothesis and β is an isomorphism since $\mathcal{M}_{[x]|Y} \simeq \mathcal{F}_{|Y}$, thus γ is an isomorphism. It follows that δ is injective and consequently that the homomorphism

$$H^0(X,\mathcal{F}) \to H^0(X,\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{M}_{[x]}\mathcal{F}) \simeq \mathcal{F}_x/\mathcal{M}_{[x],x}\mathcal{F}_x$$

is onto. Then the Lemma of Nakayama implies that

$$H^0(X,\mathcal{F})\longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_x$$

is onto and this proves the lemma. \Box

Keeping the notations of the proof of Theorem 5.4, we deduce the following **Corollary 5.15** Under the conditions of Theorem 5.4 for every compact subset

$$K \subset C_{\varepsilon'}^+ \cap \{\varphi > \varepsilon'\} \cap \{P_{\varepsilon'} < 0\}$$

there exist sections $s_1, \ldots, s_k \in H^0(C^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F})$ which generate \mathcal{F}_z for every $z \in K$.

Theorem 5.16 Let $C^+ = (B_1 \setminus B_0) \cap \{h \ge 0\}$ and $\mathcal{F} \in \mathsf{Coh}(C^+)$. If $\operatorname{depth}(\mathcal{F}_z) \ge 3$ on $\{\varphi = 0\}$ then for every a > 0 near $0 \mathcal{F}_{|B_1 \setminus \overline{B}_a}$ extends on $B_1 \cap \{h \ge 0\}$ by a coherent sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_a$.

Proof. With the usual notations choose $\varepsilon_0 \in (0, a)$, and $c_0 > 0$ such that

- i) \mathcal{F} is defined on the semi 1-corona $(B_1 \smallsetminus B_{-\varepsilon}) \cap \{h > -c\}$
- ii) $\{z \in B_1 : h(z) \ge c\} \Subset \{z \in B_1 : P_{\varepsilon}(z) < 0\}$
- iii) for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$, $c \in (0, c_0)$ the hypersurfaces $\{P_{\varepsilon} = -c\}$, $P_{\varepsilon}(z) = \varepsilon |z|^2 h$, meet the hypersurfaces $\{\varphi = \varepsilon\}$, $\{\varphi = -\varepsilon\}$ transversally.

Let $Y_{\alpha,\beta}^+$ denote the semi 1-corona $\{\alpha < \varphi < \beta\} \cap \{h > c\}$, with $\alpha < \beta < \varepsilon$. In view of Corollary 5.15 applied to the semi 1-corona $Y_{\varepsilon,a}^+$ there exist $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in (0, a)$ with $\alpha < \beta < \gamma$ such that $H^0(Y_{\alpha,\gamma}^+, \mathcal{F})$ generates \mathcal{F} on $K_{\beta,\gamma} = \overline{Y}_{\beta,\gamma}^+ \cap \{h \ge 0\}$. Thus on $K_{\beta,\gamma}$ there exists an exact sequence

$$\mathcal{O}^p \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow 0$$
.

Since, by hypothesis, depth(\mathcal{F}_z) ≥ 3 for every $z \in K_{\beta,\gamma}$ we have

 $\operatorname{depth}(\operatorname{Ker} \alpha) \geq 4$

on $K_{\beta,\gamma}$ (cfr. [12]). Again by Corollary 5.15 there exist $\beta_1, \gamma_1 \in (\beta, \gamma), \beta_1 < \gamma_1$ and sections $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_l$ on $K_{\beta_1,\gamma_1} = \overline{Y}^+_{\beta_1,\gamma_1} \cap \{h \ge 0\}$ which generate (Ker $\alpha)_z$ for every $z \in V$. Since Ker α is a subsheaf of \mathcal{O}^p , by the theorem in [65] the sections $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_l$ extend holomorphically on

$$\{\varphi \le \gamma_1\} \cap \{h \ge 0\}$$

and their extensions $\tilde{\sigma}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\sigma}_l$ generate a coherent sheaf \mathcal{H} on

$$\{\varphi \leq \gamma_1\} \cap \{h \geq 0\}.$$

Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_a$ be the sheaf defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_{a,z} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_z & \text{for } z \in \{\varphi > \gamma_1\} \cap \{h \ge 0\} \\ \mathcal{O}_z/\mathcal{H}_z & \text{for } z \in \{\varphi \le \gamma_1\} \cap \{h \ge 0\}; \end{cases}$$

 $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_{\varepsilon}$ is a coherent sheaf on $B_c^+ \cap \{y_n > \varepsilon\}$ extending \mathcal{F} . \Box

Corollary 5.17 Let $X^+ = (B_1 \setminus \overline{B}_0) \cap \{h > 0\}$ and Y be an analytic subset of X^+ such that depth $(\mathcal{O}_{Y,z}) \geq 3$ for z near $\{\varphi = 0\}$. Then Y extends on $B_1 \cap \{h \geq 0\}$ by an analytic subset.

Proof. We apply Theorem 5.16 to $X^+ \cap \{h \ge \varepsilon\}$, where $\varepsilon \sim 0$ is positive. Then, for $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a coherent sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_Y^{(\nu)}$ on $B_1 \cap \{h \ge 0\}$ which extends \mathcal{O}_Y ; $\widetilde{Y}^{(\nu)} = \operatorname{supp} \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_Y^{(\nu)}$ is an analytic subset extending $Y \cap (B_1 \smallsetminus B_{1/\nu}) \cap \{h \ge \varepsilon\}$. In view of the strong pseudoconvexity of $bB_{1/\nu}$, the subset $F_{\nu} = \widetilde{Y}^{(\nu)} \smallsetminus \widetilde{Y}^{(\nu+1)}$ is a finite set of points which is contained in $B_{1/\nu}$. Start by $\nu = 2$ and consider the first extension $\widetilde{Y}^{(2)}$. Then $\widetilde{Y}^{(2)} \smallsetminus F_2 \cap (B_{1/2} \smallsetminus B_{1/3})$ coincide with Y on $(B_1 \smallsetminus B_{1/3})$ and so on. To handle different extensions depending on ε we argue in the same way. \Box

5.5 Some generalizations

We conclude the capter with a few remarks that simply outline some possible generalizations of the above results.

5.5.1 Bump lemma for semi q-coronae

One can also deal with a bump lemma for semi q-coronae when q > 1.

A bump lemma for semi q-coronae would be similar to Lemma 5.6, but with the cohomology vanishing result in (iv) only for $q \leq r \leq p(\overline{D}; \mathcal{F}) - q - 1$. The proof follows the very same lines. Then it follows, analoguously to Prposition 5.7, that the homomorphism

$$H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \to H^r(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$$
 (5.7)

is onto for $q \leq r \leq p(\overline{C}_{\varepsilon}^+; \mathcal{F}) - q - 1$. The finiteness result on cohomology (Theorem 5.9) this time cannot be achieved.

In order to conclude and get an isomorphism theorem, one must show also that the maps of \mathcal{LF} -spaces

$$Z^{q-1}(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon'}, \mathcal{F}) \to Z^{q-1}(\overline{C}^+_{\varepsilon}, \mathcal{F})$$
 (5.8)

is dense image. From (5.7) and (5.8) then the homomorphism

$$H^q(C^+_{\varepsilon'},\mathcal{F}) \to H^q(C^+_{\varepsilon},\mathcal{F})$$

turns out to be an isomorphism if the depth of \mathcal{F} is less then 2q+1. Anyhow this result is far more less interesting then its corresponding Theorem 5.4, since no corollary of extension for analytic sets follows from it.

5.5.2 Semi *q*-coronae in Stein spaces

To treat the cohomology problem for a semi q-corona $C_+ \subset A$, where A is an analytic 1-complete (i.e. Stein) space, a few observations are needed.

First of all for each point $p \in A$, there is a neighborhood V where $A \cap V$ can be embedded into $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Then one extends the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{A \cap V}$ to a sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{A,U}$ defined on the whole U by setting it equal to 0 outside the image of $A \cap V$. The depth of the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{A,U}$ coincides with the depth of $\mathcal{O}_{A \cap V}$.

Then one concludes by using this sheaf in all the steps for proving the bump lemma as in the previous sections.

Chapter 6

The boundary problem

6.1 The boundary problem

Let M be a smooth and oriented real (2m+1)-submanifold of some n-complex manifold X. A natural question arises, whether M is the boundary of an (m+1)-complex analytic subvariety of X. This problem, the so called *boundary problem*, has been widely treated over the past fifty years when M is compact and X is \mathbb{C}^n or \mathbb{CP}^n .

The case when M is a compact, connected curve in $X = \mathbb{C}^n$ (m = 0), has been first solved by Wermer [103] in 1958. Later on, in 1975, Harvey and Lawson in [38, 39] solved the boundary problem in \mathbb{C}^n and then in $\mathbb{CP}^n \\ \mathbb{CP}^r$, in terms of holomorphic chains. The boundary problem in \mathbb{CP}^n was studied by Dolbeault and Henkin, in [27] for m = 0 and in [28] for any m. Moreover, in these two papers the boundary problem is dealt with also for closed submanifolds (with negligible singularities) contained in q-concave (i.e. union of \mathbb{CP}^q 's) open subsets of \mathbb{CP}^n . This allows M to be non-compact. The results in [27, 28] were extended by Dinh in [25].

In the very last few years (2004–2006) Harvey, Lawson and Wermer (see [41-47, 104]) took a new look at the problem in order to try solve it in \mathbb{CP}^n . The point of view is that of generalizing Wermer's classical approach [103] that used polynomial hulls, by introducing the concept of projective hull. In \mathbb{CP}^n the solution to the boundary problem is no longer unique, since to any solution can be added closed manifold without boundary. Hence there are two main interests: one is finding the minimal solution, the other is finding a solution with a prescribed number of sheets over a fixed point.

In this chapter an overview of the problem and of the established theorems is given, without totally complete proofs, but sketching some of the basic ideas. Also the new areas of interest of this rich and interesting problem are described in here.

The final two chapters of this thesis will be devoted to some results on the boundary problem in \mathbb{C}^n in the non-compact case, joint work with Giuseppe Della Sala [15, 16].

6.2 The boundary problem for compact curves

Let $S \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be a compact set, and \mathcal{P}_n be the algebra of polynomials in \mathbb{C}^n . Let us consider the polynomial hull $\widehat{S}_{\mathcal{P}}$ of S, as defined in Subsection 1.1.3. Šilov [86] proved that, if S is connected, then also $\widehat{S}_{\mathcal{P}}$ is connected.

John Wermer, in [103], found a nice link between the boundary problem and the polynomial hull of curves. More precisely, let $\Gamma \Subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a curve given parametrically by the equations

$$z_j = \varphi_j(u), \quad j = 1, \dots, k, \quad u \in \mathbb{S}^1, \tag{6.1}$$

such that each φ_j is analytic in an annulus around \mathbb{S}^1 , the functions φ_j separate points of \mathbb{S}^1 , and $\varphi'_j(u) \neq 0$ for every $u \in \mathbb{S}^1$. In particular, Γ is a simple closed curve in \mathbb{C}^n .

Theorem 6.1 Let $\Gamma \Subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a curve given as in (6.1). Then either $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} = \Gamma$ or $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}}$ is an analytic surface, with at most finitely many branching points, with boundary Γ .

Moreover, a moments' condition is shown to be a necessary and sufficient condition for Γ to be the boundary of an analytic surface:

Theorem 6.2 Let $\Gamma \Subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a curve given as in (6.1). Γ is the boundary of an analytic surface $(\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}})$ if and only if for every multiindex $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$

$$\int_{u\in\mathbb{S}^1}\varphi^{\alpha}(u)\cdot\varphi_1'(u)\,du = 0, \tag{6.2}$$

where $\varphi = (\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n)$.

6.2.1 Sketches of the proofs

Let $g_1, \ldots, g_k \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{S}^1)$. By $[g_1, \ldots, g_k] \subset \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{S}^1)$ we will denote the algebra of complex polynomials in the variables g_1, \ldots, g_k , and by $K[g_1, \ldots, g_k]$ its closure in $\mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{S}^1)$.

The following extension result is at the core of the proof. Its proof can be found in [101, 103].

Theorem 6.3 Let $f_1, f_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{S}^1)$. Assume that f_1, f_2 are analytic in an annulus around \mathbb{S}^1 , they separate points of \mathbb{S}^1 , f_1 takes only finitely values more than once on \mathbb{S}^1 , and $K[f_1, f_2] \neq C^0(\mathbb{S}^1)$.

Then there exist a relatively compact domain $D \in \mathcal{R}$ of a Riemann surface, with boundary $bD = \gamma$ a simple closed analytic curve, and a bijective conformal map χ of a neighborhood of γ on a neighborhood of \mathbb{S}^1 such that, defining

$$F_1(p) = f_1(\chi(p)), \quad F_2(\chi(p)), \quad p \in \gamma,$$

 F_1 and F_2 have extensions in $\mathcal{A}^0(D)$.

We will also need the following theorems. Their proofs can be found respectively in [102] and in [48,49].

Theorem 6.4 (Wermer) Let $D \in \mathcal{R}$ be a relatively compact domain of a Riemann surface, with boundary $bD = \gamma$ a simple closed analytic curve. Let F_1 and F_2 be two analytic functions on $D \cup \gamma$ that separate points on γ and $dF_1 \neq 0$ on γ .

Then there exist only finitely many pairs of points $p, q \in D \cup \gamma$ such that $F_1(p) = F_1(q)$ and $F_2(p) = F_2(q)$.

Theorem 6.5 (Helson-Quigley) Let $S \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a differentiable curve such that $\widehat{S}_{\mathcal{P}} = S$. Let z_1, \ldots, z_n be the coordinate functions in \mathbb{C}^n restricted to S. Then $K[z_1, \ldots, z_n] = \mathcal{C}^0(S)$.

A few lemmata are necessary before entering the proof of Theorem 6.1 and Theorem 6.2.

Lemma 6.6 Let A be a set, \mathcal{A} an algebra of functions on A which separates points on A. If $p_1, \ldots, p_N \in A$ are distinct, there is $g \in \mathcal{A}$ s.t. $g(p_i) \neq g(p_j)$, for all $i \neq j$.

Proof. For each pair $i \neq j$, consider a function $g_{ij} \in \mathcal{A}$ s.t. $g_{ij}(p_i) \neq g_{ij}(p_j)$. Setting

$$h_i = \prod_{j \neq i} (g_{ij} - g_{ij}(p_j)),$$

the function

$$g = \sum_{k=1}^{N} k \cdot \frac{h_k}{h_k(p_k)}$$

satisfies $g(p_k) = k$, for $k = 1, \ldots, N$. \Box

Lemma 6.7 There exist functions $f_1, f_2 \in [\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n]$ that separate points on \mathbb{S}^1 and $f'_1(u) \neq 0$ for $u \in \mathbb{S}^1$ and f_1 takes only finitely values more than once on \mathbb{S}^1 .

Proof. Fix $u_0 \in \mathbb{S}^1$. Let $\{u_0, \ldots, u_n\} = \{u \in \mathbb{S}^1 : \varphi_1(u) = \varphi_1(u_0)\}$ (the set is indeed finite because of the hypotesis on φ_1). Lemma 6.6 implies the existence of $g \in [\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_k]$ s.t. $g(u_i) \neq g(u_j)$, for $i \neq j$. By the hypothesis on φ_1 there is r > 0 such that for all $|\varepsilon| < r$, $f_{\varepsilon} = \varphi_1 + \varepsilon g$ has non-zero derivative on \mathbb{S}^1 . Setting

$$\zeta(u) = \frac{\varphi_1(u) - \varphi_1(u_0)}{g(u) - g(u_0)},$$

we obtain a meromorphic function on \mathbb{S}^1 . Hence there is a $\overline{\varepsilon} \neq 0$ s.t. $|\overline{\varepsilon}| < r$ and $\zeta(u) \neq -\overline{\varepsilon}$ on \mathbb{S}^1 .

We set $f_1 = f_{\overline{e}}$. f_1 assumes the value $f_1(u_0)$ at no other point of \mathbb{S}^1 . Indeed, suppose by contradiction that $f_1(\overline{u}) = f_1(u_0), u_0 \neq \overline{u} \in \mathbb{S}^1$. Then

$$\varphi_1(\overline{u}) - \varphi_1(u_0) = -\varepsilon(g(\overline{u}) - g(u_0)).$$

If $\varphi_1(\overline{u}) - \varphi_1(u_0) = 0$, then $\overline{u} = u_i$, $i \neq 0$, hence the righthand side is not zero. Thus $\varphi_1(\overline{u}) - \varphi_1(u_0) \neq 0$, $g(\overline{u}) - g(u_0) \neq 0$, we can divide and get $\zeta(\overline{u}) = -\varepsilon$, contradiction.

Moreover $f'_1 \neq 0$ on \mathbb{S}^1 . An analytic function on \mathbb{S}^1 which takes one value only once and has non-vanishing derivative can take only a finite number of values more than once. Let $M \subset \mathbb{C}$ be the set of values taken more than once by f_1 . M and $f^{-1}(M) \subset \mathbb{S}^1$ are finite. By Lemma 6.6, there is $f_2 \in [\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n]$ that separates points in $f_1^{-1}(M)$. Together f_1 and f_2 separate points of \mathbb{S}^1 . \Box

Lemma 6.8 Suppose $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \neq \Gamma$. Then there exists a complex measure $d\mu \not\equiv 0$ on \mathbb{S}^1 such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^1} g(u) d\mu(u) = 0, \qquad (6.3)$$

for all $g \in [\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n]$.

Proof. Choose $x \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma$. For every polynomial P, set

$$L_x\{P(\varphi_1,\ldots,\varphi_n)\} = P(x).$$

106

6.2. ...FOR COMPACT CURVES

The linear functional L_x on $[\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n]$ is well-defined thanks to Remark 1.2. Moreover, since $x \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}}$,

$$|P(x)| \leq \max_{y \in \Gamma} |P(y)| = \max_{u \in \mathbb{S}^1} |P(\varphi_1(u), \dots, \varphi_n(u))|.$$

Hence, Riesz representation theorem implies that there exists some measure $d\nu$ on \mathbb{S}^1 such that

$$P(x) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} P(\varphi_1(u), \dots, \varphi_n(u)) \, d\nu(u), \tag{6.4}$$

for all polynomials P. Let $u_0 \in \operatorname{supp} d\nu$. Since $x \notin \Gamma$, $x \neq (\varphi_1(u_0, \ldots, \varphi_n(u_0)))$. Hence there is a polynomial P_0 such that $P_0(x) = 0$ and

$$P_0(\varphi_1(u_0,\ldots,\varphi_n(u_0))\neq 0.$$

Then the measure $d\mu = P_0(\varphi_1(u_0, \ldots, \varphi_n(u_0)) \cdot d\nu$ does not vanish identically on \mathbb{S}^1 . From (6.4) we get

$$0 = P(x)P_0(x) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} P(\varphi_1(u), \dots, \varphi_n(u)) d\mu,$$

for all polynomials P. \Box

Lemma 6.9 Suppose $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \neq \Gamma$. Then there exist a relatively compact domain $D \Subset \mathcal{R}$ of a Riemann surface, with boundary $bD = \gamma$ a simple closed analytic curve, and a homomorphism χ of γ on \mathbb{S}^1 such that, defining

$$\Phi_k(p) = \varphi_k(\chi(p)), \quad p \in \gamma, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(6.5)

then each Φ_k has an extension in $\mathcal{O}^0(D \cup \gamma)$. We will denote the extensions again by Φ_k .

We do not enter the detail of the proof, which is based on results of Sakakihara and of Wermer himself (see [81, 100, 103]).

Lemma 6.10 Suppose $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \neq \Gamma$. Let $\Phi = (\Phi_1, \dots, \Phi_n) : D \cup \gamma \to \mathbb{C}^n$. Then $\Phi(\gamma) = \Gamma$ and $\Phi(D \cup \gamma) = \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}}$.

Proof. From the definitions of Γ and of the functions Φ_k (6.5) we get that $\Phi(\gamma) = \Gamma$.

Here we will only prove the inclusion $\Phi(D \cup \gamma) \subset \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}}$. Fix $p \in D$ and a polynomial P. Define $P^*(p) = P(\Phi(q))$. Since Φ is analytic on $D \cup \gamma$, the same is true for P^* . By the maximum principle, then

$$|P^*(p)| \leq \max_{y \in \gamma} |P^*(y)|,$$

i.e.

$$|P(\Phi(p))| \leq \max_{x \in \Gamma} |P(x)|.$$

Then $\Phi(q) \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}}$, hence $\Phi(D \cup \gamma) \subset \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}}$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 6.1. Assume $\Gamma_{\mathcal{P}} \neq \Gamma$. Let $S \subset D \cup \gamma$, the set of points p such that there is $q \in D \cup \gamma$, $q \neq p$ and $\Phi(q) = \Phi(p)$. This happens only when $\Phi_k(p) = \Phi_k(q)$ for all k, thus Theorem 6.4 applied to the functions $F_1, F_2 \in [\Phi_1, \ldots, \Phi_n]$ which correspond to the functions $f_1, f_2 \in [\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n]$ of Lemma 6.7 implies that S is a finite set.

Choose a point $z^0 = (z_1^0, \ldots, z_n^0) \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma$. Lemma 6.10 implies that $z^0 \in \Phi(D \cup \gamma)$. Since Φ is analytic on $D \cup U$, only finitely many points $q_1, \ldots, q_m \in D \cup \gamma$ are mapped into x_0 by Φ . Since $z^0 \notin \Gamma$, $q_i \in D$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

S being a discrete set, each q_i has an open relatively compact neighborhood $q_i \in U_i \subseteq D$ such that if $p \in \overline{U}_i \setminus \{q_i\}$ then $p \notin S$. In particular, Φ is bijective in \overline{U}_i . We can choose U_i simply connected and a disc in local coordinates λ at q_i . Since $\Phi|_{\overline{U}_i}$ is bijective and continuous, Φ maps \overline{U}_i homeomorphically on its image. Hence Φ maps U_i homeomorphically on its image. Moreover each coordinate Φ_k is analytic.

Fix $y_0 \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \Phi(U_i)$, which means there is *i* and $\lambda_0 \in U_i$ such that $\Phi(\lambda_0) = y_0$. Then we claim that there is an open neighborhood $U(y_0) \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ s.t.

$$(\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma) \cap U(y_0) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \Phi(U_i).$$
(6.6)

Indeed, suppose the inclusion does not hold for any neighborhood. Then there is a sequence $\{y_l\} \subset \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma$ converging to y_0 with $y_l \notin \bigcup_1^m \Phi(U_i)$. Since $y_l \in \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma$, there is $p_l \in D \cup \gamma$ with $\Phi(p_l) = y_l$, hence $p_l \notin \bigcup_1^m U_i$. Let \overline{p} be a limit point of the sequence $\{p_l\}$. $\overline{p} \notin \bigcup_1^m U_i$, but $\Phi(\overline{p}) = y_0 = \Phi(\lambda_0)$. Hence $\overline{p} = \lambda_0$, contradiction. Hence (6.6) holds for some neighborhood $U(y_0)$.

Consider the open set

$$U = \bigcup_{y_0 \in \bigcup_{1}^{m} \Phi(U_i)} U(y_0) \subset \mathbb{C}^n.$$

 $z^0 \in U$ and $U \cap (\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \Phi(U_i)$, due to (6.6). The reverse inclusion is trivial, hence

$$U \cap (\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \Phi(U_i).$$

Hence z^0 has an open neighborhood in \mathbb{C}^n which intersect $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma$ in a number m of discs, m being the number of preimages of z^0 . Hence m = 1 except for

108
a finite set. Thus $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus \Gamma$ is an analytic surface with finitely many branching points. \Box

Proof of Theorem 6.2. Assume (6.2). Since $\varphi'_1(u) \neq 0$ for $u \in \mathbb{S}^1$, the measure $\varphi'_1(u) du$ does not vanish identically on \mathbb{S}^1 . Hence $K[\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n] \subsetneq \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{S}^1)$. Theorem 6.5 then implies that $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \neq \Gamma$.

Conversely, suppose $\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathcal{P}} \neq \Gamma$. We can apply Lemma 6.9 and by a homeomorphism χ transform the functions $\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n$ into functions Φ_1, \ldots, Φ_n on the curve γ . These functions extend holomorphically on $D \cup \gamma$, due to Lemma 6.9. Fix a multiindex $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$. $\Phi^{\alpha} d\Phi_1$ is an analytic differential on $D \cup \gamma$, hence Cauchy's theorem implies

$$\int_{\gamma} \Phi^{\alpha} d\Phi_1 = 0. \tag{6.7}$$

A change of variable $u = \chi(\rho)$, transforms (6.7) into (6.2).

6.2.2 Generalization to several curves

In 1966, Stolzenberg [91] generalized Wermer's result to the union of more smooth curves. More precisely, consider l smooth curves $\varphi_j : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}^n$. Consider their union

$$K = \bigcup_{j=1}^{l} \varphi_j([0,1])$$

and a polynomially convex compact set $X = \widehat{X}_{\mathcal{P}} \Subset \mathbb{C}^n$ (which may be empty).

Theorem 6.11 (Stolzenberg [91]) Setting $Y = X \cup K$, $\widehat{Y}_{\mathcal{P}} \setminus Y$ is a (possibly empty) one-dimensional analytic subset of $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus Y$. If K is simply connected and disjoint from X, then $\widehat{Y}_{\mathcal{P}} = Y$. If $\widehat{Y}_{\mathcal{P}} = Y$, then every continuous function on Y which is uniformily approximable on X by polynomials, is uniformily approximable by polynomials also on Y.

This theorem in particular gives a complex one-dimansional subset whose boundary is a union of smooth closed curves K if $\widehat{K}_{\mathcal{P}} \neq K$, thus solving the boundary problem for unions of compact curves.

6.3 The boundary problem for compact manifolds

6.3.1 The boundary problem in terms of holomorphic chains

In the Seventies Harvey and Lawson [38,39] showed that maximal complexity was indeed a necessary and sufficient condition for the boundary problem, once this was stated in terms of holomorphic chains.

By a positive holomorphic p-chain with boundary $\Gamma \subset X$ we mean a finite sum $T = \sum_k n_k [V_k]$ where $n_k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $V_k \subset X \setminus \Gamma$ is an irreducible subvariety of dimension p, so that $dT = \Gamma$ as currents on X.

By the mass of such a chain we mean the finite sum $T = \sum_k n_k \mathcal{H}^{2p}(V_k)$, where \mathcal{H}^{2p} is the Hausdorff 2*p*-dimensional measure.

Theorem 6.12 (Harvey-Lawson, [38]) Let M be a compact, oriented submanifold of dimension 2m + 1 and of class C^2 in \mathbb{C}^n . Suppose that M is maximally complex, or if m = 0, suppose that M satisfies the moments condition. Then there exists a unique holomorphic (m + 1)-chain T in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus M$, with supp $T \in \mathbb{C}^n$, and with finite mass, such that dT = [M] (in the sense of currents) in \mathbb{C}^n . Furthermore, there is a compact subset $A \subset M$ of Hausdorff (2m + 1)-measure zero such that each point of $M \setminus A$, near which M is of class \mathcal{C}^k , has a neighborhood in which $\operatorname{supp} T \cup M$ is a regular \mathcal{C}^k submanifold with boundary.

In particular, if M is connected, then there exists a unique irreducible complex (m+1)-dimensional subvariety V of $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus M$ such that $d[V] = \pm [M]$, with boundary regularity as before.

The indeterminacy of the sign above is due to the fact that the orientation of M and that of V are independent one of the other.

When m = 0 Harvey-Lawson's Theorem follows from the results by Wermer [101] (see Theorems 6.1, 6.2) or from the one by Stolzenberg [91] (see Theorem 6.11) of the previous section.

The proof of the theorem is rather long and involving. Here we just state some key points and basic ingredients which enter the proof. For a full exposition, see [14,38].

Hypothesis for currents

One of the fundamental facts in the proof is that the two appearently very different conditions (maximal complexity and moments condition) can indeed be unified if we consider the more general setting of currents.

6.3. ...FOR COMPACT MANIFOLDS

Let X be a complex manifold. Recall that the space of k-dimensional currents in $U \subset X$ is the dual of the space of compactly supported k-differential forms in U; the space of compactly supported k-dimensional currents is the dual of the space of k-differential forms. Since X is a complex manifold, a k-dimensional current T_k can be split in its holomorphic and antiholomorphic part:

$$T_k = \sum_{j=0}^k T_{j,k-j},$$

where $T_{j,l}$ is a linear operator on the (j, l)-differential forms.

We can now extend the definition of maximal complexity and the moments condition to currents. A (2m+1)-current T_{2m+1} is said to be *maximally* complex if

$$T_{2m+1} = T_{m+,m} + T_{m,m+1},$$

i.e. if all the components of bidegree (r, s) with |r - s| > 1 vanish identically.

A (2m + 1)-current T_{2m+1} is said to satisfy the moments condition if $T_{2m+1}(\alpha) = 0$ for all $\overline{\partial}$ -closed forms α of bidegree (m+1,m).

If T = [M] is the current of integration on a manifold M, the notions given for T and for M coincide. Moreover, if T is a (2m+1)-dimensional maximally complex current and m > 0, then T satisfies the moments condition.

Plemelj formulae

In every extension result, at the core of the proof, lies some deep analytical representation formula. In this case the Plemelj formulae.

Theorem 6.13 Let $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be an open subset, and $M \subset U$ an oriented submanifold of class \mathcal{C}^1 , dividing $U \setminus M$ in two components U^+ and $U^ (dU^+ = M, dU^- = -M)$. Let $f \in \mathcal{C}^1_0(M)$, and let

$$F(z) = \int_M \omega_{BM}(z,\zeta) f(\zeta)$$

denote the Bochner-Martinelli transform of f. $F|_{U^{\pm}}$ has a continuous extension F^{\pm} on $U^{\pm} \cup M$. On M the Plemelj formulae are satisfied:

$$F^{+} - F^{-} = f, (6.8)$$

$$F^{+} + F^{-} = 2P.V. \int_{M} \omega_{BM}(z,\zeta) f(\zeta).$$
 (6.9)

The Cauchy principal value being defined as

$$P.V. \int_{M} \omega_{BM}(z,\zeta) f(\zeta) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{M \setminus B_{\varepsilon}(z)} \omega_{BM}(z,\zeta) f(\zeta).$$

The Plemelj formulae basically enable to write a C^1 -smooth function on M as a difference of two functions on the open sets U^{\pm} . If f is a CR-function, then the functions F^{\pm} are holomorphic.

6.3.2 The boundary problem in strictly pseudoconvex domains

The previous result of Harvey-Lawson in terms of holomorphic chains, can be improved —in terms of regularity— when the odd-dimensional manifold M is either pseudoconvex or contained in the boundary of a strictly pseudoconvex domain (see [38, 40]). More precisely,

Theorem 6.14 (Harvey-Lawson) Let $M \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be a compact connected \mathcal{C}^k -smooth manifold of real dimension 2m + 1. If m = 0 suppose M satisfies the moments condition, if $m \ge 1$ suppose M is maximally complex. If M is pseudoconvex, then there exists an irreducible (m + 1)-complex dimensional analytic subvariety $V \subset \mathbb{C}^n \setminus M$ with \overline{V} having at most finitely many intrinsic singularities (i.e. not arising from self-intersection), such that M = bV with \mathcal{C}^k boundary regularity of V near M.

Theorem 6.15 (Harvey-Lawson) Let $M \subset b\Omega \Subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a compact connected \mathcal{C}^k -smooth manifold of real dimension 2m+1, contained in the boundary of a strictly pseudoconvex domain Ω . If m = 0 suppose M satisfies the moments condition, if $m \ge 1$ suppose M is maximally complex. Then there exists an irreducible (m+1)-complex dimensional analytic subvariety $V \subset \Omega$ with \overline{V} having at most finitely many intrinsic singularities, such that M = bV with \mathcal{C}^k boundary regularity of V near M.

Theorem 6.15 will be (partially) generalized to non-compact M in the following chapter.

6.3.3 The boundary problem and the linking number

In 2000, Alexander and Wermer [2] found a characterization of the compact manifolds for which the boundary problem can be solved via a topological condition: the positivity of the linking number.

112

Theorem 6.16 (Alexander-Wermer, [2]) Let $\Gamma \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n$ be a compact oriented smooth submanifold of real dimension 2p-1. Then Γ bounds a positive holomorphic p-chain if and only if the linking numer

$$\operatorname{Link}(\Gamma, Z) \ge 0,$$

for all canonically oriented algebraic subvarieties $Z \subset \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \Gamma$ of codimension p.

The *linking number* is an integer-valued topological invariant defined by the number of intersections $\operatorname{Link}(\Gamma, Z) = N \bullet Z$ of Z with any 2*p*-chain $N \subset \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \Gamma$ having $bN = \Gamma$.

The notion of boundary here is in the sense of currents (i.e. Stokes' Theorem holds), however for Γ smooth one has boundary regularity almost everywhere, and for Γ real analytic, one has complete boundary regularity (see [38]).

This result has been re-proved later on, using geometric measure theory methods, by Harvey and Lawson [46].

6.4 The boundary problem in *q*-concave domains

After estabilishing the theorem for compact manifolds in \mathbb{C}^n , the next obvious step is to look for the result in \mathbb{CP}^n . Unluckily, things are a lot more difficult in the projective setting. Here we will recall the results obtained by Harvey-Lawson [39] and Dolbeault-Henkin [27, 28] in the *q*-concave setting, leaving to the next section the recent results toward a resolution of the boundary problem in \mathbb{CP}^n .

So let us define q-concavity in \mathbb{CP}^n . Let $q \leq n$. Consider the Grassmannian $G_{\mathbb{C}}(q+1, n+1)$ of the (q+1)-dimensional subspaces of \mathbb{C}^{n+1} . To every point $\nu \in G_{\mathbb{C}}(q+1, n+1)$ naturally corresponds a q-dimensional projective subspace of \mathbb{CP}^n that we will denote by P_{ν} . A domain $X \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ is said to be q-concave if there exists a non-empty domain $V \subset G_{\mathbb{C}}(q+1, n+1)$ such that

$$X = \bigcup_{\nu \in V} P_{\nu}.$$

Note that if X is q-concave, then it is r-concave for all $r \leq q$.

Theorem 6.17 (Dolbeault-Henkin [28]) Let $X \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be q-concave, and $M \subset X$ be a (2m + 1)-dimensional oriented closed submanifold of class C^2 , with $1 \leq n - m \leq q$. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. *M* is the boundary of a holomorphic (m+1)-chain in *X* of locally finite mass;
- 2. *M* is maximally complex and there is a point $\nu_0 \in G_{\mathbb{C}}(q+1, n+1)$ such that for all points ν in a neighborhood of ν_0 , $P_{\nu} \subset X$ and $M \cap P_{\nu}$ is a curve γ_{ν} boundary of a holomorphic 1-chain of P_{ν} of finite mass.

In \mathbb{CP}^n maximal complexity is no longer a sufficient condition by itself. Indeed, a real hypersurface in an algebraic subvariety $Y \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ is maximally complex, but it cannot be the boundary of a holomorphic chain in \mathbb{CP}^n if it is not homologous to 0 in Y.

Condition 2. of Theorem 6.17 basically asks for a local condition (maximal complexity) and a global one (moments condition on the curves γ_{ν}).

Dolbeault and Henkin proved this result using the system of choc-wave equations.

The result of Dolbeault and Henkin is a generalization of the result obtained by Harvey and Lawson in 1977 [39] when the *q*-concave domain of \mathbb{CP}^n is $X = \mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \mathbb{CP}^{n-q}$.

Dihn [25] lowered the regularity requirements in the hypothesis of Theorem 6.17.

6.5 The boundary problem in \mathbb{CP}^n

Let as always $M \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be a real manifold of real dimension 2m + 1.

In the last few years the boundary problem has been studied in \mathbb{CP}^n . The main difference with the boundary problem in \mathbb{C}^n is the non-uniqueness of the solution. Indeed, in \mathbb{CP}^n there are closed manifolds, i.e. without boundary, of any dimension, e.g. $\mathbb{CP}^{m+1} \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$. Hence, if W is a solution of the boundary problem, i.e. bW = M, then also $W \cup \mathbb{CP}^{m+1}$ is a solution.

The non-uniqueness of the solution, as a consequence, gives birth to some very natural different problems, other than that of finding a solution.

The first problem is that of finding the minimal solution, i.e. a solution W_0 such that if W_1 is also a solution, then $W_1 = W_0 \cup T_1$, where $bT_1 = \emptyset$.

A second problem is that of finding (necessary and sufficient) conditions for the existence of a positive chain solution with mass less then a fixed amount. Of course this problem is strictly related to the previous. The minimal solution is the one of least mass.

A third problem is the following. Fix a projection $\pi : \mathbb{CP}^n \to \mathbb{CP}^{m+1}$, proper on M, a base point $a \in \mathbb{CP}^{m+1} \setminus \pi(M)$ and $l \in \mathbb{N}$. Find (necessary and sufficient) conditions for M to bound a positive (m+1)-chain l-sheeted over a.

6.5. ...IN \mathbb{CP}^N

In this section we state the main results obtained since 2004 in the direction of solving these problems, and outline the ideas lying under the methods used. A huge variety of methods was used and still is under exploration.

6.5.1 The projective hull

In order to generalize Wermer's result (see Theorem 6.1, and [103]), Harvey and Lawson [43] defined a notion in \mathbb{CP}^n that generalizes the notion of polynomial hull in \mathbb{C}^n .

Let $K \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be a compact set. The projective hull of K, $\widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$ is defined as the set of all points $x \in \mathbb{CP}^n$ such that there exists a constant C_x such that for all d > 0 and all sections $P \in H^0(\mathbb{CP}^n, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}(d))$, where $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}(d)$ denotes the d^{th} power of the hyperplane bundle with the standard metric (i.e. for all P homogenous polynomials in of degree d in affine coordinates), such that

$$|| P(x) || \le C_x^d \sup_K || P || .$$
 (6.10)

The projective hull is indeed a generalization of the polynomial hull in the following sense. Suppose $K \subseteq \Omega \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$, Ω being an affine open subset of \mathbb{CP}^n . Then the definition immediately implies that

$$\widehat{K}_{\mathcal{P}(\Omega)} \subset \widehat{K}_{\mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^n}.$$
(6.11)

Moreover,

$$\widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} \Subset \Omega \implies \widehat{K}_{\mathcal{P}(\Omega)} = \widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}.$$
(6.12)

This result is non-trivial and proved in [43, Section 12]. Moreover the projective hull is subordinate to the Zariski hull. If $K \subset Z \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$, where Z is an algebraic subvariety, then $\widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} \subset Z$, and if γ is a real curve, $\gamma \subset Z \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$, Z being an irreducible algebraic curve, then $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} = Z$.

For $x \in \widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$, the infimum of C_x for which inequality (6.10) holds is a minimum. This best constant function $C_K : \widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ has a central rôle in the study of projective hulls. It is usually extended outside of $\widehat{K}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$ as $+\infty$, thus having $C_K : \mathbb{CP}^n \to \mathbb{R}^+ \cup \{+\infty\}$. The best constant function C_K is related to the notion of quasi-plurisubharmonic function and to pluripotential theory.

Theorem 6.18 (Harvey-Lawson [43]) Let $\gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be a finite union of real analytic curves. Then $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$ has Hausdorff dimension 2. If the Hausdorff 2-measure of $\overline{\widehat{\gamma}}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$ is finite in a neighborhood of some algebraic hypersurface, then $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} \setminus \gamma$ is a 1-dimensional complex analytic subvariety of $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \gamma$.

The same conclusion holds for any pluripolar curve $\gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$.

One would like to get rid of the finite-measure condition, i.e. to prove the following

Conjecture 6.19 Let $\gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be a finite union of simple closed real analytic curves. Then $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} \setminus \gamma$ is a 1-dimensional complex analytic subvariety of $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \gamma$.

The conjecture is true, under the additional assumption that γ is *stable*, i.e. that the best constant function C_{γ} is bounded on $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$.

Theorem 6.20 (Harvey-Lawson-Wermer [47]) Let $\gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be a finite union of simple closed real analytic curves and assume γ is stable. Then $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n} \setminus \gamma$ is a 1-dimensional complex analytic subvariety of $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \gamma$.

Then $\widehat{\gamma}_{\mathbb{CP}^n}$ is the image of a compact Riemann surface with analytic boundary under a holomorphic map to \mathbb{CP}^n .

The notion of projective hulls is further analyzed by Wermer in [104].

6.5.2 The projective linking number

The projective linking number was introduced by Harvey and Lawson [42,44] in order to generalize Alexander-Wermer's result (see Theorem 6.16) connecting linking numbers and the boundary problem in \mathbb{C}^n .

Suppose $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ is a compact oriented smooth curve, and let $Z \subset \mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma$ be an algebraic variety of codimension 1. The *projective linking number* of Γ with Z is given by

$$\operatorname{Link}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z) = N \bullet Z - \operatorname{deg}(Z) \int_{N} \omega$$

where ω is the standard Kähler form on \mathbb{CP}^n and N is any integral 2-chain with $bN = \Gamma$ (in the sense of currents) in \mathbb{CP}^n . Z has the canonical orientation and

•: $H_2(\mathbb{CP}^n, \Gamma) \times H_{2n-2}(\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma) \to \mathbb{Z}$

is the topologically defined intersection pairing. This definition is independent of the choice of N. The associated reduced linking number is defined as

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Link}}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{deg}(Z)} \operatorname{Link}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z).$$

Theorem 6.21 (Harvey-Lawson, [42]) Let Γ be an oriented stable real analytic curve in \mathbb{CP}^n with possible positive integer multiplicities on each component. Then the following are equivalent

116

6.5. ...IN \mathbb{CP}^N

- (i) Γ is the boundary of a positive holomorphic 1-chain of mass at most Λ in \mathbb{CP}^n ,
- (ii) $\operatorname{Link}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z) \geq -\Lambda$ for all algebraic hypersurfaces Z in $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma$.

Moreover, if Γ bounds any positive holomorphic 1-chain, then there is a unique such chain T_0 of least mass (all the others being obtained by adding algebraic 1-cycles to T_0):

Corollary 6.22 Let Γ be as in Theorem 6.21 and suppose T is a positive holomorphic 1-chain with $dT = \Gamma$. Then T is the unique holomorphic chain of least mass with $dT = \Gamma$ if and only if

$$\inf_{Z} \left\{ \frac{T \bullet Z}{\deg(Z)} \right\} = 0$$

where the infimum ranges over all algebraic hypersurfaces in the complement $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma$.

It is worth saying that condition (ii) in Theorem 6.21 has several equivalent formulations, in terms of projective winding number and of ω -quasiplurisubharmonic functions.

The bigger dimensional version of Theorem 6.21 has been reduced to the following conjecture (of which Harvey and Lawson say it is likely to be true).

Conjecture 6.23 Let $\gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$ be a compact embedded real analytic curve such that for some choice of orientation and positive integer multiplicity condition (ii) of Theorem 6.21 is satisfied. Then γ is stable.

Suppose $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ is a compact oriented submanifold of real dimension 2m + 1, and let $Z \subset \mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma$ be an algebraic variety of codimension m + 1. The *projective linking number* of Γ with Z is given by

$$\operatorname{Link}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z) = N \bullet Z - \operatorname{deg}(Z) \int_{N} \omega^{m+1}$$

where ω is the standard Kähler form on \mathbb{CP}^n and N is any integral 2-chain with $bN = \Gamma$ (in the sense of currents) in \mathbb{CP}^n . This definition is independent of the choice of N. The associated reduced linking number is defined as

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Link}}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z) = \frac{1}{(m+1)! \operatorname{deg}(Z)} \operatorname{Link}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z).$$

Theorem 6.24 (Harvey-Lawson, [44]) Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ be a compact oriented real analytic submanifold of dimension 2m + 1 with possible integer multiplicities on each component. If Conjecture 6.23 holds, then the following are equivalent

- (i) Γ is the boundary of a positive holomorphic m + 1-chain of mass at most Λ in \mathbb{CP}^n ,
- (ii) $\operatorname{Link}_{\mathbb{P}}(\Gamma, Z) \geq -\Lambda$ for all algebraic subvarieties Z of codimension m+1in $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma$.

Again, if the cycle Γ bounds a positive chain T, then there is a unique chain T_0 of least mass with $dT_0 = \Gamma$ (all others being obtained by adding positive algebraic (m + 1)-cycles to T_0):

Corollary 6.25 Let Γ be as in Theorem 6.24 and suppose T is a positive holomorphic (m + 1)-chain with $dT = \Gamma$. Then T is the unique holomorphic chain of least mass with $dT = \Gamma$ if and only if

$$\inf_{Z} \left\{ \frac{T \bullet Z}{\deg(Z)} \right\} = 0$$

where the infimum ranges over all positive algebraic (n-m-1)-cycles in the complement $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Gamma$.

6.5.3 *l*-sheeted solutions

Consider, as always, a (2m + 1)-real maximally complex submanifold $M \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$. Fix a projection $\pi : \mathbb{CP}^n \to \mathbb{CP}^{m+1}$, proper on M, and a base point $a \in \mathbb{CP}^{m+1} \setminus \pi(M)$. Harvey and Lawson, in [41], have proved that necessary and sufficient condition for M to bound a positive holomorphic (m+1)-chain which is *l*-sheeted over a is satisfying a sequence of (explicit and algorithmically computable) non-linear moments conditions which depend on l.

The precise statement of the theorem goes beyond the purpose of this survey chapter. Anyhow it is worth noticing that the moments conditions in this case are non-linear and highly more complicated that their equivalent for curves in \mathbb{C}^n .

6.6 The boundary problem in an arbitrary complex manifold X

The boundary problem, as stated, can be considered in much more generality, e.g. in a Stein manifold, a complex manifold or even a complex space. If X is a Stein manifold, the boundary problem was solved by Harvey and Lawson in their classical paper of 1975 [38]. The statement of the theorem is exactly the same we stated just for \mathbb{C}^n (see Theorem 6.12). Also the proof goes along the same lines. For an arbitrary complex manifold X, Harvey and Lawson have recently proved (2006, [45]) a result which generalizes their own results stated before (the characterizations via the linking number). In order to understand the statement, we need some additional definitions.

Let X be a hermitian manifold (non necessarily compact). Suppose there exists a closed subset $\Sigma_{\Gamma} \subset X$ of zero Hausdorff (2m + 1)-measure, and an oriented, properly embedded, (2m+1)-dimensional \mathcal{C}^1 submanifold of $X \setminus \Sigma_{\Gamma}$ with connected components Γ_k $(k \in \mathbb{N})$. If for $n_k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\Gamma = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} n_k \Gamma_k$$

defines a *d*-closed current of locally finite mass in X, then Γ will be called a scarred (2m + 1)-cycle of class C^1 in X.

Suppose Γ is an embedded (2m+1)-dimensional oriented submanifold of a complex manifold. We say that Γ can be *pushed out at* $z \in \Gamma$ if there exists a complex *p*-dimensional submanifold with boundary $(W, -\Gamma)^1$ containing the point z.

Theorem 6.26 (Harvey-Lawson, [45]) Let Γ be a scarred (2m + 1)-cycle of class C^1 in X such that each component Γ_k can be pushed out at some point. Then $\Gamma = dV$ (in the sense of currents) where V is a positive holomorphic (m+1)-chain with mass $M(V) \leq \Lambda$ if and only if the (m+1, m+1)-linking numbers of Γ are bounded below by $-\Lambda$.

¹i.e. $bW = \Gamma$ with opposite orientation

120

Chapter 7

Non-compact boundaries of complex analytic varieties

This chapter is based on [15]. The last section, containing an example due to both authors of that paper, was not present in there.

7.1 Introduction

The main theorem proved by Harvey and Lawson in [38] is that if $M \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is compact and maximally complex then M is the boundary of a unique holomorphic chain of finite mass (see Theorem 6.12). Moreover, if M is contained in the boundary $b\Omega$ of a strictly pseudoconvex domain Ω then M is the boundary of a complex analytic subvariety of Ω , with isolated singularities [34,38,40] (see Theorem 6.15). The aim of this chapter is that to generalize this last result to a non compact, connected closed and maximally complex submanifold M of the connected boundary $b\Omega$ of an unbounded weakly pseudoconvex domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. The pseudoconvexity of Ω is needed both for the local result and to prove that the singularities are isolated.

Maximal complexity of M and Lewy extension theorem for CR-functions [61] (see Theorem 3.2) allow us to prove the following local result (see Corollary 7.4):

Assume that $n \geq 3$, $m \geq 1$ and the Levi-form $\mathcal{L}(b\Omega)$ of $b\Omega$ has at least n-m positive eigenvalues at every point $p \in M$. Then there exist a tubular open neighborhood I of $b\Omega$ and a complex submanifold W_0 of $\overline{\Omega} \cap I$ with boundary, such that $bW_0 \cap b\Omega = M$ i.e. a complex manifold $W_0 \subset I \cap \Omega$ such that the closure \overline{W}_0 of W_0 in I is a smooth submanifold with boundary M.

A very simple example (see Example 7.1) shows that in general the local result fails to be true for m = 0.

In order to prove that W_0 extends to a complex analytic subvariety Wof Ω with boundary M we first treat the case when Ω is convex and does not contain straight lines. This is the crucial step. For technical reasons we divide the proof in two cases: $m \geq 2$ and m = 1. We cut $\overline{\Omega}$ by a family of real hyperplanes H_{λ} which intersect M along smooth compact submanifolds. Then the natural foliation on each H_{λ} by complex hyperplanes induces on $M \cap H_{\lambda}$ a foliation by compact maximally complex (2m - 1)-real manifolds M'. Thus a natural way to proceed is that to apply Harvey-Lawson's theorem to each M' and to show that the family $\{W'\}$ of the corresponding Harvey-Lawson solutions actually organizes in a complex analytic subvariety W, giving the desired extension (see Theorem 7.5). This is done by following Zaitsev's idea (see Lemma 7.7).

The same method of proof is used in the last section in order to treat the problem when Ω is pseudoconvex. In this case, M is requested to fulfill an additional condition. Precisely,

(*) if \overline{M}^{∞} denotes the closure of $M \subset \mathbb{C}^n \subset \mathbb{CP}^n$ in \mathbb{CP}^n , then there exists an algebraic hypersurface V such that $V \cap \overline{M}^{\infty} = \emptyset$.

Equivalently

 (\star') there exists a polynomial $P \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ such that

 $M \subset \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n : |P(z)|^2 > (1+|z|^2)^{\deg P} \right\}.$

We recall that a similar condition was first pointed out by Lupacciolu [64] in studying the extension problem for CR-functions in unbounded domains (see Theorem 3.13). Lupacciolu's (\star) condition is also used by Simioniuc and Tomassini in [87] to obtain an unbounded version of Bremermann-Welsh lemma.

In here (\star) allows us to build a nice family of hypersurfaces, which play the role of the hyperplanes in the convex case, and so to prove the main theorem of this chapter:

Theorem 7.1 Let Ω be an unbounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n $(n \geq 3)$ with smooth boundary $b\Omega$ and M be a maximally complex closed (2m+1)-real submanifold $(m \geq 1)$ of $b\Omega$. Assume that

(i) $b\Omega$ is weakly pseudoconvex and the Levi-form $\mathcal{L}(b\Omega)$ has at least n-m positive eigenvalues for every point of M

122

7.2. THE LOCAL RESULT

(ii) M satisfies condition (\star)

Then there exists a unique (m+1)-complex analytic subvariety W of Ω , such that bW = M. Moreover the singular locus of W is discrete and the closure of W in $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \text{Sing } W$ is a smooth submanifold with boundary M.

We do not deal with the 1-dimensional case. There are two different kinds of difficulty. First of all a local strip as in Corollary 7.4 could not exist (see Example 7.1). Secondly, even though it does exist, it could be non extendable to whole Ω (see Example 4.1) and it is not clear at all how it is possible to generalize the *moments condition*.

Finally we end the chapter with an example (see Example 7.2) in which the (\star) condition is not satisfied but our methods of proof can be nevertheless used in order to show that the extension holds. We do not have an example where our boundary problem in a strictly pseudoconvex domain (not satisfying (\star) , of course) is not solvable.

Another similar approach can be followed to treat the *semi-local* boundary problem i.e. given an open subset U of the boundary of Ω , find an open subset $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ such that, for any maximally complex submanifold $M \subset U$, there exists a complex subvariety W of Ω' whose boundary is M. We deal with this problem in the following chapter.

7.2 The local result

The aim of this section is to prove the local result. Given a real smooth hypersurface S in \mathbb{C}^n , we denote by $\mathcal{L}_p(S)$ the Levi-form S at the point p. Let 0 be a point of M. We have the following inclusions of tangent spaces:

$$\mathbb{C}^n \supset T_0(S) \supset H_0(S) \supset H_0(M);$$

$$T_0(S) \supset T_0(M) \supset H_0(M).$$

Lemma 7.2 Let M be a maximally complex submanifold of a hypersurface S, dim_{\mathbb{R}} M = 2m + 1, $m \ge 1$, $0 \in M$. Suppose that $\mathcal{L}_0(S)$ has at least n - m eigenvalues of the same sign. Then

$$H_0(S) \not\supseteq T_0(M).$$

Proof. Should the thesis fail we would have the following chain of inclusions

$$\mathbb{C}^n \supset T_0(S) \supset H_0(S) \supset T \supset T_0(M) \supset H_0(M)$$

where T is the smallest complex space containing $T_0(M)$ (since M is maximally complex, dim_C T = m + 1). Hence, if $m + 2 \le n - 1$ we may choose local complex coordinates $z_k = x_k + iy_k$, $k = 1, \ldots, m + 1$, $w_l = u_l + iv_l$, $l = m + 2, \ldots, n$, in a neighborhood of 0 in such a way that:

- $H_0(M) = \text{span} (\partial/\partial x_k, \partial/\partial y_k), k = 1, \dots, m$
- $T_0(M) = \text{span} (\partial/\partial x_k, \partial/\partial y_k, \partial/\partial x_{m+1}), k = 1, \dots, m$
- $T = \text{span} (\partial/\partial x_k, \partial/\partial y_k), \ k = 1, \dots, m+1$
- $H_0(S) = \text{span} (\partial/\partial x_k, \partial/\partial y_k, \partial/\partial u_l, \partial/\partial v_l), \ k = 1, \dots, m+1, \ l = m+2, \dots, n-1, \text{ if } m+2 \le n-1 \text{ or }$
- $H_0(S) = T$, if m = n 2;
- $T_0(S) = \text{span } (\partial/\partial x_k, \partial/\partial y_k, \partial/\partial u_l, \partial/\partial v_l, \partial/\partial u_n), \ k = 1, \dots, m+1, \ l = m+2, \dots, n-1, \text{ if } m+2 \le n-1$ or
- $T_0(S) = \text{span} (\partial/\partial x_k, \partial/\partial y_k, \partial/\partial u_n) \ k = 1, \dots, m+1, \text{ if } m = n-2.$

We denote by z the first m + 1 coordinates, by \hat{z} the first m, and by π the projection on T; π is obviously a local embedding of M near 0, and we set $M_0 = \pi(M)$.

Locally at 0, S is a graph over its tangent space:

$$S = \{v_n = h(u_n, u_j, v_j, x_i, y_i)\}.$$

Observe that the Levi-form of h has n - m + 1 positive eigenvalues. In order to obtain a similar description of M, we proceed as follows. First, we have

$$M_0 = \{ (\hat{z}, z_{m+1}) : y_{m+1} = \varphi(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) \}.$$

Then, we choose $f_j(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) = f_j^1(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) + i f_j^2(\hat{z}, x_{m+1})$ (where f_j^1 and f_j^2 are real-valued) defined in a neighborhood of M_0 in T in such a way that

$$M = \{ w_{m+2} = f_{m+2}(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}), \dots, w_n = f_n(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) \}.$$

Observe that the function $(f_{m+2}(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}), \ldots, f_n(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}))$ is just $\pi^{-1}|_{M_0}$, and since M is maximally complex it has to be a CR map.

By hypothesis, the following equation holds in a neighborhood of 0:

$$f_n^2(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) = h\left(f_n^1(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}), f_j^k(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}), \hat{z}, x_{m+1}\right)$$

After a computation of the second derivatives, taking into account that all first derivatives of f_j^k , of h and of φ vanish in the origin, we obtain

$$\frac{\partial^2 f_n^2}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_k}(0) = \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial z_j \partial \overline{z}_k}(0),$$

i.e. the Levi-form of h and f_n coincide in $H_0(M)$. By hypothesis $\mathcal{L}_0(h)$ is strictly positive definite on a non-zero subspace of $H_0(M)$. We shall obtain a contradiction by showing that $\mathcal{L}_0(f_n)$ vanishes on $H_0(M)$. Let $\xi \in H_0(M)$. We may assume (up to unitary linear transformation of coordinates of $H_0(M)$) that $\xi = \partial/\partial z_1$.

Set $f = f_n$. Then, since f is a CR-function on M_0 , we have:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_k} f(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) = -\alpha(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_k} \varphi(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}), \quad k = 1, \dots, m$$

and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_{m+1}} f(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) = -i\alpha(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) + \frac{\alpha(\hat{z}, x_{m+1})}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{m+1}} \varphi(\hat{z}, x_{m+1})$$

where $\alpha(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) = \alpha^1(\hat{z}, x_{m+1}) + i\alpha^2(\hat{z}, x_{m+1})$ is a complex valued function. Differentiating and calculating in 0 we obtain

$$\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial z_1 \partial \overline{z}_1}(0) = \alpha(0) \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial z_1 \partial \overline{z}_1}(0) \tag{7.1}$$

$$0 = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{m+1}}(0) = i\alpha(0). \tag{7.2}$$

i.e. $\alpha(0) = 0$. From equation (7.1) we deduce that $\partial^2 f / \partial z_1 \partial \overline{z}_1(0) = 0$. Contradiction. \Box

Lemma 7.3 Under the hypothesis of Lemma 7.2, assume that S is the boundary of an unbounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $0 \in M$ and that the Levi-form of S has at least n - m positive eigenvalues. Then

- 1. there exists an open neighborhood U of 0 and an (m+1)-complex submanifold $W_0 \subset U$ with boundary, such that $bW_0 = M \cap U$;
- 2. $W_0 \subset \Omega \cap U$.

Proof. The first assertion is proved by observing that the Levi form of M is the restriction of the Levi-form of S, in the following sense: to compute

 $\mathcal{L}_0^M(\zeta_0,\overline{\zeta}_0)$ it suffices to choose a smooth local section ζ of $H_0(M)$ (or $H_0(S)$) such that $\zeta(0) = \zeta_0$ and compute the projection of the bracket $[\zeta,\overline{\zeta}](0)$ on the real part of $T_0(M)$. By Lemma 7.2 we know that if this bracket does not vanish then it has a non-zero component along the real part of $T_0(S)$. Moreover, by hypothesis the intersection of the space where $\mathcal{L}_0(S)$ is positive with $H_0(S)$ is non empty. We project (generically) M over a \mathbb{C}^{m+1} in such a way that the projection π is a local embedding around 0: since the restriction of π to M is a CR-function, and since the Levi form of M has —by the arguments stated above— at least one positive eigenvalue, it follows that the Levi-form of $\pi(M)$ has at least one positive eigenvalue. Thus, in order to obtain W_0 , it is sufficient to apply the Lewy extension theorem (see Theorem 3.2, [61]) to the CR-function $\pi^{-1}|_M$.

As for the second statement, we observe that the projection by π of the normal vector of S pointing towards Ω lies into the domain of \mathbb{C}^{m+1} where the above extension W_0 is defined. Indeed, Theorem 3.2 gives an holomorphic function in the connected component of (a neighborhood of 0 in) $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \pi(M)$ for which $\mathcal{L}_0(\pi(M))$ has a positive eigenvalue when $\pi(M)$ is oriented as the boundary of this component. This is precisely the component towards which the projection of the normal vector of S points when the orientations of Sand M are chosen accordingly. This fact, combined with Lemma 7.2 (which states that any extension of M must be transverse to S) implies that locally $W_0 \subset \Omega \cap U$. \Box

Corollary 7.4 (Semi global existence of W) Under the same hypothesis as in Lemma 7.3, there exist an open tubular neighborhood I of S in $\overline{\Omega}$ and an (m+1)-complex submanifold W_0 of $\overline{\Omega} \cap I$, with boundary, such that $S \cap bW_0 = M$.

Proof. By Lemma 7.3, for each point $p \in M$, there exist a neighborhood U_p of p and a complex manifold $W_p \subset \overline{\Omega} \cap U_p$ bounded by M. We cover M with countable many such open sets U_i , and consider the union $W_0 = \bigcup_i W_i$. W_0 is contained in the union of the U_i 's, hence we may restrict it to a tubular neighborhood I_M of M. It is easy to extend I_M to a tubular neighborhood I of S.

The fact that $W_{i|U_{ij}} = W_{j|U_{ij}}$ if $U_i \cap U_j = U_{ij} \neq \emptyset$ immediately follows from the construction made in Lemma 7.3, in view of unicity of the holomorphic extension of *CR*-functions. \Box

Example 7.1 Corollary 7.4 could be restated by saying that if a submanifold $M \subset S$ ($dim_{\mathbb{R}}M \geq 3$) is locally extendable at each point as a complex manifold, then (one side of) the extension lies in Ω . This is no longer true,

7.3. THE GLOBAL RESULT

in general, for curves as shown in $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{(w,z_1,\ldots,z_n)}$ by the following case:

$$S = \left\{ v = u^2 + \sum_k |z_k|^2 \right\}, \ \Omega = \left\{ v > u^2 + \sum_k |z_k|^2 \right\},$$
$$M = \left\{ y_1 = 0, \ v = x_1^2, \ u = 0, \ z_2 = \dots = z_{n-1} = 0 \right\}$$

and

$$W = \{w = iz_1^2, z_2 = \dots = z_{n-1} = 0\};$$

we have that $S \cap W = M$ and $W \subset \mathbb{C}^n \smallsetminus \Omega$.

Remark 7.1 Suppose that S is strongly pseudoconvex and choose, in \mathbb{C}^n , with coordinates z_1, \ldots, z_n , a local plurisubharmonic equation ρ for S: $S = \{\rho = 0\}$. Consider the curve

$$\gamma = \{ z_j = \gamma_j(t), \ j = 1, \dots, n, \ t \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon) \},\$$

 $\gamma \subset S$. Assume that γ is real analytic, so that locally there exists a complex extension $\tilde{\gamma} \supset \gamma$. Then one side of $\tilde{\gamma}$ lies in Ω if and only if

$$\sum_{j} Re \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial \gamma_j}{\partial t} \neq 0.$$
(7.3)

Observe that condition (7.3), which depends only on γ (when S is given), is not satisfied in Example 7.1. Sufficiency of (7.3) is true when S is any real hypersurface: indeed, from a geometric point of view, the condition is equivalent to the transversality of $T(\tilde{\gamma})$ and H(S) (and hence T(S)). Pseudoconvexity is required to establish the necessity.

7.3 The global result

In order to make the proof more transparent we first treat the case when Ω is an unbounded convex domain with smooth boundary $b\Omega$. In the next section we will prove the main theorem in all its generality.

Theorem 7.5 Let M be a maximally complex (connected) (2m+1)-real submanifold $(m \ge 1)$ of $b\Omega$. Assume that Ω does not contain straight lines and $b\Omega = S$ satisfies the conditions of Lemma 7.2. Then there exists an (m+1)complex subvariety W of Ω , with isolated singularities, such that bW = M. We observe that under the hypothesis of Theorem 7.5, there exists a complex strip in a tubular neighborhood with boundary M (see Corollary 7.4). Moreover, since Ω does not contain straight lines, we can approximate uniformly from both sides $b\Omega$ by strictly convex domains, cfr. [70]. It follows that we can found a real hyperplane L such that, for any translation L' of $L, L' \cap \overline{\Omega}$ is a compact set. We choose an exhaustive sequence L_k of such hyperplanes, and we set Ω_k as the bounded connected component of $\Omega \setminus L_k$. Then, approximating from inside, we can choose a strictly convex open subset $\Omega'_k \subset \Omega$ such that $b\Omega'_k \cap \Omega_k \subset I$, where I is the tubular neighborhood of Corollary 7.4. It is easily seen, then, that we are in the situation of Proposition 7.6.

We treat the cases $m \ge 2$ and m = 1 separately. Indeed all the main ideas of the proof lie in the case $m \ge 2$, while the case m = 1 simply adds technical difficulties.

7.3.1 *M* is of dimension at least 5 $(m \ge 2)$.

Theorem 7.5 follows from

Proposition 7.6 Let $D \in B \in \mathbb{C}^n$ $(n \ge 4)$ be two strictly convex sets. Let $D_+ = D \cap \{ \text{Re } z_n > 0 \}, B_+ = B \cap \{ \text{Re } z_n > 0 \}$. Then every (m+1)-complex subvariety $(m \ge 1)$ with isolated singularities, $A \subset B_+ \setminus \overline{D_+} \doteq C_+$, is the restriction of a complex subvariety \widetilde{A} of B_+ with isolated singularities.

Before proving the proposition, we make some considerations and we prove two lemmata that will be useful.

Let φ be a strictly convex function¹ defined in a neighborhood of B such that $B = \{\varphi < 0\}$. Fixing $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough $\varphi < -\varepsilon$ is a strictly convex domain $B' \subset B$ whose boundary H intersects A in a smooth maximally complex submanifold N. A natural way to proceed is to slice N with complex hyperplanes, in order to apply Harvey-Lawson's theorem. Each slice of B' is strictly convex, hence strongly pseudoconvex, and so the holomorphic chain we obtain is contained in B'. Thus the set made up by collecting the chains is contained in B'. Analyticity of this set is the hard part of the proof.

Because of Sard's lemma, for all $z \in D_+$, there exist a vector v arbitrarily near to $\partial/\partial z_n$, and $k \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $z \in v_k \doteq v^{\perp} + k$ and $A_k \doteq v_k \cap N$ is transversal and compact, and thus smooth.

In a neighborhood of each fixed $z_0 \in D_+$, the same vector v realizes the transversality condition. Hence we should now fix our attention to a

128

¹In the general case φ will be a strongly plurisubharmonic function

neighborhood of the form

$$\widehat{U} \doteq \bigcup_{k \in U} v_k \cap B_+.$$

Let $k_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ correspond to z_0 . Let $\pi : \widehat{U} \to \mathbb{C}^m$ be a generic projection: we use (w', w) as holomorphic coordinates on $v_{k_0} = \mathbb{C}^m \times \mathbb{C}^{n-m-1}$ (and also for k near to k_0). Let $V_k = \mathbb{C}^m \setminus \pi(A_k)$, and $V = \bigcap_k V_k$.

Since A_{k_0} has a local extension (given by $v_{k_0} \cap A$), it is maximally complex and so, by Harvey-Lawson's theorem, there is an holomorphic chain \widetilde{A}_{k_0} with $b\widetilde{A}_{k_0} = A_{k_0}$, which extends holomorphically A_{k_0} .

Our goal is to show that $A_U = \bigcup_k A_k$ is analytic in $\pi^{-1}(V)$. From this, it will follow that \widetilde{A}_U is an analytic subvariety of \widehat{U} , π being a generic projection.

Following an idea of Zaitsev, for $k \in U$, $w' \in \mathbb{C}^m \smallsetminus \pi(A_k)$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n-m-1}$, we define

$$I^{\alpha}(w',k) \doteq \int_{(\eta',\eta)\in A_k} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w'),$$

 ω_{BM} being the Bochner-Martinelli kernel.

Lemma 7.7 (Zaitsev) Let F(w', k) be the multiple-valued function which represents \widetilde{A}_k on $\mathbb{C}^m \setminus \pi(A_k)$; then, if we denote by $P^{\alpha}(F(w', k))$ the sum of the α^{th} powers of the values of F(w', k), the following holds:

$$P^{\alpha}(F(w',k)) = I^{\alpha}(w',k).$$

In particular, F(w', k) is finite.

Proof. Let V_0 denote the unbounded component of V_k (where, of course, $P^{\alpha}(F(w',k)) = 0$). It is easy to show, following [38], that on V_0 also $I^{\alpha}(F(w',k)) = 0$: in fact, if w' is far enough from $\pi(A_k)$, then $\beta = \eta^{\alpha}\omega_{BM}(\eta' - w')$ is a regular (m, m - 1)-form on some Stein neighborhood O of A_k . So, since in O there exists γ such that $\overline{\partial}\gamma = \beta$, we may write in the language of currents

$$[A_k](\beta) = [A_k]_{m,m-1}(\overline{\partial}\gamma) = \overline{\partial}[A_k]_{m,m-1}(\gamma) = 0.$$

In fact, since A_k is maximally complex, $[A_k] = [A_k]_{m,m-1} + [A_k]_{m-1,m}$ and $\overline{\partial}[A_k]_{m,m-1} = 0$, see [38]. Moreover, since $[A_k](\beta)$ is analytic in the variable w', $[A_k](\beta) = 0$ for all $w' \in V_0$.

To conclude our proof, we just need to show that the "jumps" of the functions $P^{\alpha}(F(w',k))$ and $I^{\alpha}(w',k)$ across the regular part of the common boundary of two components of V_k are the same.

So, let $z' \in \pi(A_k)$ be a regular point in the common boundary of V_1 and V_2 . Locally in a neighborhood of z', we can write \widetilde{A}_k as a finite union of graphs of holomorphic functions, whose boundaries A_k^i are either in A_k or empty. In the first case, the A_k^i are CR graphs over $\pi(A_k)$ in the neighborhood of z'. We may thus consider the jump j_i of $P^{\alpha}(F(w', k))$ due to a single function. We remark that the jump for a function f is $j_i = f(z')^{\alpha}$. The total jump will be the sum of them.

To deal with the jump of $I^{\alpha}(w', k)$ across z', we split the integration set in the sets A_k^i (thus obtaining the integrals I_i^{α}) and $A_k \setminus \bigcup_i A_k^i$ (I_0^{α}). Thanks to Plemelj formulae (see Theorem 6.13, and [38]) the jumps of I_i^{α} are precisely j_i . Moreover, since the form $\eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta' - z')$ is C^{∞} in a neighborhood of $A_k \setminus \bigcup_i A_k^i$, the jump of I_0^{α} is 0. So $P^{\alpha}(F(w', k)) = I^{\alpha}(w', k)$. \Box

Remark 7.2 Lemma 7.7 implies, in particular, that the $P^{\alpha}(F(w', k))$ are continuous in k. Indeed, they are represented as integrals of a fixed form over submanifolds A_k which vary continuously with the parameter k.

The functions $P^{\alpha}(F(w',k))$ and the holomorphic chain \widetilde{A}_{k_0} uniquely determine each other and so, proving that the union over k of the \widetilde{A}_k is an analytic set is equivalent to proving that the functions $P^{\alpha}(F(w',k))$ are holomorphic in the variable $k \in U \subset \mathbb{C}$.

Lemma 7.8 $P^{\alpha}(F(w',k))$ is holomorphic in the variable $k \in U \subset \mathbb{C}$, for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n-m-1}$.

Proof. The proof is very similar to the one of Lewy's main lemma in [61]. Let us fix a point (w', \underline{k}) such that $w' \notin A_{\underline{k}}$ (this condition remains true for $k \in B_{\epsilon}(\underline{k})$). Consider as domain of $P^{\alpha}(F)$ the set $\{w'\} \times B_{\epsilon}(\underline{k})$. In view of Morera's theorem, we need to prove that for any simple curve $\gamma \subset B_{\epsilon}(\underline{k})$,

$$\int_{\gamma} P^{\alpha}(F(w',k))dk = 0.$$

Let $\Gamma \subset B_{\epsilon}(\underline{k})$ be an open set such that $b\Gamma = \gamma$. By $\gamma * A_k$ ($\Gamma * A_k$) we mean the union of A_k along γ (along Γ). Note that these sets are submanifolds of N ($\Gamma * A_k$ is an open subset) and $b(\Gamma * A_k) = \gamma * A_k$. By Lemma 7.7 and Stoke's theorem

$$\int_{\gamma} P^{\alpha}(F(w',k))dk = \int_{\gamma} I^{\alpha}(w',k)dk =$$

$$= \int_{\gamma} \left(\int_{(\eta',\eta)\in A_{k}} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \right) dk =$$

$$= \int_{\gamma*A_{k}} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge dk =$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma*A_{k}} d(\eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge dk) =$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma*A_{k}} d\eta^{\alpha} \wedge \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge dk =$$

$$= 0.$$

The last equality follows from the fact that since η^{α} is holomorphic, in $d\eta^{\alpha}$ appear only holomorphic differentials. Since all the holomorphic differentials supported by $\Gamma * A_k$ already appear in $\omega_{BM}(\eta' - w') \wedge dk$ the integral is zero. \Box

We may now prove Proposition 7.6, when $m \geq 2$.

Proof of Proposition 7.6 $(m \ge 2)$. Up to this point we have extended the complex manifold A to an analytic set

$$\widetilde{A}_U \doteq A \cup \bigcup_{k \in U} \widetilde{A}_k \subset V_U \doteq C_+ \cup \bigcup_{k \in U} (v_k \cap B_+).$$

The open sets V_U are an open covering of B_+ .

Moreover the open sets

$$\omega_U \doteq \bigcup_{k \in U} (v_k \cap B_+)$$

are an open covering of each compact set $K_{\delta} \doteq \overline{B}_{\varepsilon+\epsilon} \cap \{z_n \geq \delta\}$. Hence there exist $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_l$ which cover K_{δ} and such that $\omega_i \cap \omega_{i+1} \cap C_+ \neq \emptyset$, for $i = 1, \ldots, l - 1$ and therefore there exists a countable open cover $\{\omega_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ of $\overline{B}_{\varepsilon+\epsilon} \cap B_+$ such that, for all $i \in \mathbb{N}, \omega_i \cap \omega_{i+1} \cap C_+ \neq \emptyset$.

So we may extend A to $C_+ \cup \omega_1$ by proceeding as above.

Suppose now that we have extended A to $C^i \doteq C_+ \cup \bigcup_{j=1}^i \omega_j$ with an analytic set A_i . On the non-empty intersection $C^i \cap \omega_{i+1} \cap C_+ A_i$ and the extension \widetilde{A}_{i+1} of A to $C_+ \cup \omega_{i+1}$ coincide (as they both coincide with A), hence by analicity they coincide everywhere. Consequently we may extend A to C^{i+1} by $A_{i+1} \doteq A_i \cup \widetilde{A}_{i+1}$. It follows that

$$\widetilde{A} \doteq A \cup \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} A_j.$$

 \widetilde{A} is the desired extension of A to B_+ . In order to conclude the proof we have to show that \widetilde{A} has isolated singularities. Let $\operatorname{Sing} \widetilde{A} \subset B'_+$ be the singular locus of \widetilde{A} .

Recall that φ is a strongly plurisubharmonic defining function for B. Let us consider the family

$$(\phi_{\lambda} = \lambda(\varphi) + (1 - \lambda)(z_n))_{\lambda \in [0,1]}$$

of strongly plurisubharmonic functions. For λ near to 1, $\{\phi_{\lambda} = 0\}$ does not intersect the singular locus Sing \widetilde{A} . Let $\overline{\lambda}$ be the biggest value of λ for which $\{\phi_{\lambda} = 0\} \cap \text{Sing } \widetilde{A} \neq \emptyset$. Then

$$\{\phi_{\overline{\lambda}} < 0\} \cap B_+ \subset B_+$$

is a Stein domain in whose closure the analytic set $\operatorname{Sing} \widetilde{A}$ is contained, touching the boundary in a point of strict pseudoconvexity. So, by Kontinuitätsatz, $\{\phi_{\overline{\lambda}} = 0\} \cap \operatorname{Sing} \widetilde{A}$ is a set of isolated points in $\operatorname{Sing} \widetilde{A}$. By repeating the argument, we conclude that $\operatorname{Sing} \widetilde{A}$ is made up by isolated points. \Box

Proof of Theorem 7.5 $(m \ge 2)$. Thanks to Corollary 7.4, we have a regular submanifold W_1 of a tubular neighborhood I, with boundary M.

Suppose $0 \in M$. The real hyperplanes $H_k \doteq T_0(S) + k, k \in \mathbb{R}$, intesect S in a compact set. If the intersection is non-empty, $\overline{\Omega}$ is divided in two sets. Let Ω_k be the compact one. We can choose a sequence H_{k_n} such that Ω_{k_n} is an exaustive sequence for $\overline{\Omega}$.

We apply proposition 7.6 with $B_+ = \Omega_{k_n}$, $C_+ = I \cap \Omega_{k_n}$, and $A = W_1 \cap \Omega_{k_n}$, to obtain an extension of W_1 in Ω_{k_n} . Since, by the identity principle, two such extensions coincide in $\Omega_{k_{\min\{n,m\}}}$, their union is the desired submanifold W. \Box

7.3.2 M is of dimension 3 (m = 1)

We prove now the statement of Proposition 7.6 for m = 1.

Our first step is to show that when we slice transversally N with complex hyperplanes, we obtain 1-real submanifolds which satisfy the moments condition. Again, we fix our attention to a neighborhood of the form

$$\widehat{U} \doteqdot \bigcup_{k \in U} v_k \cap B_+.$$

In \widehat{U} , with coordinates w_1, \ldots, w_{n-1}, k , we choose an arbitrary holomorphic (1, 0)-form which is constant with respect to k.

Lemma 7.9 The function

$$\Phi_{\omega}(k) = \int_{A_k} \omega$$

is holomorphic in U.

Proof. We use again Morera's theorem. We need to prove that for any simple curve $\gamma \subset U$, $\gamma = b\Gamma$,

$$\int_{\gamma} \Phi_{\omega}(k) dk = 0.$$

Applying Stoke's theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\gamma} \Phi_{\omega}(k) dk &= \int_{\gamma} \left(\int_{A_k} \omega \right) dk &= \\ &= \iint_{\gamma * A_k} \omega \wedge dk &= \\ &= \iint_{\Gamma * A_k} d(\omega \wedge dk) &= \\ &= \iint_{\Gamma * A_k} \partial \omega \wedge dk &= \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

The last equality is due to the fact that $\Gamma * A_k \subset N$ is maximally complex and thus supports only (2, 1) and (1, 2)-forms, while $\partial \omega \wedge dk$ is a (3, 0)-form. \Box

Now we can prove Proposition 7.6 and Theorem 7.5 also when m = 1.

We can find a countable covering of B_+ made of open subsets $\omega_i = \widehat{U}_i \cap B_+$ in such a way that:

1. $\omega_0 \subset C_+;$

2. if

$$B_l = \bigcup_{i=1}^l \omega_i$$

then $\omega_{l+1} \cap B_l \supset v_{l+1} \cap B_+$, where v_{l+1} is a complex hyperplane in U_{l+1} .

Now, suppose we have already found \widetilde{A}_l that extends A on B_l (observe that in $B_0 = \omega_0 \ \widetilde{A}_0 = A$). To conclude the proof we have to find \widetilde{A}_{l+1} extending A on B_{l+1} .

Each slice of N in B_l is maximally complex, and so are $v_{l+1} \cap N$ and $v_{\epsilon} \cap N$, for $v_{\epsilon} \subset \omega_{l+1}$ sufficiently near to v_{l+1} (because they are in B_l as well).

Now we use Lemma 7.9 with $\widehat{U} = \widehat{U}_{l+1}$. What we have just observed implies that, for all holomorphic (1,0)-form η , $\Phi_{\eta}(k)$ vanishes in an open subset of U and so is identically zero on U. This implies that all slices in ω_{l+1} are maximally complex. Again we may apply Harvey-Lawson's theorem slice by slice and conclude by the methods of the proof of Proposition 7.6 in the case $m \geq 2$.

7.3.3 M is of dimension 1 (m = 0)

We have already observed that if M is one-dimensional the local extension inside Ω may not exist (see Example 7.1). Even though there is a local strip in which we have an extension, the methods used to prove Proposition 7.6 do not work, since the transversal slices M are either empty or isolated points. Indeed, as Example 4.1 shows (just let $B = B_c$, $D = B_{\varepsilon}$), that extension result does not hold for m = 0.

7.4 Extension to pseudoconvex domains.

We may now prove

Theorem 7.10 Let Ω be an unbounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n $(n \geq 3)$ with smooth boundary $b\Omega$ and M be a maximally complex closed (2m+1)-real submanifold $(m \geq 1)$ of $b\Omega$. Assume that

- (i) $b\Omega$ is weakly pseudoconvex and the Levi-form $\mathcal{L}(b\Omega)$ has at least n-m positive eigenvalues for every point of M;
- (ii) M satisfies condition (\star) .

Then there exists a unique (m+1)-complex analytic subvariety W of Ω , such that bW = M. Moreover the singular locus of W is discrete and the closure of W in $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \text{Sing } W$ is a smooth submanifold with boundary M.

134

Proof. Assume, for the moment that condition (\star) is replaced by the stronger condition

 (\star_{Ω}) $\overline{\Omega}^{\infty} \cap \Sigma_0 = \emptyset$ where $\overline{\Omega}^{\infty}$ denotes the projective closure of Ω .

The only thing we have to show in order to conclude the proof (by using the methods of the previous section) is that, up to a holomorphic change of coordinates and a holomorphic embedding $V : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^N$, we can choose a sequence of real hyperplanes $H_k \subset \mathbb{C}^N$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, which are exhaustive in the following sense:

- 1. $H_k \cap V(S)$ is compact, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$;
- 2. one of the two halfspaces in which H_k divides \mathbb{C}^N , say H_k^+ , intersects $V(\Omega)$ in a relatively compact set;
- 3. $\cup_k (H_k^+ \cap V(\Omega)) = V(\Omega).$

The arguments of Proposition 7.6, indeed - excluded the proof that the singularities are isolated - depend only on the fact that we can cut M by complex hyperplanes, obtaining compact maximally complex submanifolds. Once we have found $W' \subset V(\mathbb{C}^n)$ (W' is in fact contained in $V(\mathbb{C}^n)$ by analytic continuation, since it has to coincide with the strip in a neighborhood of M), we set $W = V^{-1}(W')$. Observe that the hypersurfaces $V^{-1}(H_k)$ are an exhaustive sequence for Ω ; let Ω_k be correspondent sequence of relatively compact subsets. Since Ω is a domain of holomorphy, for each k we can choose a strongly pseudoconvex open subset $\Omega'_k \subset \Omega$ such that $b\Omega'_k \cap \Omega_k \subset I$, where I is the tubular neighborhood found in the local section. So, in each Ω_k we can suppose that we deal with a strongly pseudoconvex open set, and thus the proof of the fact that the singularities are isolated is the same as in Proposition 7.6.

Following [64] (see proof of Theorem 3.13) we divide the proof in two steps.

Step 1. P linear. We consider $\overline{\Omega} \subset \mathbb{CP}^n = \mathbb{C}^n \cup \mathbb{CP}_{\infty}^{n-1}$, which is disjoint from $\Sigma_0 = \{P = 0\}$. So we can consider new coordinates of \mathbb{CP}^n in such a way that Σ_0 is the \mathbb{CP}^{n-1} at infinity. Now Ω is a relatively compact open set of $(\mathbb{C}^n)' = \mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Sigma_0$, and $H_{\infty} = \mathbb{CP}_{\infty}^{n-1} \cap (\mathbb{C}^n)'$ is a complex hyperplane containing the boundary of S. Let $H_{\infty}^{\mathbb{R}} \supset H_{\infty}$ be a real hyperplane. The intersection between S and a translated of $H_{\infty}^{\mathbb{R}}$ is either empty or compact. For all $z \in \Omega$, there exist a real hyperplane $H_{\infty}^{\mathbb{R}} \not\ni z$, intersecting Ω , and a small translated H_{ε_z} such that $z \in H_{\varepsilon_z}^+$. Since $\Omega = \bigcup_z (H_{\varepsilon_z}^+ \cap \Omega)$, and Ω is a countable union of compact sets, we may choose an exhaustive sequence H_k . Step 2. P generic. We use the Veronese map v (see the proof of Theorem 3.13) to embed \mathbb{CP}^n in a suitable \mathbb{CP}^N in such a way that $v(\Sigma_0) = L_0 \cap v(\mathbb{CP}^n)$, where L_0 is a linear subspace. If $P = \sum_{|I|=d} \alpha_I z^I$, then $v(\Sigma_0) = L_0 \cap v(\mathbb{CP}^n)$, where

$$L_0 = \left\{ \sum_{|I|=d} \alpha_I w_I = 0 \right\}.$$

Again we can change the coordinates so that L_0 is the \mathbb{CP}^{N-1} at infinity. We may now find the exhaustive sequence H_k as in Step 1.

This achieves the proof in the case when $\overline{\Omega}^{\infty} \cap \Sigma_0 = \emptyset$. The general case is now an easy consequence.

Indeed, since $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Sigma_0$ is Stein, there is a strictly plursubharmonic exhaustion function ψ . The sets

$$\Omega_c = \{ \psi < c \}$$

are an exhaustive strongly pseudoconvex family for $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \Sigma_0$. Thus in view of (\star) there exists \overline{c} such that $\overline{M} \subset \Omega_{\overline{c}}$. $\Omega' = \Omega \cap \Omega_{\overline{c}}$, up to a regularization of the boundary, is a strongly pseudoconvex open set verifying (\star_{Ω}) in whose boundary lies M, and thus M can be extended thanks to what has been already proved. \Box

7.5 On the Lupacciolu's (\star) condition

We end the chapter with an example which shows that the method used in here can be indeed applied also in some cases where the Lupacciolu's (\star_{Ω}) condition does not hold, hence showing that the Lupacciolu's (\star_{Ω}) condition is sufficient, but not necessary for the positive answer to the boundary problem.

Example 7.2 Let $z = (z_1, z')$ denote the coordinates in $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}^{n-1}$. For every $c \in \mathbb{R}$, the domain

$$\Omega_c = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \ \left| \ |z|^2 + \log |z'|^2 < c \right\} \right\}$$

is a strongly pseudoconvex domain which contains the complex line $L'_0 = \{z' = 0\}$. Since it contains a complex line, it does not verify the Lupacciolu's (\star_{Ω}) condition. Anyhow, notice that for each fixed $z_1^0 \in \mathbb{C}$, $\Omega_c \cap \{z_1 = z_1^0\}$ is relatively compact. Hence the cut and paste method described in this chapter can be used to prove the very same extension result, at least in the case $m \geq 1$. It is worth observing that anyhow the proof of the discreteness of singularities does no longer works, since Ω_c does contain analytic sets of dimension greater than zero, e.g. L'_0 .

Chapter 8

Semi-local extension of maximally complex submanifolds

This chapter is based on [16].

8.1 Introduction

In this chapter we deal with the boundary problem for complex analytic varieties in a "semi-local" setting.

More precisely, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strongly pseudoconvex open domain in \mathbb{C}^n , and $b\Omega$ its boundary. Let M be a maximally complex (2m + 1)dimensional real closed submanifold $(m \geq 1)$ of some open domain $A \subset$ $b\Omega$, and let K = bA be its boundary. We want to find a domain \widetilde{A} in Ω , independent of M, and a complex subvariety W of \widetilde{A} such that:

- (i) $b\widetilde{A} \cap b\Omega = A;$
- (ii) $bW \cap b\Omega = M$,

In this chapter we show that, if $A \in b\Omega$, the problem we are dealing with has a solution (\widetilde{A}, W) whose \widetilde{A} can be determined in terms of the envelope \widehat{K} of K with respect to the algebra of functions holomorphic in a neighborhood of $\overline{\Omega}$, i.e.

For any maximally complex (2m + 1)-dimensional closed real submanifold M of A, $m \ge 1$, there exists an (m + 1)-dimensional complex variety W in $\Omega \setminus \hat{K}$, with isolated singularities, such that $bW \cap (A \setminus \hat{K}) = M \cap (A \setminus \hat{K})$. This result echoes that of Lupacciolu on the extension of CR-functions (see Theorem 3.6, and [63])

If A is not relatively compact, this result can be restated in terms of "principal divisors hull", leading to a global result for unbounded strictly pseudoconvex domains, different from the results of the previous chapter. Indeed, this method of proof allows us to drop the Lupacciolu (\star) hypothesis in Theorem 7.1 and extend the maximally complex submanifold to a domain, which can anyhow not be the whole of Ω . If the Lupacciolu hypothesis holds, then the domain of extension is in fact all of Ω . So this result is actually a generalization of Theorem 7.1.

The crucial question of the maximality of the domain \widetilde{A} we construct is not answered; in some simple cases the domain is indeed maximal (see Example 8.1).

In the last section, by the same methods, the extension result is proved for analytic sets (see Theorem 8.10).

Recall that in Chapter 5 (see also [83]) related results are obtained via a bump lemma and cohomological methods. That approach may be generalized to complex spaces.

8.2 Main result

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strongly pseudoconvex open domain in \mathbb{C}^n . Let A be a subdomain of $b\Omega$, and K = bA. For any Stein neighborhood Ω_{α} of Ω we set \widehat{K}_{α} to be the hull of K with respect to the algebra of holomorphic functions of Ω_{α} , i.e.

$$\widehat{K}_{\alpha} = \{ x \in \Omega_{\alpha} : |f(x)| \le \|f\|_{K} \, \forall f \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega_{\alpha}) \}.$$

We define \hat{K} as the intersection of the \hat{K}_{α} when Ω_{α} varies through the family of all Stein neighborhoods of Ω . Observe that, since Ω is strongly pseudoconvex (and thus admits a fundamental system of Stein neighborhoods, see [95]), \hat{K} coincides with the hull of K with respect to the algebra of the functions which are holomorphic in some neighborhood of $\overline{\Omega}$. We claim that the following result holds:

Theorem 8.1 For any maximally complex (2m+1)-dimensional closed real submanifold M of A, $m \ge 1$, there exists an (m+1)-dimensional complex variety W in $\Omega \setminus \hat{K}$, with isolated singularities, such that $bW \cap (A \setminus \hat{K}) =$ $M \cap (A \setminus \hat{K})$.

Following the same strategy as in the previous chapter we first have a semi-global extension result (see Lemma 8.2 below). In order to "globalize" the extension the main differences with respect to the previous chapter are due to the fact that we have to cut Ω with level-sets of holomorphic functions instead of hyperplanes. This creates some additional difficulties: first of all it is no longer possible to use the parameter which defines the level-sets as a coordinate; secondly the intersections between tubular domains (see Lemmas 8.6, 8.8 and 8.9) may not be connected.

With the same proof as in the previous chapter we have

Lemma 8.2 There exist a tubular neighborhood I of A in Ω and an (m + 1)-dimensional complex submanifold with boundary $W_I \subset \overline{\Omega} \cap I$ such that $S \cap bW_I = M$

Now, the hypothesis on the hull of K allows us to prove the following

Lemma 8.3 Let $z^0 \in \Omega \setminus \widehat{K}$. Then there exist an open Stein neighborhood $\Omega_{\alpha} \supset \Omega$ and $f \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega_{\alpha})$ such that

- 1) $f(z^0) = 0;$
- 2) $\{f=0\}$ is a regular complex hypersurface of $\Omega_{\alpha} \setminus \widehat{K}$;
- 3) $\{f = 0\}$ intersects M transversally in a compact manifold.

Remark 8.1 If f is such a function for z^0 , for any point z' sufficiently near to z^0 , f(z) - f(z') satisfies conditions 1), 2) and 3) for z'.

Proof. By definition of \widehat{K} , since $z^0 \in \Omega \setminus \widehat{K}$ there is a Stein neighborhood Ω_{α} such that $z^0 \notin \widehat{K}_{\alpha}$. So we can find a holomorphic function g in Ω_{α} such that $g(z^0) = 1$ and $\|g\|_K < 1$; h(z) = g(z) - 1 is a holomorphic function whose zero set does not intersect \widehat{K} . Since regular level sets are dense, by choosing a suitable small vector v and redefining h as $h(z+v) - h(z^0+v)$ we can safely assume that h satisfies both 1) and 2).

We remark that $\{h = 0\} \cap b\Omega \Subset A$ by Alexander's Theorem (see [1, Theorem 3]), and this shows compactness. Then, we may suppose that M is not contained in $\{z_1 = z_1^0\}$ and, for ε small enough, we consider the function $f(z) = h(z) + \varepsilon(z_1 - z_1^0)$. It's not difficult to see (by applying Sard's Lemma) that 3) holds for generic ε . \Box

Now, we divide the proof of Theorem 8.1 in two cases: $m \ge 2$ and m = 1. This is due to the fact that in the latter case proving that we can apply Harvey-Lawson to $\{f = 0\} \cap M$ is not automatic.

8.2.1 Dimension of M greater than or equal to 5 ($m \ge 2$)

For any $z^0 \in \Omega \setminus \widehat{K}$, Lemma 8.3 provides a holomorphic function such that the level-set $f_0 = \{f = 0\}$ contains z^0 and intersects M transversally in a compact manifold M_0 . The intersection is again maximally complex (it is the intersection of a complex manifold and a maximally complex manifold, see [38]), so we can apply Harvey-Lawson theorem (Theorem 6.15) to obtain a holomorphic chain W_0 such that $bW_0 = M_0$. For τ in a small neighborhood U of 0 in \mathbb{C} , the hypersurface $f_{\tau} = \{f - \tau = 0\}$ intersects M transversally along a compact submanifold M_{τ} which, again by Theorem 6.15, bounds a holomorphic chain W_{τ} . Observe that since $M_{\tau} \subset f_{\tau}, W_{\tau} \subset f_{\tau}$.

We claim the following proposition holds:

Proposition 8.4 The union $W_U = \bigcup_{\tau \in U} W_{\tau}$ is a complex variety contained in the open set $\widetilde{U} = \bigcup_{\tau \in U} f_{\tau}$.

We need some intermediate results. Let us consider a generic projection π : $\widetilde{U} \to \mathbb{C}^m$ and set $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \times \mathbb{C}^{n-m-1}$, with holomorphic coordinates (w', w), $w' \in \mathbb{C}^{m+1}, w = (w_1, \ldots, w_{n-m-1}) \in \mathbb{C}^{n-m-1}$. Let $V_{\tau} = \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \setminus \pi(M_{\tau})$. For $\tau \in U, w' \in \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \setminus \pi(M_{\tau})$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n-m-1}$, we define

$$I^{\alpha}(w',\tau) \ \doteq \ \int_{(\eta',\eta)\in M_{\tau}} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w'),$$

where ω_{BM} is the Bochner-Martinelli kernel.

Recall Lemma 7.7 and Remark 7.2.

Lemma 8.5 $P^{\alpha}(F(w', \tau))$ is holomorphic in the variable $\tau \in U \subset \mathbb{C}$, for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n-m-1}$.

Proof. Let us fix a point $(w', \underline{\tau})$ such that $w' \notin M_{\underline{\tau}}$ (this condition remains true for $\tau \in B_{\epsilon}(\underline{\tau})$). Consider as domain of $P^{\alpha}(F)$ the set $\{w'\} \times B_{\epsilon}(\underline{\tau})$. In view of Morera's Theorem, we need to prove that for any simple curve $\gamma \subset B_{\epsilon}(\underline{\tau})$,

$$\int_{\gamma} P^{\alpha}(F(w',\tau))d\tau = 0.$$

Let $\Gamma \subset B_{\epsilon}(\underline{\tau})$ be an open set such that $b\Gamma = \gamma$. By $\gamma * M_{\tau}$ ($\Gamma * M_{\tau}$) we mean the union of M_{τ} along γ (along Γ). Note that these sets are submanifolds of $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}^n$. The projection $\pi : \Gamma * M_{\tau} \to \mathbb{C}^n$ on the second factor is injective and $\pi(\Gamma * M_{\tau})$ is an open subset of M bounded by $\pi(b\Gamma * M_{\tau}) = \pi(\gamma * M_{\tau})$. By Lemma 7.7 and Stokes' theorem

$$\int_{\gamma} P^{\alpha}(F(w',\tau))d\tau = \int_{\gamma} I^{\alpha}(w',\tau)d\tau =$$

$$= \int_{\gamma} \left(\int_{(\eta',\eta)\in M_{\tau}} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \right) d\tau =$$

$$= \iint_{\gamma*M_{\tau}} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge d\tau =$$

$$= \iint_{\Gamma*M_{\tau}} d\left(\eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge d\tau\right) =$$

$$= \iint_{\Gamma*M_{\tau}} d\eta^{\alpha} \wedge \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge d\tau =$$

$$= \iint_{\pi(\Gamma*M_{\tau})} d\eta^{\alpha} \wedge \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w') \wedge \pi_{*}d\tau =$$

$$= 0$$

The last equality follows from the fact that in $d\eta^{\alpha}$ appear only holomorphic differentials, η^{α} being holomorphic. But since all the holomorphic differentials supported by $\pi(\Gamma * M_{\tau}) \subset M$ already appear in $\omega_{BM}(\eta' - w') \wedge \pi_* d\tau$ (due to the fact that M is maximally complex and contains only m + 1holomorphic differentials) the integral is zero. \Box

Proof of Proposition 8.4. From [40] it follows that each W_{τ} has only isolated singularities¹. So, let us fix a regular point $(w'_0, w_0) \in f_{\tau_0} \subset \widetilde{U}$. In a neighborhood of this point $W = W_U$ is a manifold, since the construction depends continuously on the initial data. We want to show that W is indeed analytic in \widetilde{U} .

Let us fix $j \in \{1, \ldots, n-m-1\}$ and consider multiindexes α of the form $(0, \ldots, 0, \alpha_j, 0, \ldots, 0)$; let P_j^{α} be the corresponding $P^{\alpha}(F(w', \tau))$. Observe that for any j we can consider a finite number of P_j^{α} (it suffices to use $h = P_j^0(F(w', \tau))$ of them; not that h is independent of j). By a linear combination of the P_j^{α} with rational coefficients, we obtain the elementary symmetric functions $S_j^0(w', k), \ldots, S_j^h(w', \tau)$ in such a way that for any point $(w', w) \in W$ there exists $\tau \in U$ such that $(w', w) \in W_{\tau}$; thus, defining

$$Q_j(w', w, \tau) = S_j^h(w', \tau) + S_j^{h-1}(w', \tau)w_j + \dots + S_j^0(w', \tau)w_j^h = 0,$$

¹There could be singularities coming up from intersections of the solutions relative to different connected components of M_{τ} . These singularities are analytic sets and therefore should intersect the boundary. This cannot happen and so also these singularities are isolated.

we have, in other words,

$$W \subset V = \bigcup_{\tau \in U} \bigcap_{j=1}^{n-m-1} \{Q_j(w', w, \tau) = 0\}.$$

Define $\widetilde{V} \subset \mathbb{C}^n(w', w) \times \mathbb{C}(\tau)$ as

$$\widetilde{V} = \bigcap_{j=1}^{n-m-1} \{ Q_j(w', w, \tau) = 0 \}$$

and

$$\widetilde{W} = W_\tau * U \subset \widetilde{V}.$$

Observe that, since the functions S_j^{α} are holomorphic, \widetilde{V} is a complex subvariety of $\mathbb{C}^n \times U$. Since \widetilde{V} and \widetilde{W} have the same dimension, in a neighborhood of $(w'_0, w_0, \tau) \widetilde{W}$ is an open subset of the regular part of \widetilde{V} , thus a complex submanifold. We denote by $\operatorname{Reg} \widetilde{W}$ the set of points $z \in \widetilde{W}$ such that $\widetilde{W} \cap \mathcal{U}$ is a complex submanifold in a neighborhood \mathcal{U} of z. It is easily seen that $\operatorname{Reg} \widetilde{W}$ is an open and closed subset of $\operatorname{Reg} \widetilde{V}$, so a connected component. Observing that the closure of a connected component of the regular part of a complex variety is a complex variety we obtain the that \widetilde{W} is a complex variety, \widetilde{W} being the closure of $\operatorname{Reg} \widetilde{W}$ in \widetilde{V} .

Finally, since the projection $\pi : W \to W$ is a homeomorphism and so proper, it follows that W is a complex subvariety as well. \Box

Now we prove that the varieties \widetilde{W}_U that we have found — which are defined in the open subsets of type \widetilde{U} (see Proposition 8.4) — patch together in such a way to define a complex variety on the whole of $\Omega \setminus \widehat{K}$.

Lemma 8.6 Let \widetilde{U}_f and \widetilde{U}_g be two open subsets as in Proposition 8.4 and let W_f and W_g be the corresponding varieties. Let $z^1 \in \widetilde{U}_f \cap \widetilde{U}_g$. Then W_f and W_g coincide in a neighborhood of z^1 .

Proof. Let $\lambda = f(z^1)$ and $\tau = g(z^1)$ and consider

$$L(\lambda',\tau') = \{f = \lambda'\} \cap \{g = \tau'\} \subset \Omega$$

for (λ', τ') in a neighborhood of (λ, τ) . Note that for almost every (λ', τ') $L(\lambda', \tau')$ is a complex submanifold of codimension 2 of $\widetilde{U}_f \cap \widetilde{U}_g$. Moreover, $W_f \cap L(\lambda', \tau')$ and $W_g \cap L(\lambda', \tau')$ are both solutions of the Harvey-Lawson problem for $M \cap L(\lambda', \tau')$, consequently they must coincide. Since the complex subvarieties $L(\lambda', \tau')$ which are regular form a dense subset, W_f and W_g coincide on the connected component of $\widetilde{U}_f \cap \widetilde{U}_g$ containing z^1 . \Box

142

Remark 8.2 The above proof does not work in the case m = 1 since in that case $M \cap L(\lambda', \tau')$ is generically empty.

In order to end the proof of Theorem 8.1, we have to show that the set S of the singular points of W is a discrete subset of $\Omega \setminus \hat{K}$. Let $z^1 \in \Omega \setminus \hat{K}$, and choose a function h, holomorphic in a neighborhood of Ω such that $h(z^1) = 1$ and $K \subset \{|h| \leq \frac{1}{2}\}$ and consider $f = h - \frac{3}{4}$. Observe that $z^1 \in \{\operatorname{Re} f > 0\}$ and $K \subset \{\operatorname{Re} f < 0\}$. Choose a defining function φ for $b\Omega$, strongly psh in a neighborhood of Ω and let us consider the family

$$(\phi_{\lambda} = \lambda(\varphi) + (1 - \lambda) \operatorname{Re} f)_{\lambda \in [0,1]}$$

of strongly plurisubharmonic functions. For λ near to 1, { $\phi_{\lambda} = 0$ } does not intersect the singular locus. Let $\overline{\lambda}$ be the biggest value of λ for which

$$\{\phi_{\lambda} = 0\} \cap S \neq \emptyset$$

Then the analytic set S touches the boundary of the Stein domain

$$\{\phi_{\overline{\lambda}} < 0\} \cap \Omega \subset \Omega.$$

So $\{\phi_{\overline{\lambda}} = 0\} \cap S$ is a set of isolated points in S. By repeating the same argument, we conclude that S is made up by isolated points.

8.2.2 Dimension of M equal to 3 (m = 1)

The first goal is to show that when we slice transversally M with complex hypersurfaces, we obtain 1-dimensional real submanifolds which satisfy the moments condition.

Again, we fix our attention to a neighborhood of the form

$$\widetilde{U} = \bigcup_{\tau \in U} g_{\tau}.$$

Let us choose an arbitrary holomorphic (1, 0)-form ω in \mathbb{C}^n .

Lemma 8.7 The function

$$\Phi_{\omega}(\tau) = \int_{M_{\tau}} \omega$$

is holomorphic in U.

Proof. Using again Morera's Theorem, we need to prove that for any simple curve $\gamma \subset U$, $\gamma = b\Gamma$,

$$\int_{\gamma} \Phi_{\omega}(\tau) d\tau = 0.$$

By Stokes Theorem, we have

$$\int_{\gamma} \Phi_{\omega}(\tau) d\tau = \int_{\gamma} \left(\int_{M_{k}} \omega \right) d\tau =$$

$$= \iint_{\gamma * M_{\tau}} \omega \wedge d\tau =$$

$$= \iint_{\Gamma * M_{\tau}} d(\omega \wedge d\tau) =$$

$$= \iint_{\Gamma * M_{\tau}} \partial \omega \wedge d\tau =$$

$$= \iint_{\pi(\Gamma * M_{\tau})} \partial \omega \wedge \pi_{*} d\tau =$$

$$= 0$$

The last equality is due to the fact that $\pi(\Gamma * M_{\tau}) \subset M$ is maximally complex and thus supports only (2, 1) and (1, 2)-forms, while $\partial \omega \wedge \pi_* d\tau$ is a (3, 0)-form. \Box

Lemma 8.8 Let g be a holomorphic function on a neighborhood of Ω , and suppose $\{|g| > 1\} \cap \widehat{K} = \emptyset$. Then there exists a variety W_g on $\Omega \cap \{|g| > 1\}$ such that $bW_q \cap b\Omega = M \cap \{|g| > 1\}$.

Lemma 8.9 Given two functions g_1 and g_2 as above, then W_{g_1} and W_{g_2} agree on $\{|g_1| > 1\} \cap \{|g_2| > 1\}$.

Proof of Lemma 8.8. We are going to use several times open subsets of the type \tilde{U} as in Proposition 8.4, so we need to fix some notations. Given an open subset $U \subset \mathbb{C}$, define \tilde{U} by

$$\widetilde{U} = \bigcup_{\tau \in U} \{ f = \tau \}.$$

From now on we use open subsets of the form $U = B(\overline{\tau}, \delta)$, where $B(\overline{\tau}, \delta)$ is the disc centered at $\overline{\tau}$ of radius δ . We say that $\{f = \overline{\tau}\}$ is the *core* of \widetilde{U} and δ is its *amplitude*.

For a fixed d > 1 consider the compact set $H_d = \overline{\Omega} \cap \{|g| \ge d\}$; we show that W_g is well defined on H_d . Let us fix also a compact set $C \subset \Omega$ such that W_I (see Lemma 8.2) is a closed submanifold in $H_d \setminus C$.
8.2. MAIN RESULT

Consider all the open subsets $V_{\alpha} = \widetilde{U}_{\alpha} \cap \Omega$, constructed using only the function f = g - 1 up to addition of the function $\varepsilon(z_j - z_j^0)$ (see Lemma 8.3). If we do not allow ε to be greater than a fixed $\overline{\varepsilon} > 0$, then by a standard argument of semicontinuity and compactness we may suppose that the amplitude of each \widetilde{U} is greater than a positive δ .

We claim that it is possible to find a countable covering of H_d made by a countable sequence V_i of those V_{α} in such a way to have

1.
$$V_0 \subset H_d \setminus C$$
;

2. if

$$B_l = \bigcup_{i=1}^l V_i$$

then $V_{l+1} \cap B_l \cap \Omega \neq \emptyset$.

The only thing we have to prove is the existence of V_0 , since the second statement follows by a standard compactness argument.

Set $L = \max_{H_d} \operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} g$. Since $\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} g$ is a non-constant pluriharmonic function, $\{\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} g = L\}$ is a compact subset of $b\Omega \cap H_d$. Then we can choose $\eta > 0$ such that $\{\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} g = L - \eta\} \cap \Omega$ is contained in $H_d \setminus C$, and this allows to define V_0 .

Let \widetilde{U}_1 and \widetilde{U}_2 be two such open sets and $z^0 \in \widetilde{U}_1 \cap \widetilde{U}_2$. We can suppose that the cores of \widetilde{U}_1 and \widetilde{U}_2 contain z^0 . They are of the form

$$f + \varepsilon_1(z_j - z_j^0) = \tau(\varepsilon_1)$$
 and $f + \varepsilon_2(z_j - z_j^0) = \tau(\varepsilon_2)$.

For $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$, we consider the open sets $\widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon}$ whose core, passing by z^0 , is $f + \varepsilon(z_j - z_j^0) = \tau(\varepsilon)$. We must show that the set

$$\Lambda = \left\{ \varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2) : \exists W_{\varepsilon} \ s.t. \ W_{\varepsilon} \cap (\widetilde{U}_1 \cap \widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon}) = W_1 \cap (\widetilde{U}_1 \cap \widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon}) \right\}$$

is open and closed, where W_{ε} is a variety in \tilde{U}_{ε} .

A is open. Indeed, if $\varepsilon \in \Lambda$, then for ε' in a neighborhood of ε the core of $\widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon'}$ is contained in $\widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon}$ and so its intersection with M is maximally complex. Because of Lemma 8.7 the condition holds also for all the level sets in $\widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon'}$ and then we can apply again the Harvey-Lawson Theorem [38] and the arguments of Proposition 8.4 in order to obtain $W_{\varepsilon'}$. Moreover, there is a connected component of $U_{\varepsilon} \cap U_{\varepsilon'}$ which contains z^0 and touches the boundary of Ω , where the W_{ε} and $W_{\varepsilon'}$ both coincide with W_I (see Lemma 8.2). By virtue of the analytic continuation principle, they must coincide in the whole connected component. Λ is closed. Indeed, since each \widetilde{U} has an amplitude of at least δ , we again have that, for $\overline{\varepsilon} \in \overline{\Lambda}$, the intersection of $\widetilde{U}_{\overline{\varepsilon}}$ and $\widetilde{U}_{\varepsilon}$ must include (for $\varepsilon \in \Lambda$, $|\varepsilon - \overline{\varepsilon}|$ sufficiently small) a connected component containing z^0 and touching the boundary. We then conclude as in the previous case. \Box

Proof of Lemma 8.9. Let us consider the connected components of $W_{g_1} \cap \{|g_2| > 1\}$. For each connected component W_1 two cases are possible:

- 1. W_1 touches the boundary of Ω : $W_1 \cap b\Omega \neq \emptyset$;
- 2. the boundary of W_1 is inside Ω :

$$bW_1 \in \{|g_1| = 1\} \cup \{|g_2| = 1\} \subset \Omega$$

In the former, the result easily follows in view of the analytic continuation principle (remember that on a strip near the boundary W_{g_1} and W_{g_2} coincide).

The latter is actually impossible. Indeed, suppose by contradiction that the component W_1 satisfies (2). Restrict g_1 and g_2 to W_1 and choose t > 1such that

$$W_t \doteq \{ |g_i| > t, i = 1, 2 \} \in W_1.$$

The boundary bW_t of W_t consists of points where either $|g_1| = t$ or $|g_2| = t$. Choose a point z_0 of the boundary where $|g_1| = t$ and $|g_2| > t$, then $|g_2|$ is a plurisubharmonic function on the analytic set

$$A = \{g_1 = g_1(z_0)\} \cap \{|g_2| \ge t\}.$$

Since $W_t \subseteq W_1$, the boundary of the connected component of A through z_0 is contained in $\{|g_2| = t\}$. This is a contradiction, because of the maximum principle for plurisubharmonic functions. \Box

8.3 Some remarks

8.3.1 Maximality of the solution

As stated above, we have not a complete answer to the problem of the maximality of \tilde{A} . Nevertheless, here is a simple example where the constructed domain is actually maximal.

Example 8.1 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strongly convex domain with smooth boundary, $0 \in \Omega$, and let *h* be a pluriharmonic function defined in a neighborhood

146

U of $\overline{\Omega}$ such that h(0) = 0 and $h(z) = h(z_1, \ldots, z_{n-1}, 0)$ (i.e. h does not depend on z_n). Pose

$$H = \{ z \in U : h(z) = 0 \}$$

and let

$$A = b\Omega \cap \{z \in U : h(z) > 0\}.$$

Then

$$\widetilde{A} = \Omega \cap \{ z \in U : h(z) > 0 \}.$$

In order to show that \widetilde{A} is maximal for our problem, it suffices to find, for any $z \in H \cap \Omega$, a complex manifold $W_z \subset \widetilde{A}$ such that $M_z = \overline{W}_z \cap A$ is smooth and W_z cannot be extended through any neighborhood of z. We may suppose z = 0.

So, let $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Omega})$ be such that $\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} f = h$, f(0) = 0. We define

$$W_0 = \{ z \in \widetilde{A} : z_n = e^{\frac{1}{f(z)}} \};$$

 W_0 extends as a closed submanifold of $U \setminus \{f = 0\}$. Moreover, observe that each point of $\{f = 0\}$ is a cluster point of W_0 . Suppose by contradiction that W_0 extends through a neighborhood V of 0 by a complex manifold W'_0 ; then $\{f = 0\} \cap V \subset W'_0$, thus $\{f = 0\} \cap V = W'_0 \cap V$. This is a contradiction.

8.3.2 The unbounded case

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a strictly pseudoconvex domain, and $A \subset b\Omega$ an unbounded open subset of $b\Omega$.

Consider the set

$$\mathcal{A} = \{A' \Subset b\Omega \mid A' \subset A, A' \text{ domain} \}.$$

For an arbitrary $A' \in \mathcal{A}$ (bA' = K'), let $D_{A'}$ be the compact connected component of $\Omega \setminus \widehat{K'}$. Set

$$D = \bigcup_{A' \in \mathcal{A}} D_{A'}.$$

From Theorem 8.1 it follows that for every maximally complex closed (2m + 1)-dimensional real submanifold M of A, there is an (m + 1)-dimensional complex closed subvariety W of D, with isolated singularities, such that $bW \cap A = M$. So the domain D is a possible solution of our extension problem.

When $A = b\Omega$, we may restate the previous result in a more elegant way. In the same situation as above, consider

$$\mathbb{C}^n \subset \mathbb{CP}^n, \ \mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{CP}^n \setminus \mathbb{CP}_{\infty}^{n-1}$$

and define the principal divisors hull $\widehat{C}_{\mathcal{D}}$ of $C = \overline{\Omega} \cap \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}_{\infty}$ by

$$\widehat{C}_{\mathcal{D}} = \left\{ z \in \Omega \mid \forall f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Omega}) \ \overline{L}_{f,z} \cap C \neq \emptyset \right\},\$$

where $\overline{L}_{f,z}$ is the closure of the connected component (in $\overline{\Omega}$) of the level-set $\{f = f(z)\}$ passing through z. Then

$$D = \Omega \setminus \widehat{C}_{\mathcal{D}}.$$

Indeed, if $z \in D$, then there are an open subset $A' \subset b\Omega$ and a function $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $\overline{L}_{f,z} \cap b\Omega$ is a compact submanifold of A'. In particular $z \notin \widehat{C}_{\mathcal{D}}$. Vice versa, if $z \notin \widehat{C}_{\mathcal{D}}$ then there is a function $g \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega')$ $(\Omega' \supset \Omega$ domain) such that $N = \overline{L}_{g,z} \cap C = \emptyset$, i.e. it is a compact submanifold of $b\Omega$. By choosing a relatively compact open subset $A' \subset b\Omega$ large enough to contain N it follows that $z \in D_{A'} \subset D$.

8.4 Generalization to analytic sets

Let Ω , A and K be as before. We want now to consider the extension problem for analytic sets.

We will say that $M \subset A$ is a *k*-deep trace of an analytic subset if there are

- i) an open set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n (U \cap b\Omega = A);$
- ii) an (m+1)-dimensional irreducible analytic set W_M , whose ideal sheaf \mathcal{I}_{W_M} has depth at least k at each point of U, such that $W_M \cap b\Omega = M$.

In this case, we say that the real dimension of M is 2m + 1.

Theorem 8.10 For any (2m+1)-dimensional 4-deep trace of analytic subset $M \subset A$, there exists an (m+1)-dimensional complex variety W in $\Omega \setminus \hat{K}$, such that $bW \cap (A \setminus \hat{K}) = M \cap (A \setminus \hat{K})$.

Observe that in this situation we already have a strip U on which the set M extends. So we only need to generalize Lemma 8.3 and the results in Section 8.2.1.

Lemma 8.11 Let $z^0 \in \Omega \setminus \widehat{K}$. Then there exist an open Stein neighborhood $\Omega_{\alpha} \supset \Omega$ and $f \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega_{\alpha})$ such that

- 1. $f(z^0) = 0;$
- 2. $\{f = 0\}$ is a regular complex hypersurface of $\Omega_{\alpha} \setminus \widehat{K}$;
- 3. $\{f = 0\}$ intersects M in a compact set and W_M in an analytic subset (of depth at least 3).

Proof. The proof of the first two conditions is exactly the same as before. So, we focus on the third one.

Again, Alexander's Theorem (see [1, Theorem 3]) implies compactness of the intersection with M. Then, we may suppose that W_M is not contained in $\{z_1 = z_1^0\}$ and, for ε small enough, let $f : \Omega_\alpha \to \mathbb{C}$ be the function $f(z) = h(z) + \varepsilon(z_1 - z_1^0)$, where Ω_α and h are as defined in Lemma 8.3. Consider the stratification of W_M in complex manifolds. By Sard's Lemma, the set of ε for which the intersection of $\{f(z) = 0\}$ with a fixed stratum is transversal is open and dense. Hence the set of ε for which the intersection of $\{f(z) = 0\}$ with each stratum is transversal is also open and dense, in particular it is non-empty. The conclusion follows. \Box

The previous Lemma enables us to extend each analytic subset

$$W_0 = W_M \cap \{f = 0\}$$

to an analytic set defined on the whole of

$$\Omega \cap \{f = 0\}.$$

Indeed, on a strictly pseudoconvex corona the depth of W_0 is at least 3 and thus W_0 extends in the hole (see e.g. [4,82]). Obviously the extension lies in $\{f = 0\}$.

Observe that, up to a arbitrarily small modification of $b\Omega$ we can suppose that it intersects each stratum of the stratification of W_M transversally. In this situation M is a smooth submanifold with negligible singularities of Hausdorff codimension at least 2 (see [28]).

Again, we consider a generic projection $\pi : \widetilde{U} \to \mathbb{C}^m$ and we use holomorphic coordinates $(w', w), w = (w_1, \ldots, w_{n-m-1})$ on

$$\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \times \mathbb{C}^{n-m-1}.$$

Keeping the notations used in Section 8.2.1, let $V_{\tau} = \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \setminus \pi(M_{\tau})$.

For $\tau \in U$, $w' \in \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \setminus \pi(M_{\tau})$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n-m-1}$, we define

$$I^{\alpha}(w',\tau) \doteq \int_{(\eta',\eta)\in \operatorname{Reg}(M_{\tau})} \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta'-w'),$$

 ω_{BM} being the Bochner-Martinelli kernel.

Observe that the previous integral is well-defined and converges. In fact, $W_{\tau} = W_M \cap \{f = \tau\}$ is an analytic set and thus, by Lelong's Theorem, its volume is bounded near the singular locus. Hence, by Fubini's Theorem, also the regular part of $M_{\tau} = W_{\tau} \cap b\Omega$ has finite volume up to a small modification of $b\Omega$.

Lemma 8.12 Let $F(w', \tau)$ be the multiple-valued function which represents \widetilde{M}_{τ} on $\mathbb{C}^m \setminus \pi(M_{\tau})$; then, if we denote by $P^{\alpha}(F(w', \tau))$ the sum of the α^{th} powers of the values of $F(w', \tau)$, the following holds:

$$P^{\alpha}(F(w',\tau)) = I^{\alpha}(w',\tau).$$

In particular, $F(w', \tau)$ is finite.

Proof. Let V_0 be the unbounded component of V_{τ} . On V_0 , $P^{\alpha}(F(w', \tau)) = 0$. Following [38], it is easy to show that on V_0 also $I^{\alpha}(F(w', \tau)) = 0$. Indeed, if w' is far enough from $\pi(\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau})$, then $\beta = \eta^{\alpha} \omega_{BM}(\eta' - w')$ is a regular (m, m - 1)-form on some ball B_R of $\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}$. So, since in B_R there exists γ such that $\overline{\partial}\gamma = \beta$, we may write in the sense of currents

$$[\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}](\beta) = [\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}]_{m,m-1}(\overline{\partial}\gamma) = \overline{\partial}[\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}]_{m,m-1}(\gamma).$$

We claim that $\overline{\partial}[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}]_{m,m-1}(\gamma) = 0$ and, in order to prove this, we first show that $[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}]$ is a closed current. Indeed, observe that $d[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}]$ is a flat current, since it is the differential of an L^1_{loc} current (see [30]). Moreover

$$S = \operatorname{supp}(d[\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}]) \subset \operatorname{\mathsf{Sing}} M_{\tau},$$

hence, denoting by $\dim_{\mathcal{H}}$ the Hausdorff dimension and by \mathcal{H}^s the s-Hausdorff measure, we have

$$\dim^{\mathcal{H}}(S) \leq \dim_{\mathcal{H}}(\operatorname{sing}(M_{\tau})) \leq \dim_{\mathcal{H}}(\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}) - 2$$

and consequently that

$$\mathcal{H}_{\dim_{\mathcal{H}}(\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau})-1}(S) = 0.$$

150

By Federer's support theorem (see [30]), this implies that

$$d[\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_\tau] = 0.$$

Now, since $\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}$ is maximally complex,

$$[\operatorname{Reg}(M_{\tau})] = [\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}]_{m,m-1} + [\operatorname{Reg}(M_{\tau})]_{m-1,m}.$$

Since $\overline{\partial}[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}]_{m,m-1}$ is the only component of bidegree (m, m-2) of $d[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}]$ and $d[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}] = 0$ then

$$\overline{\partial}[\operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}} M_{\tau}]_{m,m-1} = 0.$$

Moreover, since $[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}](\beta)$ is analytic in the variable w', $[\operatorname{Reg} M_{\tau}](\beta) = 0$ for all $w' \in V_0$.

The rest of the proof goes as in Lemma 7.7. \Box

Lemma 8.13 $P^{\alpha}(F(w', \tau))$ is holomorphic in the variable $\tau \in U \subset \mathbb{C}$, for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n-m-1}$.

Proof. The only difference with the proof for the case of manifolds is the fact that I is an integration over the regular part of $\Gamma * M_{\tau}$ and not all over $\Gamma * M_{\tau}$. It is easy to see that Stokes' theorem is valid also in this situation, so the chain of integrals in Lemma 8.5 holds in this case, too. \Box

The rest of the proof of Theorem 8.10 goes as in the proof of Theorem 8.1 (see Subsection 8.2.1).

152

Bibliography

- Herbert Alexander, A note on polynomial hulls, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 33 (1972), 389–391.MR0294689 (45 #3757)
- Herbert Alexander and John Wermer, Linking numbers and boundaries of varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) 151 (2000), no. 1, 125–150. MR 1745016 (2001g:32020)
- [3] Aldo Andreotti and Hans Grauert, Théorème de finitude pour la cohomologie des espaces complexes, Bull. Soc. Math. France 90 (1962), 193-259 (French).MR0150342 (27 #343)
- [4] Aldo Andreotti and Yum Tong Siu, Projective embedding of pseudoconcave spaces, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 24 (1970), 231–278.
- [5] Aldo Andreotti and Giuseppe Tomassini, A remark on the vanishing of certain cohomology groups, Compositio Math. 21 (1969), 417–430.MR0261031 (41 #5651)
- [6] C. Bănică and O. Stănăşilă, Méthodes algébriques dans la théorie globale des espaces complexes. Vol. 1, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1977 (French). Avec une préface de Henri Cartan; Troisième édition Collection "Varia Mathematica".MR0508023 (58 #22630a)
- [7] _____, Méthodes algébriques dans la théorie globale des espaces complexes. Vol. 2, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1977 (French). Troisième édition; Traduit du roumain Collection "Varia Mathematica".MR0508024 (58 #22630b)
- [8] M. S. Baouendi and Linda Preiss Rothschild, Germs of CR maps between real analytic hypersurfaces, Invent. Math. 93 (1988), no. 3, 481–500. MR 952280 (90a:32036)
- Steven Bell and David Catlin, Boundary regularity of proper holomorphic mappings, Duke Math. J. 49 (1982), no. 2, 385–396. MR 659947 (84b:32037a)
- [10] Salomon Bochner, Analytic and meromorphic continuation by means of Green's formula, Ann. of Math. (2) 44 (1943), 652–673.MR0009206 (5,116f)
- [11] _____, The theorem of Morera in several variables, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 34 (1953), 27–39. MR 0057341 (15,210d)
- [12] Henri Cartan, Faisceaux analytiques cohérénts, Corso C.I.M.E., Villa Monastero, Como, 1963 (French).
- [13] _____, Elementary theory of analytic functions of one or several complex variables, Éditions Scientifiques Hermann, Paris, 1963. MR 0154968 (27 #4911)

- [14]Giuseppe Della Sala, Il problema deibordinellaGeometriaCR, Pisa, (Italian). Undergraduate Thesis, avaiable 2003on-line at: http://www.sns.it/it/laboratori/laboratoriscienze/anacompl/pubblicazioni/.
- [15] Giuseppe Della Sala and Alberto Saracco, Non-compact boundaries of complex analytic varieties, Internat. J. Math. 18 (2007), no. 2, 203–218. MR 2307422
- [16] _____, Semi-global extension of maximally complex submanifolds, arXiv:math/0607747 [math.CV] (2006).
- [17] Giuseppe Della Sala, Alberto Saracco, Alexandru Simioniuc, and Giuseppe Tomassini, *Lectures on complex analysis and analytic geometry*, Appunti. Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa (Nuova Serie) [Lecture Notes. Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa (New Series)], vol. 3, Edizioni della Normale, Pisa, 2006. MR 2260365
- [18] Georges de Rham, Variétés différentiables. Formes, courants, formes harmoniques, Hermann, Paris, 1973 (French). Troisième édition revue et augmentée; Publications de l'Institut de Mathématique de l'Université de Nancago, III; Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 1222b. MR 0346830 (49 #11552)
- [19] Klas Diederich and John Erik Fornæss, Proper holomorphic mappings between realanalytic pseudoconvex domains in Cⁿ, Math. Ann. 282 (1988), no. 4, 681–700. MR 970228 (89m:32045)
- [20] Klas Diederich and Sergey Pinchuk, Proper holomorphic maps in dimension 2 extend, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 44 (1995), no. 4, 1089–1126. MR 1386762 (97g:32031)
- [21] _____, Uniform volume estimates for holomorphic families of analytic sets, Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 235 (2001), no. Anal. i Geom. Vopr. Kompleks. Analiza, 52–56; English transl., Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. (2001), no. 4 (235), 44–48. MR 1886572 (2003f:32011)
- [22] _____, Regularity of continuous CR maps in arbitrary dimension, Michigan Math.
 J. 51 (2003), no. 1, 111–140. MR 1960924 (2004k:32058a)
- [23] _____, Erratum: "Regularity of continuous CR maps in arbitrary dimension" [Michigan Math. J. 51 (2003), no. 1, 111–140; MR 1960924], Michigan Math. J. 51 (2003), no. 3, 667–668. MR 2021014 (2004k:32058b)
- [24] _____, Analytic sets extending the graphs of holomorphic mappings, J. Geom. Anal. 14 (2004), no. 2, 231–239. MR 2051685 (2005d:32027)
- [25] Tien-Cuong Dinh, Conjecture de Globevnik-Stout et théorème de Morera pur une chaîne holomorphe, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6) 8 (1999), no. 2, 235–257 (French, with English and French summaries).MR1751442 (2001a:32014)
- [26] Ferdinand Docquier and Hans Grauert, Leisches Problem und Rungescher Satz f
 ür Teilgebiete Steinscher Mannigfaltigkeiten, Math. Ann. 140 (1960), 94–123 (German). MR 0148939 (26 #6435)
- [27] Pierre Dolbeault and Gennadi Henkin, Surfaces de Riemann de bord donné dans CPⁿ, Contributions to complex analysis and analytic geometry, Aspects Math., E26, Vieweg, Braunschweig, 1994, pp. 163–187 (French).MR1319348 (96a:32020)
- [28] _____, Chaînes holomorphes de bord donné dans CPⁿ, Bull. Soc. Math. France 125 (1997), no. 3, 383–445 (French, with English and French summaries).MR1605457 (98m:32014)

- [29] Pierre Dolbeault, Giuseppe Tomassini, and Dmitri Zaitsev, On boundaries of Leviflat hypersurfaces in Cⁿ, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris **341** (2005), no. 6, 343–348 (English, with English and French summaries).MR2169149
- [30] Herbert Federer, *Geometric measure theory*, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153, Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York, 1969.
- [31] Franc Forstnerič and Jean-Pierre Rosay, Approximation of biholomorphic mappings by automorphisms of Cⁿ, Invent. Math. 112 (1993), no. 2, 323–349. MR 1213106 (94f:32032)
- [32] _____, Erratum: "Approximation of biholomorphic mappings by automorphisms of Cⁿ" [Invent. Math. 112 (1993), no. 2, 323-349; MR1213106 (94f:32032)], Invent. Math. 118 (1994), no. 3, 573-574. MR 1296357 (95f:32019)
- [33] J. Frisch and J. Guenot, Prolongement de faisceaux analytiques cohérents, Invent. Math. 7 (1969), 321–343 (French). MR 0252683 (40 #5901)
- [34] M. P. Gambaryan, Regularity condition for complex films, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 40 (1985), no. 3(243), 203–204 (Russian).MR795194 (86m:32031)
- [35] Roger Godement, Topologie algébrique et théorie des faisceaux, Actualités Sci. Ind. No. 1252. Publ. Math. Univ. Strasbourg. No. 13, Hermann, Paris, 1958 (French).
- [36] Alexandre Grothendieck, *Espaces vectoriels topologiques* (1954) (French).
- [37] F. Reese Harvey, Integral formulae connected by Dolbeault's isomorphism, Rice Univ. Studies 56 (1970), no. 2, 77–97 (1971). MR 0273067 (42 #7948)
- [38] F. Reese Harvey and H. Blaine Lawson Jr., On boundaries of complex analytic varieties. I, Ann. of Math. (2) 102 (1975), no. 2, 223–290.MR0425173 (54 #13130)
- [39] _____, On boundaries of complex analytic varieties. II, Ann. Math. (2) 106 (1977), no. 2, 213–238.MR0499285 (58 #17186)
- [40] _____, Addendum to Theorem 10.4 in "Boundaries of analytic varieties", arXiv:math/0002195 [math.CV] (2000).
- [41] _____, Boundaries of varieties in projective manifolds, J. Geom. Anal. 14 (2004), no. 4, 673–695.MR2111423 (2005j:32009)
- [42] _____, Projective Linking and Boundaries of Positive Holomorphic Chains in Projective Manifolds, Part I, arXiv:math/0512379 [math.CV] (2005).
- [43] _____, Projective hulls and the projective Gelfand transform, Asian J. Math. 10 (2006), no. 3, 607–646. MR 2253160
- [44] _____, Projective Linking and Boundaries of Positive Holomorphic Chains in Projective Manifolds, Part II, arXiv:math/0608029 [math.CV] (2006).
- [45] _____, Boundaries of Positive Holomorphic Chains, arXiv:math./0610533 [math.CV] (2006).
- [46] _____, Remarks on the Alexander-Wermer theorem for curves, arXiv:math/0610611 [math.CV] (2006).
- [47] F. Reese Harvey, H. Blaine Lawson Jr., and John Wermer, The projective hull of certain curves in C², arXiv:math/0611482 [math.CV] (2005).

- [48] Henry Helson and Frank Quigley, Maximal algebras of continuous functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957), 111–114. MR 0084732 (18,911f)
- [49] _____, Existence of maximal ideals in algebras of continuous functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957), 115–119. MR 0084731 (18,911e)
- [50] Gennadi M. Henkin, Integral representation of functions which are holomorphic in strictly pseudoconvex regions, and some applications, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 78 (120) (1969), 611–632 (Russian). MR 0249660 (40 #2902)
- [51] _____, Integral representation of functions in strongly pseudoconvex regions, and applications to the ∂-problem, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 82 (124) (1970), 300–308 (Russian). MR 0265625 (42 #534)
- [52] Burglinde Jöricke, Boundaries of singularity sets, removable singularities, and CRinvariant subsets of CR-manifolds, J. Geom. Anal. 9 (1999), no. 2, 257–300. MR 1759448 (2001h:32060)
- [53] J. J. Kohn and Hugo Rossi, On the extension of holomorphic functions from the boundary of a complex manifold, Ann. of Math. (2) 81 (1965), 451–472. MR 0177135 (31 #1399)
- [54] Steven G. Krantz, Optimal Lipschitz and L^p regularity for the equation $\overline{\partial}u = f$ on stongly pseudo-convex domains, Math. Ann. **219** (1976), no. 3, 233–260. MR 0397020 (53 #880)
- [55] _____, Function theory of several complex variables, 2nd ed., The Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole Mathematics Series, Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole Advanced Books & Software, Pacific Grove, CA, 1992. MR 1162310 (93c:32001)
- [56] Christine Laurent-Thiébaut, Théorèmes de Plemelj dans une variété de Stein, Thesis (1985) (French).
- [57] _____, Sur l'extension des fonctions CR dans une variété de Stein, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 150 (1988), 141–151 (French, with English summary). MR 946033 (89j:32020)
- [58] Christine Laurent-Thiébaut and Jürgen Leiterer, Uniform estimates for the Cauchy-Riemann equation on q-concave wedges, Astérisque (1993), no. 217, 7, 151–182. Colloque d'Analyse Complexe et Géométrie (Marseille, 1992).
- [59] Christine Laurent-Thiébaut and Egmon Porten, Analytic extension from nonpseudoconvex boundaries and A(D)-convexity, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) **53** (2003), no. 3, 847–857 (English, with English and French summaries).
- [60] Hans Lewy, On the boundary behavior of minimal surfaces, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 37 (1951), 103–110. MR 0049398 (14,168b)
- [61] _____, On the local character of the solutions of an atypical linear differential equation in three variables and a related theorem for regular functions of two complex variables, Ann. of Math. (2) 64 (1956), 514–522.MR0081952 (18,473b)
- [62] _____, On the relations governing the boundary values of analytic functions of two complex variables, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 9 (1956), 295–297. MR 0079099 (18,28e)

8.4. GENERALIZATION TO ANALYTIC SETS

- [63] Guido Lupacciolu, A theorem on holomorphic extension of CR-functions, Pacific J. Math. 124 (1986), no. 1, 177–191.850675 (87k:32026)
- [64] _____, Valeurs au bord de fonctions holomorphes dans des domaines non bornés $de \mathbb{C}^n$, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. **304** (1987), no. 3, 67–69 (French, with English summary).MR878828 (88c:32024)
- [65] Guido Lupacciolu and Giuseppe Tomassini, Un teorema di estensione per le CRfunzioni, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 137 (1984), 257–263 (Italian, with English summary).MR772261 (86e:32021)
- [66] Enzo Martinelli, Alcuni teoremi integrali per le funzioni analitiche di più variabili complesse, Mem. R. Acc. d'Italia 9 (1938), no. 2(48), 269–283 (Italian).
- [67] D. C. May, An integral formula for analytic functions of k variables with some applications, 1941. Thesis.
- [68] Boris S. Mitjagin and Gennadi M. Henkin, Linear problems of complex analysis, Uspehi Mat. Nauk 26 (1971), no. 4 (160), 93–152 (Russian). MR 0287297 (44 #4504)
- [69] Abdelkrim Nokrane and Thomas Ransford, Schwarz's lemma for algebroid multifunctions, Complex Variables Theory Appl. 45 (2001), no. 2, 183–196. MR 1909433 (2003f:30028)
- [70] Carla Parrini and Giuseppe Tomassini, $\overline{\partial}\mu = f$: existence of bounded solutions in unbounded domains, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B (7) **1** (1987), no. 4, 1211–1226 (Italian, with English summary).MR923449 (88m:32038)
- [71] Alessandro Perotti, Extension of CR-forms and related problems, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 77 (1987), 37–55. MR 904611 (88m:32028)
- [72] Sergey Pinchuk, The analytic continuation of holomorphic mappings, Mat. Sb. (N.S.)
 98(140) (1975), no. 3(11), 416–435, 495–496 (Russian). MR 0393562 (52 #14371)
- [73] _____, Reflection principle in higher dimension, avaiable on-line at: http://www.sns.it/it/laboratori/laboratoriscienze/anacompl/pubblicazioni/ (2005). Lecture notes written by Alberto Saracco.
- [74] Enrique Ramírez de Arellano, Ein Divisionsproblem und Randintegraldarstellungen in der komplexen Analysis, Math. Ann. 184 (1969/1970), 172–187 (German). MR 0269874 (42 #4767)
- [75] Claudio Rea, Extension holomorphe bilatérale des fonctions CR données sur une hypersurface différentiable de C², C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 294 (1982), no. 17, 577–579 (French, with English summary). MR 663083 (83f:32018)
- [76] _____, Prolongement holomorphe des fonctions CR, conditions suffisantes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 297 (1983), no. 3, 163–166 (French, with English summary). MR 725396 (85a:32021)
- [77] A. V. Romanov, A formula and estimates for the solutions of the tangential Cauchy-Riemann equation, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 99(141) (1976), no. 1, 58–83, 135 (Russian). MR 0409872 (53 #13624)
- [78] Walter Rudin, Lectures on the edge-of-the-wedge theorem, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1971. Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, No. 6. MR 0310288 (46 #9389)

- [79] _____, Principles of mathematical analysis, 3rd ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1976. International Series in Pure and Applied Mathematics. MR 0385023 (52 #5893)
- [80] _____, Function theory in the unit ball of Cⁿ, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Science], vol. 241, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980. MR 601594 (82i:32002)
- [81] Kanenji Sakakihara, Meromorphic approximations on Riemann surfaces, J. Inst. Polytech. Osaka City Univ. Ser. A. 5 (1954), 63–70. MR 0067204 (16,687d)
- [82] Alberto Saracco and Giuseppe Tomassini, Cohomology and extension problems for semi q-coronae, Math. Z. 256 (2007), no. 4, 737–748.
- [83] _____, Cohomology of semi 1-coronae and extension of analytic subsets, arXiv:math/0701549 [math.CV] (2007).
- [84] Jean-Pierre Serre, Prolongement de faisceaux analytiques cohérents, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 16 (1966), no. fasc. 1, 363–374 (French). MR 0212214 (35 #3088)
- [85] B. V. Shabat, Distribution of values of holomorphic mappings, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 61, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1985. Translated from the Russian by J. R. King; Translation edited by Lev J. Leifman. MR 807367 (86k:32023)
- [86] G. E. Silov, On decomposition of a commutative normed ring in a direct sums of ideals, Mat. Sbornik N.S. 32(74) (1953), 353–364 (Russian). MR 0054177 (14,884b)
- [87] Alexandru Simioniuc and Giuseppe Tomassini, The Bremermann-Dirichlet problem for unbounded domains of \mathbb{C}^n , arXiv:math/0702179 [math.CV] (2007).
- [88] Yum Tong Siu, Extension problems in several complex variables, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Helsinki, 1978), Acad. Sci. Fennica, Helsinki, 1980, pp. 669–674. MR 562670 (82d:32008)
- [89] Yum Tong Siu and Günther Trautmann, Gap-sheaves and extension of coherent analytic subsheaves, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 172, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1971. MR 0287033 (44 #4240)
- [90] Elias M. Stein and Guido Weiss, Introduction to Fourier analysis on Euclidean spaces, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1971. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 32. MR 0304972 (46 #4102)
- [91] Gabriel Stolzenberg, Uniform approximation on smooth curves, Acta Math. 115 (1966), 185–198. MR 0192080 (33 #307)
- [92] Edgar Lee Stout, Analytic continuation and boundary continuity of functions of several complex variables, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 89 (1981), no. 1-2, 63-74. MR 628129 (83c:32021)
- [93] _____, Removable singularities for the boundary values of holomorphic functions, Several complex variables (Stockholm, 1987/1988), Math. Notes, vol. 38, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993, pp. 600–629. MR 1207885 (94a:32020)
- [94] Giuseppe Tomassini, Inviluppo d'olomorfia e spazi pseudoconcavi, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 87 (1970), 59–86 (Italian). MR 0298050 (45 #7102)

8.4. GENERALIZATION TO ANALYTIC SETS

- [95] _____, Sur les algèbres $A^0(\overline{D})$ et $A^{\infty}(\overline{D})$ d'un domaine pseudoconvexe non borné, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) **10** (1983), no. 2, 243–256 (French).
- [96] _____, Extension of CR-functions, Seminar on deformations (Lódź/Warsaw, 1982/84), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1165, Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 294–301.
- [97] _____, Extension d'objets CR, Math. Z. 194 (1987), no. 4, 471–486 (French). MR 881705 (88g:32047)
- [98] Vasiliy Sergeyevich Vladimirov, Methods of the theory of functions of many complex variables, Translated from the Russian by Scripta Technica, Inc. Translation edited by Leon Ehrenpreis, The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Mass.-London, 1966. MR 0201669 (34 #1551)
- [99] Barnet M. Weinstock, Continuous boundary values of analytic functions of several complex variables, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 21 (1969), 463–466. MR 0237825 (38 #6106)
- [100] John Wermer, Subalgebras of the algebra of all complex-valued continuous functions on the circle, Amer. J. Math. 78 (1956), 225–242. MR 0084729 (18,911c)
- [101] _____, Function rings and Riemann surfaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 67 (1958), 45–71. MR 0093585 (20 #109)
- [102] _____, Rings of analytic functions, Ann. of Math. (2) 67 (1958), 497–516. MR 0096817 (20 #3299)
- [103] _____, The hull of a curve in C^n , Ann. of Math. (2) **68** (1958), 550–561. MR 0100102 (20 #6536)
- [104] _____, Rudin's theorem and projective hulls, arXiv:math/0611060 [math.CV] (2006).
- [105] J. Wiegerinck and J. Korevaar, A lemma on mixed derivatives with applications to edge-of-the-wedge, Radon transformation and a theorem of Forelli, Mat. Vesnik **37** (1985), no. 1, 145–157 (English, with Serbo-Croatian summary). International symposium on complex analysis and applications (Arandjelovac, 1984). MR **791578** (87d:32025)